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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this annual report on Form 10-K may constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Forward-looking
statements relate to future events or circumstances or our future financial performance and are based upon our current assumptions, expectations and beliefs
concerning future developments and their potential effect on our business. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the following words:
"may," "will," "can," "could," "would," "should," "expect," "intend," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "predict," "project," "forecast," "potential,"
"continue," "ongoing" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology, although the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not
forward-looking. We believe that the statements that we make in this annual report on Form 10-K regarding the following subject matters are forward-looking by
their nature:
•

expected adoption of and growth in the market for natural gas as a vehicle fuel and our ability to capture a substantial share of and enhance our leadership
position within this market, when and if it expands;

•

future supply, demand, use and prices of crude oil and natural gas and fossil and alternative fuels, including gasoline, diesel, natural gas, biodiesel,
ethanol, electricity and hydrogen;

•

our expectations regarding the market's perception of a need for alternative vehicle fuels generally;

•

our expectations regarding the market's perception of the benefits of natural gas relative to gasoline and diesel and other alternative vehicle fuels,
including cost savings, supply, environmental and safety benefits;

•

the impact of advancements in conventional fuels and other alternative vehicle fuels and technologies, including improvements in the efficiency, fuel
economy or greenhouse gas emissions of engines for conventional and alternative fuel vehicles;

•

the success of our initiative to build a nationwide network of truck friendly natural gas fueling stations (we refer to this network as "America's Natural
Gas Highway" or "ANGH);

•

development, commercial availability and adoption of new natural gas engines for the U.S. heavy-duty truck market ;

•

the rate of adoption of natural gas vehicles, including heavy-duty trucks;

•

estimated incremental costs, annual fuel usage, fuel costs and annual fuel cost savings for vehicles using natural gas instead of gasoline or diesel;

•

the success and importance of acquisitions, partnerships and other strategic relationships;

•

the success of our business of producing renewable natural gas ("RNG") and selling RNG we generate and RNG we purchase from third-party producers
as a vehicle fuel;

•

our ability to generate and sell credits generated by selling natural gas and RNG as a vehicle fuel, including Renewable Identification Numbers ("RINs" or
"RIN Credits") we generate under the federal Renewable Fuel Standard ("RFS") Phase 2 and credits we generate under the California and Oregon Low
Carbon Fuel Standards (collectively, "LCFS Credits"), at prices that enable us to profitably market and sell RNG;

•

our ability to sell RNG we produce at prices that are at a premium to conventional natural gas prices;

•

plans to expand our station network and business with existing customers and to win business with new customers;

•

the potential for oil companies, natural gas utilities, fuel retailers, and others to enter the natural gas fuel market;

•

our efforts to expand our compressed natural gas ("CNG") business, through our acquisition of NG Advantage, LLC ("NG Advantage") and otherwise;

•

our future CNG compressor needs;

•

the success of our business of manufacturing and selling natural gas fuel compression equipment;

•

our ability to manage the international operations of our subsidiary Clean Energy Compression (formerly IMW Industries);

•

the existence of and our plans to participate in and eligibility for federal and state regulations, programs, incentives and grant programs that promote the
use of cleaner burning fuels;
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•

the impact and availability of federal tax attributes, credits and incentives on our business;

•

strategic benefits of owning Clean Energy Compression, NG Advantage and our other subsidiaries;

•

more stringent emissions requirements on traditional gasoline and diesel powered vehicles, as well as on liquefied natural gas ("LNG") and CNG
production, fueling stations and fuel sales;

•

the impact of environmental regulations and pressures on oil and natural gas supply;

•

projected capital expenditures, project development costs and related funding requirements;

•

access to equity capital and debt financing options, including, but not limited to, equipment financing, sale of convertible or non-convertible promissory
notes or commercial bank financing;

•

the potential for a single large stockholder to exert significant influence over our corporate decisions; and

•

our expectations regarding our cash balances and other operating and financial results.

The preceding list is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all of our forward-looking statements. Although the forward-looking statements in this report
reflect our good faith judgment, based on currently available information, they are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels
of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences
include, among others, those discussed below under Item 1A. Risk Factors. As a result of these and other potential risk factors, the forward-looking statements in
this annual report on Form 10-K may not prove to be accurate. All forward-looking statements in this report are made only as of the date of this document and,
except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason after the date we file this report with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or to conform these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations. You should, however, review the factors
and risks we describe in the reports we will file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission after the date we file this annual report on
Form 10-K.
Unless the context indicates otherwise, all references to "Clean Energy," the "Company," "we," "us," or "our" in this annual report on Form 10-K refer to
Clean Energy Fuels Corp., together with its majority and wholly owned subsidiaries.
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PART I
Item 1.

Business.

Overview
We are the leading provider of natural gas as an alternative fuel for vehicle fleets in the United States and Canada, based on the number of stations operated
and the amount of gasoline gallon equivalents ("GGEs") of CNG, LNG and RNG delivered.
Our principal business is supplying CNG, LNG and RNG (RNG can be delivered in the form of CNG or LNG) for light, medium and heavy-duty vehicles
and providing operation, repair and maintenance ("O&M") services for vehicle fleet customer stations. As a comprehensive solution provider, we also design,
build, operate, service, repair and maintain fueling stations, manufacture, sell and service non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and other equipment used
in CNG stations and LNG stations, offer assessment, design and modification solutions to provide operators with code-compliant service and maintenance facilities
for natural gas vehicle fleets, transport and sell CNG to large industrial and institutional energy users who do not have direct access to natural gas pipelines,
process and sell RNG, sell tradable credits we generate by selling natural gas and RNG as a vehicle fuel, including LCFS Credits and RIN Credits, and help our
customers acquire and finance natural gas vehicles and obtain federal, state and local tax credits grants and incentives.
We target customers in a variety of markets, including heavy-duty trucking, airports, refuse, public transit, industrial and institutional energy users and
government fleets, which has resulted in a broad customer base with, we believe, limited concentration risk. We seek to retain these customers by offering our
robust fueling station network and superior service levels. As of December 31, 2015 , we serve approximately 986 fleet customers operating approximately 44,152
natural gas vehicles, and we own, operate or supply over 570 natural gas fueling stations in 42 states in the U.S. and in British Columbia and Ontario in Canada.
Market for Natural Gas as an Alternative Fuel for Vehicles
As of December 2015, Natural Gas Vehicles for America ("NGV America") estimates that there were approximately 1,750 natural gas fueling stations in the
United States and about 153,000 natural gas vehicles on American roads, including 39,500 heavy-duty vehicles (e.g. tractors, refuse trucks and buses), 25,800
medium-duty vehicles (e.g. delivery vans and shuttles) and 87,000 light-duty vehicles (e.g. passenger cars, small utility vehicles, trucks and vans).
We believe that natural gas is an attractive alternative to gasoline and diesel for use as a vehicle fuel in the United States because it is plentiful, domestically
produced, cleaner and typically cheaper than gasoline or diesel. Historically, oil, gasoline, and diesel prices have been highly volatile, while natural gas prices have
generally been stable and lower than the cost of oil, gasoline and diesel on an energy equivalent basis. We also expect increasingly stringent federal, state and local
air quality regulations, expanding initiatives by fleet operators to lower greenhouse gas emissions and increase fuel diversity and additional regulations mandating
low carbon fuels, all of which would support increased market adoption of natural gas as an alternative to gasoline and diesel as a vehicle fuel. We believe these
factors will support the development of an increased opportunity to market natural gas as a vehicle fuel in the United States.
Benefits of Natural Gas Fuel
Domestic and Plentiful Supply. Technological advances in natural gas drilling and production, including the widespread deployment of horizontal drilling
techniques and the use of hydraulic fracturing, have unlocked vast natural gas reserves. The U.S. is now the number one producer of natural gas in the world, with
proven, abundant and growing reserves of natural gas.
Less Expensive. Due to the abundance of natural gas, the cost of natural gas in the U.S. is less than the cost of crude oil, on an energy equivalent basis.
Based on projections from the U.S. Energy Information Administration, we believe that natural gas will remain cheaper than gasoline and diesel for the foreseeable
future. In addition, because the price of the natural gas commodity makes up a smaller portion of the cost of a GGE of CNG or LNG relative to the commodity
portion of the cost of a GGE of diesel or gasoline, the price of a GGE of CNG or LNG is less sensitive to increases in the underlying commodity cost.
Cleaner. Natural gas contains less carbon than any other fossil fuel and thus produces fewer carbon dioxide emissions when burned. The California Air
Resources Board ("CARB") has concluded that a natural gas vehicle emits fewer greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions than a comparable gasoline or diesel fueled
vehicle on a well-to-wheel basis. Additionally, a study from Argonne National Laboratory, a research laboratory operated by the University of Chicago for the U.S.
Department of Energy, indicates that natural gas vehicles produce at least 13% to 21% fewer GHG emissions than comparable gasoline and diesel fueled vehicles.
For natural gas vehicles that run on Redeem, it is estimated, based on CARB data that the GHG emissions reduction ranges from 50% to 125%, depending on the
source of biogas. RNG is produced from waste streams such as landfills, animal waste digesters and waste water treatment plants. RNG production plants are
connected to natural gas
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pipelines, which allow RNG to be transported to vehicle fueling stations, where it can be compressed and dispensed as CNG, and to LNG liquefaction facilities,
where it is converted to LNG. We sell RNG through some of our natural gas fueling infrastructure under the brand name Redeem™. We believe Redeem™ is the
first commercially available RNG vehicle fuel made from organic waste
Safer. As reported by NGV America, CNG and LNG are relatively safer than gasoline and diesel because they dissipate into the air when spilled or in the
event of a vehicle accident. When released, CNG and LNG are also less combustible than gasoline or diesel because they ignite only at relatively high
temperatures. The fuel tanks and systems used in natural gas vehicles are subjected to a number of federally required safety tests, such as fire, environmental
hazard, burst pressures, and crash testing, according to the U.S. Department of Transportation National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Additionally, CNG
and LNG are stored in above ground tanks and therefore cannot contaminate soil or groundwater. Further, worldwide over 17 million vehicles fuel safely with
natural gas.
Natural Gas Vehicles
Natural gas vehicles use internal combustion engines similar to those used in gasoline or diesel powered vehicles. A natural gas vehicle uses sealed storage
cylinders to hold CNG or LNG, specially designed fuel lines to deliver natural gas to the engine, and an engine tuned to run on natural gas. Natural gas fuels have
higher octane content than gasoline or diesel, and the acceleration and other performance characteristics of natural gas vehicles are similar to those of gasoline or
diesel powered vehicles of the same weight and engine class. Natural gas vehicles, whether they run on CNG or LNG, are refueled using a hose and nozzle that
makes an airtight seal with the vehicle's gas tank. For heavy-duty vehicles, spark ignited natural gas vehicles generally operate more quietly than diesel powered
vehicles. Natural gas vehicles typically cost more than gasoline or diesel powered vehicles, primarily due to the higher cost of the storage systems that hold the
CNG or LNG.
Virtually any car, truck, bus or other vehicle is capable of being manufactured or modified to run on natural gas. Approximately 50 different manufacturers
in the U.S. produce 100 models of heavy-, medium- and light-duty natural gas vehicles and engines. These vehicles include long-haul tractors, refuse trucks,
regional tractors, transit buses, cement trucks, delivery trucks, vocational work trucks, school buses, shuttles, passenger sedans, pickup trucks and cargo and
passenger vans. We expect that additional models and types of natural gas vehicles will become available if natural gas is increasingly adopted as a vehicle fuel in
the U.S.
Products and Services
CNG Sales. We sell CNG through fueling stations and by transporting it to customers that do not have direct access to a natural gas pipeline. CNG fueling
station sales are made through stations located on our customers' properties and through our network of public access fueling stations. At these CNG fueling
stations, we procure natural gas from local utilities or third-party marketers under standard, floating-rate arrangements and then compress and dispense it into our
customers' vehicles. Our CNG fueling station sales are made primarily through contracts with our customers. Under these contracts, pricing is principally
determined on an index-plus basis, which is calculated by adding a margin to the local index or utility price for natural gas. As a result, CNG sales revenues based
on an index-plus methodology increase or decrease as a result of an increase or decrease in the price of natural gas. The remainder of our CNG fueling station sales
are on a per fill-up basis at prices we set at public access stations based on prevailing market conditions.
Additionally, our subsidiary, NG Advantage, uses a fleet of 54 high-capacity tube trailers to deliver CNG to large institutions and industrial energy users,
such as hospitals, food processors, manufacturers and paper mills that do not have direct access to natural gas pipelines. Utilizing its trailer fleet, NG Advantage
creates a "virtual natural gas pipeline" that allows large oil, diesel or propane users to take advantage of the cost savings and environmental benefits of natural gas.
We anticipate that NG Advantage will need to purchase or lease additional trailers in the future to transport CNG in support of its operations.
LNG Production and Sales. LNG is natural gas that is cooled at a liquefaction facility to approximately -260 degrees Fahrenheit until it condenses into a
liquid. We obtain LNG from our own plants and from third party suppliers. We own and operate LNG liquefaction plants near Houston, Texas and Boron,
California, which we call the "Pickens Plant" and the "Boron Plant," respectively. The Pickens Plant has the capacity to produce 35 million gallons of LNG per
year and includes tanker trailer loading facilities and a 1.0 million gallon storage tank that can hold up to 840,000 usable gallons. The Boron Plant is capable of
producing 60 million gallons of LNG per year and has tanker trailer loading facilities similar to the Pickens Plant and a 1.8 million gallon storage tank that can
hold up to 1.5 million usable gallons. During 2015 , we purchased 43% of our LNG from third-party suppliers and we produced the remainder of our LNG at the
Pickens Plant and the Boron Plant. We purchase some LNG from third parties under "take-or-pay" contracts that require us to purchase minimum volumes of LNG
at index-based rates.
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We sell LNG on a bulk basis to fleet customers who often own and operate their fueling stations, and we also sell LNG to fleet and other customers at our
public-access LNG stations. We also sell LNG for non-vehicle purposes, including to customers that use LNG in oil fields or for industrial or utility applications.
We deliver LNG via our fleet of 84 tanker trailers to fueling stations, where it is stored and dispensed in liquid form into vehicles. We typically own the
tanker trailers and we contract with third parties to provide tractors and drivers. Each LNG tanker trailer is capable of carrying 10,000 gallons of LNG. We sell
LNG through supply contracts that are priced on an index-plus basis. LNG sales revenues based on an index-plus methodology increase or decrease as a result of
an increase or decrease in the price of natural gas. We also sell LNG on a per fill-up basis at prices we set at public access stations based on prevailing market
conditions. LNG generally costs more than CNG, as LNG must be liquefied and transported.
O&M Services. We perform O&M services for CNG and LNG stations that are owned by our customers. For these services, we generally charge a pergallon fee based on the volume of fuel dispensed at the station. As of December 31, 2015 , we had an operations team of 265 employees, comprised of 169 fulltime employees performing preventative maintenance and available to respond to service requests in 42 U.S states and in Canada. In addition, we have 96 full-time
employees performing preventative maintenance on Clean Energy Compression's foreign installations in Bangladesh, Colombia, Peru and China.
Station Construction and Engineering. Since 2008, we have built 387 natural gas fueling stations, either serving as general contractor or supervising
qualified third-party contractors, for ourselves or our customers. We acquired the additional stations we own that we did not build through acquisitions of assets or
businesses. We use a combination of custom designed and off-the-shelf equipment to build fueling stations. Equipment for a CNG station typically consists of
dryers, compressors (including those manufactured by Clean Energy Compression), dispensers and storage tanks. Equipment for a LNG station typically consists
of storage tanks that hold 5,000 to 25,000 gallons of LNG and related dispensing equipment. We also offer assessment, design and modification solutions to
provide operators with code-compliant service and maintenance facilities for natural gas vehicle fleets, which can include the construction and sale of facility
modifications, such as our NGV Easy Bay ™ product, a natural gas vapor leak barrier developed specifically for natural gas vehicle facilities.
Many of our fueling stations have separate public access areas for retail customers, which generally have the look, feel and dispensing rates of traditional
gasoline and diesel fueling stations. LNG dispensing requires special training because of the extreme low temperatures of LNG.
RNG Production and Sales. Our subsidiary Clean Energy Renewables owns RNG production facilities located at Republic Services landfills in Canton,
Michigan and North Shelby, Tennessee. Clean Energy Renewables has entered into long-term fixed-price sale contracts for the majority of the RNG that we expect
these facilities to produce. We are seeking to expand our RNG business by pursuing additional RNG production projects, either on our own or with project
partners. We sell some of the RNG we produce through our natural gas fueling infrastructure for use as a vehicle fuel. We also purchase RNG from third party
producers and sell that RNG for vehicle fuel use through our fueling infrastructure. The RNG we distribute for vehicle fuel use is distributed under the name
Redeem™ .
Natural Gas Fueling Compressors. Our subsidiary Clean Energy Compression manufactures, sells and services non-lubricated natural gas fueling
compressors and related equipment for the global natural gas fueling market. Clean Energy Compression is headquartered near Vancouver, British Columbia, has
an additional manufacturing facility near Shanghai, China, and has sales and service offices in Bangladesh, Colombia, Peru and the United States. Clean Energy
Compression enables us to satisfy our internal compressor needs, since compressors are the most important piece of equipment for a CNG station. As the adoption
of natural gas vehicles has increased our CNG station construction backlog and our compressor requirements have also increased, and we believe our compressor
needs will continue to increase. Clean Energy Compression also allows us to provide certain customers with a "factory direct" offering. Since some customers do
not want our full suite of services and simply want a station that they can own and operate themselves, our compressor manufacturing business allows us to offer
them a high quality and low cost "equipment only" solution.
Vehicle Acquisition and Finance. We offer vehicle finance services, including loans and leases, to help our customers acquire natural gas vehicles. Where
appropriate, we apply for and receive federal and state incentives associated with natural gas vehicle purchases and pass these benefits through to our customers.
We may also secure vehicles to place with customers or pay deposits with respect to such vehicles prior to receiving a firm order from our customers, which we
may be required to purchase if our customer fails to purchase the vehicle as anticipated.
Sales of RINs and LCFS Credits. We generate LCFS Credits when we sell Redeem and conventional natural gas for use as a vehicle fuel in California and
Oregon, and we generate RINs when we sell Redeem for use as a vehicle fuel in the U.S. We can sell these RINs and LCFS Credits to third parties who need the
credits to comply with federal and state requirements. We anticipate that we will generate and sell increasing numbers of RINs and LCFS Credits as we build our
business and sell increasing amounts of CNG, LNG and RNG for use as a vehicle fuel. The market for RINs and LCFS Credits is volatile, and
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the prices for such credits are subject to significant fluctuations. Further, the value of RINs and LCFS Credits will be adversely affected by any changes to the
federal and state programs under which such credits are generated and sold.
Sales and Marketing
We have sales representatives covering all of our major operating territories, including Alabama, Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Illinois,
Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee,
Texas, Vermont, Virginia, and Washington in the U.S., in Toronto and Vancouver in Canada and in Bangladesh, Colombia, Peru and China. At December 31, 2015
, we had 92 employees in sales and marketing, including 16 employees of Clean Energy Compression. We market primarily through our direct sales force,
attendance at trade shows and participation in industry conferences and events. Our sales and marketing group works closely with federal, state and local
government agencies to provide education on the value of natural gas as a vehicle fuel and to keep abreast of proposed and newly adopted regulations that affect
our industry.
Key Markets and Customers
We target customers in a variety of markets, such as trucking, airports, refuse, public transit, industrial and institutional energy users and government fleets.
During 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , approximately 19% , 18% and 18% of our revenues, respectively, were derived from contracts with government entities such as
municipal transit fleets. We do not depend on a single customer or a few customers, the loss of which would have a material adverse effect on us.
Trucking. We believe that heavy-duty trucking represents one of the greatest opportunities for natural gas to be used as a vehicle fuel in the U.S., and as of
December 31, 2015 we fuel over 3,000 heavy-duty trucks. These high-mileage trucks consume significant amounts of fuel and can benefit from the lower cost of
natural gas. Many well-known shippers, manufacturers, retailers and other truck fleet operators have started to adopt natural gas fueled trucks to move their freight.
Such companies include Honda, Frito-Lay, Fedex, Anheuser-Busch, Verizon, Bimbo, Johnson & Johnson, The Home Depot, AT&T, Colgate-Palmolive, Costco
Wholesale, Lowes, Pepsi, UPS, MillerCoors, HP, Unilever, Starbucks, Kraft, Kroger, P&G, Hertz and Owens Corning. To help facilitate the transition of trucking
fleets to natural gas, we are building America's Natural Gas Highway. Many of our existing ANGH stations were initially built to provide LNG; however, because
operators are adopting LNG heavy-duty trucks and CNG heavy-duty trucks, we designed these stations to be capable of dispensing both fuels. We have been
investing, and expect to continue to invest, additional capital in our ANGH stations to add CNG fueling. Many existing ANGH stations are located at Pilot Flying J
Travel Centers, one of the largest truck fueling operators in the U.S. To help accelerate the adoption by heavy-duty truck fleets of natural gas, we have negotiated
favorable CNG and LNG tank pricing from manufacturers, which we are passing along to our customers .
Airports. Many U.S. airports face emissions challenges and are under regulatory directives and political pressure to reduce pollution, particularly as part of
any expansion plans. Many of these airports have adopted various strategies to address tailpipe emissions, including rental car and hotel shuttle consolidation. In
order to reduce emissions levels further, many airports require or encourage service vehicle operators to switch their fleets to natural gas, including airport delivery
fleets, door-to-door and parking shuttles and taxis. To assist in this effort, airports are contracting with service providers to design, build and operate natural gas
fueling stations in strategic locations on their properties. We serve customers at 39 airports, including Albuquerque, Atlanta Hartsfield Jackson International,
Austin Bergstrom International, Baltimore Washington International, Burbank, Cleveland Hopkins International, Dallas-Ft. Worth International, Denver
International, Dulles International (Washington D.C.), George Bush International (Houston), Hartford, Las Vegas, Love Field (Dallas), Logan International
(Boston), Long Beach, LaGuardia (New York), John F. Kennedy International (New York), Los Angeles International, New Orleans, Newark International,
Oakland International, Ontario, Orlando, Palm Springs, Philadelphia International, Phoenix Sky Harbor International, Ronald Reagan Washington National, San
Francisco International, Santa Ana/John Wayne, San Diego International, SeaTac International (Seattle), Tampa International, Tucson International and Will
Rogers (Oklahoma City). At these airports our representative customers include buses, delivery vehicles and taxi and van fleets, as well as parking and car rental
shuttles. We believe these customers are well -suited for natural gas use because they use a relatively high volume of vehicle fuel and can be served by centralized
fueling infrastructure. We estimate that vehicles serving airports in the U.S. consume an aggregate of approximately two billion gallons of fuel per year .
Refuse Haulers. According to INFORM, there are nearly 200,000 refuse trucks in the United States that collect and haul refuse and recyclables from
collection points to landfills, transfer stations, waste-to-energy facilities, and material recovery facilities and that consume approximately two billion gallons of fuel
per year. We fuel over 10,000 refuse vehicles. Refuse haulers are increasingly adopting trucks that run on CNG to realize operating savings and to address their
customers' demands for reduced emissions. We estimate that approximately 55% of new refuse trucks in 2015 operate on natural gas, up from approximately 3% of
new refuse trucks in 2008. We serve Waste Management and Republic Services, as well as other private waste haulers such as Atlas Disposal (CA), Blue Diamond
Disposal (NJ), Burrtec (CA), Central Jersey Waste (NJ), Choice Waste (FL), CleanScapes (WA), V. Garofalo & Sons (NY), Homewood Disposal (IL), Mission
Trail (CA), Livermore
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Sanitation (CA), USA Recycling (CT), Peoria Disposal (IL), Progressive Waste (LA,TX and Canada), Recology (Formerly Norcal Waste) CA, South San
Francisco Scavenger (CA), Tidewater Chesapeake (VA), Waste Connections and Waste Pro (FL), among others. We also provide vehicle fueling services to
municipal refuse fleets, including fleets in Burbank (CA), Dallas (TX), Fresno (CA), Los Angeles (CA), Sacramento (CA), San Antonio (TX), El Paso (TX),
Richmond (VA), Scottsdale (AZ), Mesa (AZ), Kansas City (MO), Atlantic Counties (NJ), Huntington (NY), Smithtown (NY) , Brookhaven (NY), Atlanta (GA),
Lancaster (PA) and on Long Island (NY) among other locations. We believe refuse companies are ideal customers because they can be served by centralized
fueling infrastructure and they use a relatively high volume of fuel.
Transit Agencies. According to the American Public Transportation Association, there are over 67,250 municipal transit buses operating in the U.S. In many
areas increasingly stringent emissions standards have limited the fueling options available to public transit operators, making them well-suited for adoption of
natural gas as a preferred vehicle fuel. Also, transit agencies typically fuel at a central location and use high volumes of fuel. We estimate that transit agencies in
the U.S. consume approximately 1.5 billion gallons of fuel per year. Many transit agencies have been early adopters of natural gas vehicles; over 25% of existing
transit buses and over 35% of new transit buses operate on natural gas. We fuel over 8,000 transit vehicles and our U.S. public transit customers include the
following: in California, Los Angeles Metropolitan Transit Authority, Foothill Transit, Long Beach Transit, Orange County Transit Authority, Santa Cruz
Metropolitan, Santa Monica Big Blue Bus, OmniTrans San Bernardino, Commerce, Montebello, Torrance, Elk Grove, Glendale, Santa Clarita and Santa Cruz; in
the Southwest, Dallas Area Rapid Transit (TX), Sun Metro (El Paso, TX), El Metro (Laredo, TX), Phoenix Transit (AZ), Tempe Transit (AZ), Regional
Transportation Commission of Southern Nevada (Las Vegas, NV) and the public agencies in Albuquerque and Santa Fe, New Mexico; in the Midwest, the public
agencies in Kansas City (MO) and Akron and Canton (OH); and on the East Coast, Bucks County (PA), Hillsborough Area Regional Transit (Tampa, FL),
Jacksonville Transportation Authority (FL), and NICE Bus (Long Island, NY). We also serve public transit customers in British Columbia.
Industrial and Institutional Customers. Founded in 2011 and based in Vermont, NG Advantage delivers CNG as a substitute fuel source to large institutions
and industrial facilities that do not have access to a natural gas pipeline. NG Advantage acts as a "virtual natural gas pipeline," using its fleet of 54 high-capacity
tube trailers to deliver CNG to these facilities for their use. NG Advantage has focused on customers in New England and Eastern New York, but plans to expand
beyond these geographic markets in the future.
Government Fleets. According to the Federal Highway Administration in 2011, there were approximately 4.0 million government fleet vehicles in operation
in the United States, including those operated by federal, state and municipal entities and in California and Texas, for example, there were over 667,572 and
571,688 government vehicles, respectively, as of 2012, according to the FHA. As government regulations on pollution continue to become more stringent,
government agencies are evaluating ways to make their fleets cleaner and run more economically. Our representative government fleet customers include the
California Department of Transportation (Los Angeles and Orange County), State of New York, State of Colorado, City of New York (NY), City of Richmond
(VA), City of Hartford (CT), City of Kansas City (MO), Lee's Summit School District (MO), City of Newark (NJ), Atlantic City (NJ), City of Columbia (MO),
City of Mesa (AZ), City of Scottsdale (AZ), City of Denver (CO), City and County of Los Angeles (CA), City of Chula Vista (CA), City of Newport Beach (CA),
South Coast Air Quality Management District (CA), City of Long Beach (CA), County of Maricopa (AZ), City of San Antonio (TX), City of El Paso (TX), Town
of Smithtown (NY), City and County of San Francisco (CA), City of Oakland (CA), City and County of Dallas (TX), City of Phoenix (AZ), The University of
California, and Oklahoma State University.
Corporate Information; Acquisitions and Divestitures
We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 2001. In August 2008, we acquired a 70% interest in a facility that collects, processes and
sells RNG collected from a landfill in Dallas, Texas. In December 2014, we sold all of our interest in that facility to our project partner. In October 2009, we
acquired BAF Technologies, Inc. (together with its wholly owned subsidiary ServoTech Engineering, Inc., "BAF"), a provider of natural gas vehicle conversions
and design and engineering services for natural gas engine systems. In June 2013, we sold BAF to a subsidiary of Westport Innovations, Inc. In September 2010,
we acquired the advanced, non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressor and related equipment manufacturing and servicing business of IMW Industries, Ltd.
(which we have renamed Clean Energy Compression). We purchased Wyoming Northstar Incorporated and its affiliated entities (which we have collectively
renamed Clean Energy Cryogenics), a leading provider of station design, construction, operations and maintenance services, in December 2010. In 2011, we
acquired the natural gas fueling infrastructure construction business of Weaver Electric, Inc. In March 2013, we sold our interest in Clean Energy del Peru, a CNG
provider located in Peru. In May 2013, we acquired Mansfield Gas Equipment Systems, a provider of CNG station design and construction and CNG equipment
repair and maintenance services. In September 2014, we formed Mansfield Clean Energy Partners LLC ("MCEP"), a joint venture with Mansfield Ventures LLC.
LLC that provides natural gas fueling solutions to bulk fuel haulers in the U.S. In October 2014, we acquired a majority interest in and purchased a CNG station
from NG Advantage. We anticipate pursuing additional acquisitions, divestitures, partnerships
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and investments as we become aware of opportunities that we believe we can increase our competitive advantages, expand our product offerings, take advantage of
industry developments, or enhance our market position.
Tax Incentives
Since October 1, 2006 we have been eligible to receive the VETC federal alternative fuel tax credit of $0.50 per gasoline gallon equivalent of CNG and
$0.50 per liquid gallon of LNG that we sell as vehicle fuel. We will continue to be eligible to receive VETC through 2016, although LNG sold after December 31,
2015 is eligible for the tax credit on a per DGE basis. VETC is a renewable tax incentive and therefore may not be available after 2016. In addition, other U.S.
federal and state government tax incentives are available to offset the cost of acquiring natural gas vehicles, convert vehicles to use natural gas or construct natural
gas fueling stations.
Grant Programs
We apply for and help our fleet customers apply for federal, state and regional grant programs in areas where we operate. These programs provide funding
for natural gas vehicle conversions and purchases, natural gas fueling station construction and vehicle fuel sold.
Competition
The market for vehicle fuels is highly competitive. The biggest competition for CNG and LNG is gasoline and diesel, as the vast majority of vehicles in the
U.S. and Canada are powered by gasoline and diesel. Many of the producers and sellers of gasoline and diesel fuels are large entities that have significantly greater
resources than we have. We also compete with suppliers of other alternative vehicle fuels, including ethanol, biodiesel and hydrogen fuels, as well as providers of
hybrid and electric vehicles. New technologies and improvements to existing technologies may make alternatives other than natural gas more attractive to the
market, or may slow the development of the market for natural gas as a vehicle fuel if such advances are made with respect to oil and gas usage. Further, for certain
of our key customer markets, such as airports and public transit, we indirectly compete with companies providing alternative transportation methods that may limit
these markets generally, such as Uber and Lyft.
A significant number of established businesses, including oil and gas companies, alternative vehicle and alternative fuel companies, refuse collectors, natural
gas utilities and their affiliates, industrial gas companies, truck stop and fuel station operators, fuel providers and other organizations have entered or are planning
to enter the market for natural gas and other alternatives for use as vehicle fuels. Many of these current and potential competitors have substantially greater
financial, marketing, research and other resources than we have. We believe we have approximately 100 competitors in the market for natural gas vehicle fuels,
including:
•

Providers of CNG fuel infrastructure and fueling services, including Trillium, AmpCNG, EVO CNG, Questar Fueling, Gain Clean Fuels, Constellation
and TruStar Energy;

•

Travel-center operators, including Love's Travel Stops and Sapp Bros., who are adding CNG refueling infrastructure to their networks;

•

Fuel station owners, such as Kwik Trip, a company that owns CNG fueling stations in the Midwestern U.S.;

•

Shell Oil Products U.S. and Blu/TransFuels, which operate LNG fueling stations; and

•

Applied LNG Technology, Stabilis and Prometheus Energy, each of which distributes LNG for use as a vehicle fuel.

Several natural gas utilities and their affiliates own and operate public access CNG stations that compete with our stations. In December 2012, the California
Public Utilities Commission approved a compression services tariff application by the Southern California Gas Company, allowing the utility to offer natural gas
fueling infrastructure construction services that compete with our offerings. In January 2014, Northwest Natural was also granted a similar service tariff by the
Oregon Public Utilities Commission. In addition, utilities or their affiliates in several other states, including Michigan, Illinois, New Jersey, North Carolina,
Missouri, Maryland, Washington, Kentucky, Florida and Georgia, entered or are preparing to enter the market for natural gas vehicle fuels. Utilities and their
affiliates typically have unique competitive advantages, including lower cost of capital, substantial and predictable cash flows, long-standing customer
relationships, greater brand awareness and large and well-trained sales and marketing organizations.
We manufacture and sell CNG fueling equipment through Clean Energy Compression. The market for CNG fueling equipment is highly competitive and our
competitors include Aspro, GNC Galileo, GE, SAFE, ANGI Energy Systems, and Atlas Copco. Numerous other equipment or compressor manufacturing
companies may also enter this market in the future. We
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also compete with many third parties for the rights to develop RNG production facilities or acquire RNG from third party producers, as well as for customers to
purchase the RNG that we produce or acquire from third party producers
We sell CNG to large industrial and institutional energy users through NG Advantage and compete with other participants in this highly competitive market,
including Xpress Natural Gas, OsComp Systems and Irving Ltd.
We compete for vehicle fuel users based on price of fuel, availability and price of vehicles that operate on natural gas, convenience and accessibility of our
fueling stations, quality, cleanliness and safety of our fuel, and brand recognition. As of December 31, 2015 , we owned, operated or supplied over 570 CNG and
LNG fueling stations. Of these, we operate 396 CNG fueling stations, which we estimate is approximately four times the number of CNG fueling stations operated
by our next largest competitor. We believe we are the only company in the U. S. or Canada that provides both CNG and LNG on a significant scale, and our natural
gas fueling operations cover more states and provinces than any of our competitors. However, we expect competition to increase, particularly if and to the extent
the demand for natural gas vehicle fuel and related equipment increases. Increased competition would lead to amplified pricing pressure, reduced operating
margins and fewer expansion opportunities.
Government Regulation and Environmental Matters
Certain aspects of our operations are subject to regulation under federal, state, local and foreign laws. If we were to violate these laws or if the laws were to
change, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Regulations that significantly affect our operations
are described below.
CNG and LNG Stations. To construct a CNG or LNG fueling station, we must satisfy permitting and other requirements and either we or a third party
contractor must be licensed as a general engineering contractor. Each CNG and LNG fueling station must be constructed in accordance with federal, state and local
regulations pertaining to station design, environmental health, accidental release prevention, above-ground storage tanks, hazardous waste and hazardous materials.
We are also required to register with certain state agencies as a retailer/wholesaler of CNG and LNG.
Transfer of LNG. Federal safety standards require each transfer of LNG to be conducted in accordance with specific written safety procedures. These
procedures must be located at each place of transfer and must include provisions for personnel to be in constant attendance during all LNG transfer operations.
LNG Liquefaction Plants. To build and operate LNG liquefaction plants, we must apply for facility permits or licenses to address many factors, including
storm water and wastewater discharges, waste handling and air emissions related to production activities or equipment operations. The construction of LNG plants
must also be approved by local planning boards and fire departments.
Financing. State agencies generally require the registration of finance lenders. For example, in California, pursuant to the California Finance Lenders Law,
one of our subsidiaries is a registered finance lender with the California Department of Corporations.
Natural Gas Fueling Compressors. CNG fueling equipment is manufactured to meet the electrical and mechanical design standards of the country where the
equipment will be installed. Our manufacturing facility in Canada is registered with the British Columbia Safety Authority and the Society of Mechanical
Engineers for manufacturing and operating pressure vessels.
RNG. Our RNG production facilities are required to comply with Title V of the Clean Air Act. In addition, our RNG projects must produce RNG that meets
the gas quality specifications of the local utilities that accept the gas. These specifications are approved by the relevant state utilities commission.
Federal RFS. In February 2010, the EPA finalized the RFS (which was established by the Energy Policy Act of 1992/2005), which creates RINs that can be
generated by production and use of RNG in the transportation sector and can be sold to fuel providers that are not compliant under the RFS.
GHG Emissions. California has adopted legislation, AB 32, that calls for a cap on greenhouse gas emissions throughout California and a statewide reduction
to 1990 levels by 2020 and an additional 80% reduction below 1990 levels by 2050. Further, in 2015 the Governor of California issued an executive order
mandating a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 40% compared to 1990 levels by 2030. As of January 1, 2015, AB 32 began regulating the greenhouse gas
emissions from transportation fuels, including the emissions associated with LNG and CNG vehicle fuel. Under AB 32, the LNG vehicle fuel provider is the
regulated party with respect to LNG vehicle fuel use. We estimate that we will be required to pay at least $150,000 in 2016 to comply with AB 32 with respect to
our LNG vehicle fuel sales in California. Our costs in future years will depend on how much LNG vehicle fuel we sell that is regulated, CARB's guidance on the
regulation of LNG vehicle fuel, potential regulatory changes and the cost of carbon credits under AB 32 at the time we purchase them. We anticipate that the
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costs we incur to comply with this legislation will be passed through to our LNG vehicle fuel purchasers, which may diminish the attractiveness of LNG as a
vehicle fuel for California buyers. With respect to CNG, the regulated party under AB 32 is the utility that owns the pipe through which the fossil fuel natural gas
is sold. SoCalGas, the Southern California gas utility, has recently announced that it intends to charge CNG fueling customers an additional $0.27 per MMBtu
beginning in April 2016 to cover its AB 32 compliance costs. We anticipate that we will pass these additional utility fees on to our customers, which will diminish
the economic attractiveness of CNG vehicle fuel. In addition, we anticipate that, over time, we or our CNG customers will be required to pay more for CNG
vehicle fuel to cover the increased AB 32 compliance costs of the utility. These costs will be determined by the amount the utility spends to buy any carbon credits
needed to comply with AB 32 as a result of the natural gas we or our customers buy through the utility’s pipeline. Although our Redeem™ RNG vehicle fuel may
qualify for an exemption from AB 32 when sold as LNG or CNG, the complexity of the requirements that biomethane must meet in order to be exempt under AB
32 and the possibility of changes to this legislation make any exemption uncertain. Any Redeem™ volumes that are not exempt would incur compliance costs
commensurate with sales of CNG and LNG derived from fossil fuel natural gas. To help achieve the greenhouse gas emissions reductions for mobile sources that
are mandated by AB 32, CARB approved the Low Carbon Fuel Standard, which encourages low carbon "compliant" transportation fuels (including CNG, LNG
and RNG) to enter the marketplace by allowing them to generate LCFS Credits that can be sold to noncompliant regulated parties.
The federal and other state governments are considering passing similar measures to regulate and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Any of these regulations,
when and if implemented, may regulate the greenhouse gas emissions produced by our LNG production plants, our CNG and LNG fueling stations or our RNG
production facilities, and/or the greenhouse gas emissions associated with the CNG, LNG and RNG we sell, and could require us to obtain emissions credits or
invest in costly emissions prevention technology. We cannot estimate the potential costs associated with compliance with potential federal, state or local regulation
of greenhouse gas emissions and these unknown costs are not contemplated by our current customer agreements.
We believe we are in material compliance with environmental laws and regulations and other known regulatory requirements. Compliance with these
regulations has not had a material effect on our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position but new laws or regulations or amendments to existing laws
or regulations to make them more stringent, such as more rigorous air emissions requirements, proposals to make waste materials subject to more stringent and
costly handling, disposal and clean-up requirements or regulations of greenhouse gas emissions, could require us to undertake significant capital expenditures in
the future.
Employees
As of December 31, 2015 , we employed 994 people. We have not experienced any work stoppages and none of our employees is subject to collective
bargaining agreements. We believe that our employee relations are good.
Financial Information about Segments and Geographic Areas
We operate our business in one reportable segment. For information about our revenues from external customers, operating income (loss) and long-lived
assets broken down by geographic area, see note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report. We are subject to certain risks attendant to our
foreign operations, which are described below in Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Additional Information
Our website is located at www.cleanenergyfuels.com. We make available, free of charge on our website, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. The reference to our website is an inactive
textual reference and the contents of our website are not incorporated into this report.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
An investment in our Company involves a high degree of risk of loss. You should carefully consider the risk factors discussed below and all of the other
information included in this annual report on Form 10-K before you decide to purchase shares of our common stock. We believe the risks and uncertainties
described below are the most significant we face. The occurrence of any of the following risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations,
prospects and reputation and could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business.
11

Table of Contents
We have a history of losses and may incur additional losses in the future.
In 2013, 2014 and 2015, we incurred pre-tax losses of $63.2 million, $89.9 million, and $ 133.8 million , respectively. During these periods our losses
were substantially decreased by approximately $45.4 million, $28.4 million and $ 31.0 million of revenue, respectively, from the VETC alternative fuels tax
credits. We may continue to incur increasing losses or never achieve or maintain profitability, which would adversely affect our business, prospects and financial
condition, and may cause the price of our common stock to fall.
Servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our debt.
At December 31, 2015, our total consolidated indebtedness was approximately $ 572.4 million which includes amounts incurred under the 7.5% Notes,
SLG Notes, 5.25% Notes and Canton Bonds, each of which is defined and discussed in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements and under “Contractual
Obligations” in Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this report. In addition, in February 2016, we
entered into a loan and security agreement with, and issued a related promissory note to, PlainsCapital Bank, pursuant to which we have obtained a loan in the
principal amount of up to $50.0 million. See note 9 to our consolidated financial statements and Item 9B. Other Information of this report for further information
about our loan from PlainsCapital Bank. As of December 31, 2015 approximately $ 150.1 million , $ 5.5 million , $ 305.1 million , $ 54.7 million , $ 53.1 million
and $ 4.0 million of our consolidated indebtedness matures in 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, and thereafter, respectively. We expect our total consolidated interest
payment obligations relating to our indebtedness to be approximately $ 32.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2016
Although we do not have a specific plan regarding the repurchase, redemption or restructuring of our outstanding indebtedness, we generally intend to
make payments under our various debt instruments when due and pursue opportunities for earlier repayment if and when opportunities arise. With respect to
certain of our outstanding indebtedness due in 2016, we anticipate repaying, with a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, all or some portion of the
outstanding principal amount of the SLG Notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest, on or prior to their August 2016 maturity date. To this end, on March 1,
2016 and pursuant to the consent of the holders of the SLG Notes, we prepaid an aggregate of $60.0 million in principal amount and $1.8 million in accrued and
unpaid interest owed under the SLG Notes. In addition, with respect to certain of our outstanding indebtedness due in 2018, in February 2016, in light of
discounted trading prices of our 5.25% Notes and other factors, our board of directors authorized and approved our use of up to $25.0 million to opportunistically
purchase in the open market our outstanding 5.25% Notes. Pursuant to such approval, on February 18, 2016, we paid $16.8 million in cash to repurchase $32.5
million in face amount of our 5.25% Notes due 2018, plus accrued interest. Upon our purchase, such 5.25% Notes were surrendered to the trustee for such notes
and canceled.
Our ability to make payments of the principal and interest on our indebtedness, whether at or prior to their due dates, depends on our future performance,
which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors, including those described in these risk factors, many of which are beyond our control. Our
business may not generate cash flow from operations sufficient to service our debt. If we are, or if we expect that we will be, unable to generate such cash flow, we
may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring or refinancing our debt or obtaining additional equity capital or debt
financing on terms that may be onerous to us or highly dilutive to our stockholders. Our ability to pursue any of these avenues, should we decide to do so, would
depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on
desirable terms or at the desirable time, which could result in a default on our debt obligations. Additionally, certain of the agreements governing our indebtedness
contain restrictive covenants and any failure by us to comply with any of these covenants could also cause us to be in default under the agreements governing the
indebtedness. In the event of any such default, the holders of the indebtedness could, among other things, elect to declare all amounts owed immediately due and
payable, which could cause all or a large portion of our available cash flow to be used to pay such amounts and thereby reduce the amount of cash available to
pursue our business plans or force us into bankruptcy or liquidation. In addition, the substantial amount of our indebtedness, combined with our other financial
obligations and contractual commitments, could have other important consequences. For example, it could make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general
U.S. and worldwide economic, industry and competitive conditions and government regulations, limit our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our business
and industry, place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors who have less debt or limit our ability to borrow additional amounts as needed.
We are permitted to repay up to $ 295.0 million of our consolidated indebtedness outstanding at December 31, 2015 at maturity with shares of our
common stock rather than cash, with the amount of shares determined by the then-current trading price of our common stock. Any such issuance would increase
the number of our outstanding shares and may significantly dilute the ownership interest of our stockholders.
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We may need to raise additional capital to continue to fund the growth of our business or repay our debt.
At December 31, 2015, we had total cash and cash equivalents of $ 43.7 million and short-term investments of $ 102.9 million . Our business plan calls
for approximately $ 25.5 million in capital expenditures for 2016, as well as additional capital expenditures thereafter. We may also require capital to make
principal or interest payments on our indebtedness, either prior to or at their maturity dates, or for unanticipated expenses, mergers and acquisitions and strategic
investments. As a result, we may find it necessary to raise additional capital through selling assets or pursuing debt or equity financing.
Asset sales and equity or debt financing options may not be available when needed on terms favorable to us, or at all. Any sale of our assets may limit our
operational capacity and could limit or eliminate any business plans that are dependent on the sold assets. Additional issuances of our common stock or securities
convertible into our common stock would increase the number of our outstanding shares and dilute the ownership interest of our then-existing stockholders. We
may also pursue debt financing, such as our February 2016 loan from PlainsCapital Bank,since, despite our level of consolidated debt, the agreements governing
much of our existing debt do not restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness, including secured and unsecured indebtedness, or require us to maintain
financial ratios or specified levels of net worth or liquidity. Debt financing options that we may pursue include, among others, equipment financing, sales of
convertible notes, high-yield debt, asset-based loans, term loans, project finance debt, municipal bond financing, loans secured by receivables or inventory or
commercial bank financing. Any debt financing we obtain may require us to make significant interest payments and to pledge some or all of our assets as security.
In addition, higher levels of indebtedness could increase our risk of non-repayment and could adversely affect our creditworthiness, which could limit our ability to
obtain further debt or equity financing as needed and restrict our flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions. Further, we may incur
substantial costs in pursuing any future capital-raising transactions, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, printing and distribution
expenses and other costs. On the other hand, if we are unable to obtain capital in amounts sufficient to fund our contractual obligations, business plan,
unanticipated expenses, capital expenditures, mergers, acquisitions or strategic investments, we would be forced to suspend, delay or curtail these plans,
expenditures or other transactions, which could negatively affect our business and prospects.
Our success is dependent upon fleets’ and other consumers’ willingness to adopt natural gas as a vehicle fuel.
Our success is highly dependent upon the adoption by fleets and other consumers of natural gas as a vehicle fuel. Factors that may influence the adoption
of natural gas as a vehicle fuel include, among others, those discussed in these risk factors. If the market for natural gas as a vehicle fuel does not develop as we
expect or develops more slowly than we expect, or if a market does develop but we are not able to capture a significant share of the market or the market
subsequently declines, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results would be harmed. The market for natural gas as a vehicle fuel is a
relatively new and developing market characterized by intense competition, evolving government regulation and industry standards and changing consumer
demands and behaviors.
Factors that may influence the adoption of natural gas as a vehicle fuel include, among others:
•

Increases, decreases or volatility in the price of oil, gasoline, diesel and natural gas;

•

The availability of natural gas and the price of natural gas compared to gasoline, diesel and other vehicle fuels;

•

Natural gas vehicle cost, availability, quality, safety, design and performance, all relative to other vehicles;

•

Improvements in the efficiency, fuel economy or greenhouse gas emissions of engines for gasoline, diesel and alternative fuel vehicles;

•

The entry or exit of engine manufacturers from the market;

•

Perceptions about greenhouse gas emissions (also known as “fugitive methane emissions”) from natural gas production and transportation methods,
natural gas fueling stations and natural gas vehicles;

•

The availability and acceptance of other alternative fuels and alternative fuel vehicles;

•

The existence of government programs, policies, regulations or incentives promoting other alternative fuels and alternative fuel vehicles;

•

Access to natural gas fueling stations and the convenience and cost to fuel a natural gas vehicle;
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•

The availability of service for natural gas vehicles;

•

The environmental consciousness of fleets and consumers; and

•

The existence and success of tax credits, government incentives and grant programs that promote the use of natural gas as a vehicle fuel.

Increases, decreases and general volatility in oil, gasoline, diesel and natural gas prices could adversely impact our business.
In recent years, the prices of oil, gasoline, diesel and natural gas have been volatile, and this volatility may continue. Market adoption of CNG, LNG and
RNG as vehicle fuels could be slowed or limited if there are significant decreases in the prices of, or significant increases in the supply and availability of, gasoline
and diesel, today’s most prevalent and conventional vehicle fuels, which would decrease the market’s perception of a need for alternative vehicle fuels generally,
or if there are decreases in the prices of gasoline and diesel without a corresponding decrease in the price of natural gas or an increase in the price of natural gas
without corresponding increases in the prices of gasoline and diesel. Any of these circumstances could cause the success or perceived success of our industry and
our business to materially suffer. Part of the reason that such slowed or limited adoption of natural gas as a vehicle fuel might occur under these circumstances is
due to the higher cost of natural gas vehicles compared to gasoline or diesel-powered vehicles, as the components needed for a vehicle to use natural gas add to a
vehicle’s base cost. If gasoline or diesel prices drop significantly, fuel economy of gasoline- or diesel-powered vehicles improves, or the prices of CNG and LNG
are not sufficiently low, operators may delay or refrain from purchasing natural gas vehicles or decide not to convert their existing vehicles to run on natural gas
because of a perceived inability to recover in a timely manner the additional costs of acquiring or converting to natural gas vehicles. In addition, our profit margins
are directly affected by fluctuations in natural gas, gasoline and diesel prices. In order to attract fleet operators and other consumers to convert to natural gas
vehicles, we must be able to offer CNG and LNG fuel at prices significantly lower than gasoline and diesel. Decreases in the price of gasoline and diesel and
increases in the price of natural gas make it more difficult for us to offer our customers attractive prices for CNG and LNG as compared to gasoline and diesel
prices and maintain an acceptable margin on our sales. Further, increased natural gas prices affect the cost to us of natural gas and adversely impact our operating
margins in cases where we cannot pass the increased costs through to our customers, and conversely, lower natural gas prices reduce our revenues in cases where
the commodity cost is passed through to our customers.
Among the factors that can cause fluctuations in gasoline, diesel and natural gas prices are changes in supply and availability of crude oil and natural gas,
storage levels, level of consumer demand, price and availability of alternative fuels, weather conditions, negative publicity surrounding natural gas drilling
techniques and methods or oil production and importing, economic conditions, the price of foreign imports, government regulations and political conditions. With
respect to natural gas supply and use as a vehicle fuel, there have been recent efforts to place new regulatory requirements on the production of natural gas by
hydraulic fracturing of shale gas reservoirs and other means and on transporting, dispensing and using natural gas. Hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling
techniques have resulted in a substantial increase in the proven natural gas reserves in the United States and any changes in regulations that make it more expensive
or unprofitable to produce natural gas through these techniques or others, as well as any changes to the regulations relating to transporting, dispensing or using
natural gas, could lead to increased natural gas prices. Additionally, crude oil prices have recently been subject to extreme volatility and a significant decrease, due
in part to over-production and increased supply without a corresponding increase in demand. If these conditions continue or worsen, or if all or some combination
of factors causing further volatility in natural gas, oil and diesel prices were to occur, our business and our industry would be materially harmed.
If trucks using natural gas engines are not adopted by truck operators as quickly or to the extent we anticipate, our results of operations and business prospects
will be adversely affected.
We believe the development and expansion of the U.S. natural gas heavy-duty truck market, and the execution of our America’s Natural Gas Highway
initiative to build a nationwide network of natural gas truck friendly fueling stations, depends upon the successful adoption of natural gas engines that are wellsuited for use by heavy-duty trucks. We have no control over the marketing and sales efforts for these engines or the success of these efforts, the retail price for
these engines or the number of these engines that are ultimately sold. Manufacturers may not produce natural gas engines in meaningful numbers or as quickly as
we anticipate, which could contribute to continued or increased delay in adoption and deployment of natural gas trucks by operators. Other factors potentially
contributing to slow or limited adoption of heavy-duty trucks powered by natural gas engines are that these trucks cost more than comparable gasoline or diesel
trucks and may experience, or be perceived to experience, more operational or performance issues. Our business would be harmed if meaningful numbers of
natural gas heavy-duty truck engines are not deployed, if such deployment is slower than expected, or if a substantial number of the trucks that are deployed
experience performance issues with their natural gas engines or are not fueled at our stations.
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The failure of our America’s Natural Gas Highway initiative and our inability to achieve our goal to fuel a substantial number of natural gas heavy-duty
trucks would materially and adversely affect our financial results and business.
We are seeking to fuel a substantial number of natural gas heavy-duty trucks and in connection with that effort we are building America’s Natural Gas
Highway. Our objectives to fuel a substantial number of heavy-duty trucks and build America’s Natural Gas Highway have required, and will continue to require, a
significant commitment of capital and other resources, and our ability to successfully execute our plans faces substantial risks, including, among others:
•

Most of our ANGH stations were initially built to provide LNG, which costs more than CNG on an energy equivalent basis. We have been, and may
continue to be required to, spend significant additional capital to add CNG fueling capability to many of our ANGH stations, and we may not have
sufficient capital in the future for that purpose;

•

Our ANGH stations may experience mechanical or operational difficulties, which could require significant costs to repair and could reduce customer
confidence in our stations;

•

Truck and vehicle operators may not fuel at our stations due to lack of access or convenience, prices or numerous other factors;

•

We have no influence over the development, production, cost or availability of natural gas trucks powered by engines that are well-suited for the U.S.
heavy-duty truck market. At December 31, 2015, Cummins Westport was the principal natural gas engine manufacturer for the medium- and heavyduty market, and we have no control over whether and the extent to which Cummins Westport will remain in the natural gas engine business or
whether other manufacturers will enter the natural gas engine business;

•

Operators may not adopt heavy-duty natural gas trucks due to cost, actual or perceived performance issues, or other factors that are outside of our
control. To date, adoption and deployment of natural gas trucks has been slower and more limited than we anticipated;

•

We may not be able to obtain acceptable margins on fuel sales at ANGH stations; and

•

At December 31, 2015, we had 43 completed ANGH stations that were not open for fueling operations. We expect to open such stations when we
have sufficient customers to fuel at the locations, but we do not know when this will occur. If we do not open the stations, we will continue to have
substantial investments in assets that do not produce revenues equal to or greater than their costs.

We must effectively manage these risks and any other risks that may arise in connection with the ANGH build-out to successfully execute our business
plan. If the U.S. market for heavy-duty natural gas trucks does not develop or if we fail to successfully execute our ANGH initiative and fuel a substantial number
of natural gas heavy-duty trucks, our financial results, operations and business, and our ability to repay our debt, will be materially and adversely affected.
Automobile and engine manufacturers produce very few natural gas vehicles and engines for the United States and Canadian markets, which limits our
customer base and our sales of CNG, LNG and RNG.
Limited availability of natural gas vehicles and engine sizes, including heavy-duty trucks and other types of vehicles, restricts their large-scale
introduction and narrows our potential customer base. Limited production could also increase the cost to purchase natural gas vehicles. Original equipment
manufacturers produce a relatively small number of natural gas engines and vehicles in the U.S. and Canadian markets and they may not decide to expand, or they
may decide to discontinue or curtail, their existing natural gas engine or vehicle product lines. Additionally, engines that are produced may experience performance
issues and be subject to recalls. A limited supply of natural gas vehicles limits our customer base and natural gas fuel sales and encourages existing manufacturers
to charge a premium for such vehicles, thereby restricting our ability to promote natural gas vehicles.
Our business is influenced by environmental, tax and other government regulations, programs and incentives that promote or encourage cleaner burning fuels
and alternative vehicles and their adoption, modification or repeal could impact our business.
Our business is influenced by federal, state and local government tax credits, rebates, grants and similar programs and incentives that promote the use of
CNG, LNG and RNG as a vehicle fuel, as well as by laws, rules and regulations that require reductions in carbon emissions. Parties with an interest in gasoline and
diesel or alternative fuels such as hydrogen- or electric15
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powered vehicles, many of which have substantially greater resources and influence than we have, invest significant time and money in efforts to delay, repeal or
otherwise negatively influence regulations and programs that promote natural gas as a vehicle fuel. Any failure to adopt, delay in implementing, expiration, repeal
or modification of federal, state or local regulations, programs or incentives that encourage the use of CNG, LNG and RNG as a vehicle fuel, or the adoption of any
such regulations, programs or incentives that encourage the use of other alternative fuels or alternative vehicles instead of natural gas, would harm our operating
results and financial condition. Additionally, changes to or the repeal of laws, rules and regulations that mandate reductions in carbon emissions and/or the use of
renewable fuels, including the California and Oregon Low Carbon Fuel Standards and the federal Renewable Fuel Standard, under which we generate LCFS
Credits and RIN Credits, respectively, by selling CNG, LNG and RNG as a vehicle fuel, would adversely affect our financial condition. For example, CARB
recently adopted changes to its carbon intensity number for CNG, LNG and RNG to take into account alleged system-wide methane losses, which changes resulted
in fewer carbon benefits associated with the use of natural gas as a vehicle fuel, and this may adversely affect our business. Further, our business would be
adversely affected if grant funds cease to be available under government programs for the purchase and construction of natural gas vehicles and stations.
We face increasing competition from a variety of organizations, many of which have far greater resources and brand awareness than we have.
A significant number of established businesses, including oil and gas companies, alternative vehicle and alternative fuel companies, refuse collectors,
natural gas utilities and their affiliates, industrial gas companies, truck stop and fuel station owners, fuel providers and other organizations have entered or are
planning to enter the market for natural gas and other alternatives for use as vehicle fuels. Additionally, for certain of our key customer markets, such as airports
and public transit, we indirectly compete with companies such as Uber and Lyft that provide alternative transportation methods that may limit these markets
generally. Further, we compete with producers and sellers of gasoline and diesel fuels, which power the vast majority of vehicles in the U.S. and Canada, suppliers
of other alternative vehicle fuels and providers of hybrid and electric vehicles. Many of these current and potential competitors have substantially greater financial,
marketing, research and other resources than we have. New technologies and improvements to existing technologies may make alternatives other than natural gas
more attractive to the market, or may slow the development of the market for natural gas as a vehicle fuel if such advances are made with respect to oil and gas
usage. Natural gas utilities and their affiliates also own and operate natural gas fueling stations that compete with our stations. For example, the California Public
Utilities Commission has approved a compression services tariff application by the Southern California Gas Company, allowing the utility to compete with us by
building and owning natural gas compression equipment on customer property and by providing operation and maintenance services to customers. Additionally,
Northwest National has been granted a similar service tariff by the Oregon Public Utilities Commission. Utilities or their affiliates in several other states, including
Michigan, Illinois, New Jersey, North Carolina, Maryland, Washington, Kentucky, Florida and Georgia, either have entered or are preparing to enter the natural
gas vehicle fuel business. Utilities and their affiliates typically have unique competitive advantages, including lower cost of capital, substantial and predictable
cash flows, long-standing customer relationships, greater brand awareness and large and well-trained sales and marketing organizations.
We expect competition to increase in the alternative vehicle fuels market generally and, if the use of natural gas vehicles and the demand for natural gas
vehicle fuel increases, the market for natural gas vehicle fuel. Any such increased competition would lead to amplified pricing pressure, reduced operating margins
and fewer expansion opportunities.
If there are advances in other alternative vehicle fuels or technologies, or if there are improvements in gasoline, diesel or hybrid engines, demand for natural
gas vehicles may decline.
Technological advances in the production, delivery and use of alternative fuels that are, or are perceived to be, cleaner, more cost-effective or more
readily available than CNG, LNG or RNG have the potential to slow or limit adoption of natural gas vehicles. Advances in gasoline and diesel engine technology,
including efficiency improvements and further development of hybrid engines, may also offer a cleaner, more cost-effective option and make fleet customers less
likely to convert their vehicles to natural gas. Technological advances related to ethanol or biodiesel, which are used as an additive to, or substitute for, gasoline
and diesel fuel, may slow the need to diversify fuels and affect the growth of the natural gas vehicle fuel market. Use of electric heavy-duty trucks, buses and trash
trucks, or the perception that such vehicles may soon be widely available and provide satisfactory performance, may reduce demand for natural gas vehicles. In
addition, hydrogen and other alternative fuels in experimental or developmental stages may prove to be cleaner, more cost-effective alternatives to gasoline and
diesel than natural gas. Advances in technology that slow or curtail the growth of natural gas vehicle purchases or conversions, or that otherwise reduce demand for
natural gas as a vehicle fuel will have an adverse effect on our business. Failure of natural gas vehicle technology to advance at a sufficient pace may also limit its
adoption and our ability to compete with gasoline-and diesel-powered vehicles and other alternative fuels and alternative vehicles.
16

Table of Contents
We are subject to risks associated with station construction and similar activities, including difficulties identifying suitable station locations, zoning and
permitting issues, local resistance, cost overruns, delays and other contingencies.
In connection with our station construction operations, we may not be able to identify, obtain and retain sufficient permits, approvals and other rights to
use suitable locations for the stations we or our customers seek to build. We may also encounter land use or zoning difficulties or local resistance that prohibit us or
our customers from building new stations on preferred sites or limit or restrict the use of new or existing stations. Any such difficulties, resistance or limitations
could harm our business and results of operations. In addition, we act as the general contractor and construction manager for station construction and facility
modification projects and typically rely on licensed subcontractors to perform the construction work. We may be liable for any damage we or our subcontractors
cause, or for injuries suffered by our employees or our subcontractors’ employees, during the course of our projects. Shortages of skilled subcontractor labor for
our projects could significantly delay a project or otherwise increase our costs. Our profit on our projects is based in part on assumptions about the cost of the
projects and cost overruns, delays or other execution issues may, in the case of projects that we complete and sell to customers, result in our failure to achieve our
expected margins or cover our costs, and in the case of projects that we build and own, result in our failure to achieve an acceptable rate of return.
Our manufacturing operations could subject us to significant costs and other risks, including product liability claims.
Clean Energy Compression designs, manufactures, sells and services non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment used in CNG
stations. The equipment Clean Energy Compression produces and sells has not in some instances performed, and may not in the future perform, as expected,
according to legal, contractual or other specifications or at all. Clean Energy Compression has in the past and may in the future incur significant and unexpected
costs in the life cycle of its products, including costs incurred to fix any discovered performance errors and to repair any product malfunctions. The scope and
likelihood of these risks continues to increase as Clean Energy Compression makes efforts to expand its services to new geographic and other markets. The
occurrence of any of these risks has and may continue to reduce sales of Clean Energy Compression products and services, damage our customer relationships and
reputation, delay the launch of new Clean Energy Compression products and services, force product recalls and/or result in product liability claims.
Our warranty reserves may not adequately cover our warranty obligations.
We provide product warranties with varying terms and durations for natural gas compressors and stations we build and sell to customers, and we establish
reserves for the estimated liability associated with our product warranties. Our warranty reserves are based on historical trends as well as our understanding of
specifically identified warranty issues and the amounts estimated for these reserves could differ materially from warranty costs that may ultimately be realized. We
would be adversely affected by an increase in the rate of warranty claims or the average amount involved with each warranty claim or the occurrence of
unexpected warranty claims.
Increased global IT security threats and more sophisticated and targeted computer crime could pose a risk to our systems, networks, products, solutions and
services.
Increased global IT security threats and more sophisticated and targeted computer crime pose a risk to the security of our systems and networks and the
confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data. Depending on their nature and scope, such threats could potentially lead to the compromise of confidential
information, improper use of our systems and networks, manipulation and destruction of data and operational disruptions.
The global scope of our operations exposes us to additional risks and uncertainties.
Clean Energy Compression has operations in a number of countries, including Canada, China, Colombia, Bangladesh and Peru. Clean Energy
Compression’s natural gas compression equipment is primarily manufactured in Canada and sold globally, which exposes us to a number of risks that can arise
from international trade transactions, local business practices and cultural considerations. In addition to the other risks described in these risk factors, the global
scope of our operations may subject us to risks and uncertainties that could limit our operations, increase our costs or otherwise negatively impact our business and
financial condition, including, among others:
•

Failure to comply with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other applicable anti-bribery laws;

•

Political unrest, terrorism, war, natural disasters and economic and financial instability;

•

Cheap local oil, gasoline or diesel;
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•

Changes in environmental and other regulatory requirements and uncertainty related to developing legal and regulatory systems and standards for
economic and business activities, real property ownership and application of contract rights;

•

Trade restrictions and import-export regulations;

•

Difficulties enforcing agreements and collecting receivables;

•

Difficulties complying with the laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions;

•

Difficulties ensuring that health, safety, environmental and other working conditions are properly implemented and/or maintained by local offices;

•

Differing employment practices and/or labor issues, including wage inflation, labor unrest and unionization policies;

•

Limited intellectual property protection;

•

Longer payment cycles by international customers;

•

Inadequate local infrastructure and disruptions of service from utilities or telecommunications providers, including electricity shortages; and

•

Potentially adverse tax consequences.

In addition to the above, we also face risks associated with currency exchange and convertibility, inflation and repatriation of earnings as a result of our
foreign operations. In some countries, economic, monetary and regulatory factors could affect our ability to convert funds to United States dollars or move funds
from accounts in these countries. We are also vulnerable to appreciation or depreciation of foreign currencies against the United States dollar, which could
negatively impact our operating results and financial performance.
We depend on key people to operate our business, and if we are unable to retain our key people or hire additional qualified people, our ability to develop and
successfully market our business would be harmed.
We believe that our future success is highly dependent on the contributions of our executive officers, as well as our ability to attract and retain highly
skilled managerial, sales, technical and finance personnel. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them.
All of our executive officers and other United States employees may terminate their employment relationships with us at any time, and their knowledge of our
business and industry would be extremely difficult to replace. If we are unable to retain our executive officers and key employees or, if such individuals leave our
Company, we are unable to attract and successfully integrate quality replacements, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.
We have significant contracts with government entities that are subject to unique risks.
We have, and will continue to seek, long-term CNG, LNG and RNG station construction, maintenance and fuel sales contracts with various government
bodies, which accounted for approximately 19%, 18% and 18% of our annual revenues in 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively. In addition to normal business risks,
our contracts with government entities are often subject to unique risks, some of which are beyond our control. Long-term government contracts and related orders
are subject to cancellation if adequate appropriations for subsequent performance periods are not made. The termination of funding for a government program
supporting any of our government contracts could result in a loss of anticipated future revenues attributable to that contract, which could have a negative impact on
our operations. In addition, government entities with which we contract are often able to modify, curtail or terminate contracts with us without prior notice at their
convenience, and are only required to pay for work done and commitments made at the time of termination. Modification, curtailment or termination of significant
government contracts could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Further, government contracts are frequently
awarded only after competitive bidding processes, which are often protracted. In many cases, unsuccessful bidders for government contracts are provided the
opportunity to formally protest certain contract awards through various agencies or other administrative and judicial channels. The protest process may
substantially delay a successful bidder’s contract performance, result in cancellation of the contract award entirely and distract management. As a result, we may
not be awarded contracts for which we bid and substantial delays or cancellation of contracts may follow any successful bids as a result of such protests.
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Natural gas purchase commitments may exceed demand, causing our costs to increase.
We are a party to two long-term natural gas purchase agreements that have a take-or-pay commitment, and we may enter into additional contracts with
take-or-pay commitments in the future. Take-or-pay commitments require us to pay for the natural gas that we have agreed to purchase irrespective of whether we
can sell the gas. Should the market demand for natural gas as a vehicle fuel decline or fail to develop as we anticipate, if we lose significant natural gas vehicle
fueling customers, or if demand under any existing or any future sales contract does not maintain its volume levels or grow, these commitments may cause our
operating and supply costs to increase without a corresponding increase in revenue and our margins may be negatively impacted.
Compliance with greenhouse gas emissions regulations affecting our LNG plants, RNG production facilities, LNG and CNG fueling stations or CNG, LNG
and RNG fuel sales may prove costly and negatively affect our financial performance.
California has adopted legislation, AB 32, that calls for a cap on greenhouse gas emissions throughout California and a statewide reduction to 1990 levels
by 2020 and an additional 80% reduction below 1990 levels by 2050. Further, in 2015 the Governor of California issued an executive order mandating a reduction
in greenhouse gas emissions by 40% compared to 1990 levels by 2030. As of January 1, 2015, AB 32 began regulating the greenhouse gas emissions from
transportation fuels, including the emissions associated with LNG and CNG vehicle fuel.
Under AB 32, the LNG vehicle fuel provider is the regulated party with respect to LNG vehicle fuel use. We estimate that we will be required to pay at
least $150,000 in 2016 to comply with AB 32 with respect to our LNG vehicle fuel sales in California. Our costs in future years will depend on how much LNG
vehicle fuel we sell that is regulated, CARB's guidance on the regulation of LNG vehicle fuel, potential regulatory changes and the cost of carbon credits under AB
32 at the time we purchase them. We anticipate that the costs we incur to comply with this legislation will be passed through to our LNG vehicle fuel purchasers,
which may diminish the attractiveness of LNG as a vehicle fuel for California buyers. With respect to CNG, the regulated party under AB 32 is the utility that
owns the pipe through which the fossil fuel natural gas is sold. SoCalGas, the Southern California gas utility, has recently announced that it intends to charge CNG
fueling customers an additional $0.27 per MMBtu beginning in April 2016 to cover its AB 32 compliance costs on each MMBtu of CNG sold. We anticipate that
we will pass these additional utility fees on to our customers, which will diminish the economic attractiveness of CNG vehicle fuel. In addition, we anticipate that,
over time, as the utilities compliance costs increase, we or our CNG customers will be required to pay more for CNG vehicle fuel to cover the increased AB 32
compliance costs of the utility. These costs will be determined by the amount the utility spends to buy any carbon credits needed to comply with AB 32 as a result
of the natural gas we or our customers buy through the utility’s pipeline. Although our Redeem™ RNG vehicle fuel may qualify for an exemption from AB 32
when sold as LNG or CNG, the complexity of the requirements that biomethane must meet in order to be exempt under AB 32 and the possibility of changes to this
legislation make any exemption uncertain. Any Redeem™ volumes that are not exempt would incur compliance costs commensurate with sales of CNG and LNG
derived from fossil fuel natural gas.
The federal government and other state governments are considering passing similar measures to regulate and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Any of
these regulations, when and if implemented, may regulate the greenhouse gas emissions produced by our LNG production plants, our CNG and LNG fueling
stations or our RNG production facilities, and/or the greenhouse gas emissions associated with the CNG, LNG and RNG we sell, and could require us to obtain
emissions credits or invest in costly emissions prevention technology. We cannot currently estimate the potential costs associated with compliance with potential
federal, state or local regulation of greenhouse gas emissions and these unknown costs are not contemplated by our current customer agreements. If any of these
regulations are implemented, our associated compliance costs may have a negative impact on our financial performance, reduce our margins and impair our ability
to fulfill customer contracts. Further, these regulations may discourage consumers from adopting natural gas as a vehicle fuel.
Our operations entail inherent safety and environmental risks that may result in substantial liability to us.
Our operations entail inherent risks, including equipment defects, malfunctions, failures, and misuses, which could result in uncontrollable flows of
natural gas, fires, explosions and other damage. For example, operation of LNG pumps requires special training because of the extremely low temperatures of
LNG. Also, LNG tanker trailers have in the past been, and may in the future be, involved in accidents that result in explosions, fires and other damage. Further,
improper refueling of natural gas vehicles can result in venting of methane gas, which is a potent greenhouse gas, and such methane emissions are currently
regulated by some state regulatory agencies and may in the future be regulated by the EPA and/or by additional state regulators . Additionally, CNG fuel tanks and
trailers, if damaged by accidents or improper maintenance or installation, may rupture and the contents of the tank or trailer may rapidly decompress and result in
death or serious injury. These risks may expose us to liability for personal injury, wrongful death, property damage, pollution and other environmental damage. We
may incur substantial liability and cost if damages are not covered by insurance or are in excess of policy limits.
We provide financing to fleet customers for natural gas vehicles, which exposes our business to credit risks.
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We lend to certain qualifying customers a portion and occasionally up to 100% of the purchase price of natural gas vehicles they agree to purchase. We
may also purchase or pay deposits for vehicles and lease to or otherwise place them with customers. Risks associated with these financing activities include, among
others, that: the equipment financed consists mostly of vehicles that are mobile and easily damaged, lost or stolen; and the borrower may default on payments,
enter bankruptcy proceedings and/or liquidate. As of December 31, 2015, we had $12.8 million outstanding in loans provided to customers to finance natural gas
vehicle purchases.
Our business is subject to a variety of government regulations that may restrict our operations and result in costs and penalties.
We are subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to foreign business practices, the environment, health and safety, labor
and employment, building codes and construction, zoning and land use and taxation, among others. Additionally, we are subject to changing and complex
regulations related to the government procurement process and any political activities or lobbying relating to natural gas or greenhouse gas emissions regulations in
which we may engage. It is difficult and costly to manage the requirements of every individual authority having jurisdiction over our various activities and to
comply with these varying standards. These laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and in many cases have tended to become more stringent over
time. Any changes to existing regulations or adoption of new regulations may result in significant additional expense to us and our customers. Further, from time to
time, as part of the regular evaluation of our operations, including newly acquired or developing operations, we may be subject to compliance audits by regulatory
authorities, which may involve significant costs and use of other resources. Also, in connection with our operations, we often need facility permits or licenses to
address, among other things, storm water or wastewater discharges, waste handling and air emissions, which may subject us to onerous or costly permitting
conditions.
Our failure to comply with any applicable laws and regulations may result in a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement measures,
including assessment of monetary penalties, the imposition of corrective requirements, or prohibition from providing services to government entities.
Our RNG business may not be successful.
We own RNG production facilities located in Canton, Michigan and North Shelby, Tennessee. We are also seeking to increase our RNG business by
pursuing additional projects on our own and with project partners. We may not be successful in operating or developing these projects or any future projects or
generating a financial return from our investments. Historically, projects that produce pipeline-quality RNG have often failed due to the volatile prices of
conventional natural gas, unpredictable RNG production levels, technological difficulties and costs associated with operating the production facilities, and the lack
of government programs and regulations that support these activities. The success of our RNG business depends on our ability to obtain necessary financing, to
successfully manage the construction and operation of our RNG production facilities, to enter into RNG supply agreements with third parties, and to either sell
RNG at substantial premiums to conventional natural gas prices or to sell, at favorable prices, credits we may generate under federal or state laws, rules and
regulations, including RINs and LCFS Credits. If we are not successful at one or more of these activities, our RNG business could fail.
The market for RINs and LCFS Credits is volatile, and the prices for such credits are subject to significant fluctuations. Further, the value of RINs and
LCFS Credits will be adversely affected by any changes to federal and state programs under which such credits are generated and sold. In the absence of federal
and state programs that support premium prices for RNG or that allow us to generate and sell LCFS Credits and RINs or other credits, or if our customers are not
otherwise willing to pay a premium for RNG, we may be unable to profitably operate our RNG business.
We have experienced, and may continue to experience, difficulties producing RNG.
We have experienced difficulties producing the expected volumes of RNG at our RNG plants due to, among other factors, problems with key equipment,
severe weather, landfill conditions and construction delays. These difficulties may continue or worsen in the future. Additionally, our ability to produce RNG may
be adversely affected by a number of other factors, including, among others, limited availability or unfavorable composition of collected landfill gas, failure to
obtain and renew necessary permits and landfill mismanagement. In addition, we may seek to or be required to upgrade, expand or service our RNG facilities,
which may result in plant shutdowns, cause delays that reduce the amount of RNG we produce or involve significant unexpected costs.
We may from time to time pursue acquisitions, investments or other strategic relationships, which could fail to meet expectations.
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We may acquire or invest in other companies or businesses or pursue other strategic transactions or relationships. Acquisitions, investments and other
strategic partnerships and relationships involve numerous risks, any of which could harm our business, including, among others:
•

Difficulties integrating the technologies, operations, existing contracts and personnel of an acquired company or partner;

•

Difficulties supporting and transitioning vendors, if any, of an acquired company or partner;

•

Diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations or alternative acquisition or investment opportunities;

•

Failure to realize the anticipated benefits or synergies of a transaction or relationship;

•

Failure to identify all of the problems, liabilities, shortcomings or challenges of a company or technology we may partner with, invest in or acquire,
including issues related to intellectual property rights, regulatory compliance practices, revenue recognition or other accounting practices or employee or
customer relationships;

•

Risks of entering new markets in which we may have limited or no experience;

•

Potential loss of key employees, customers and vendors from an acquired company’s or partner’s business;

•

Inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition, investment or other related costs;

•

Additional costs or incurrence of debt or equity dilution associated with funding the acquisition, investment or other relationship; and

•

Possible write-offs or impairment charges relating to the businesses we partner with, invest in or acquire.

Our quarterly results of operations fluctuate significantly and are difficult to predict.
Our quarterly results of operations, which are disclosed under “Quarterly Results of Operations” in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
of this report, have historically experienced significant fluctuations. Our quarterly results of operations may continue to fluctuate significantly as a result of a
variety of factors, including those described in these risk factors. If our quarterly results of operations fall below the expectations of securities analysts or investors,
the price of our common stock could decline substantially. As a result of the significant fluctuations of our operating results in prior periods, period- to-period
comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful and investors in our common stock should not rely on the results of any one quarter as an indicator of
future performance.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Sales of shares could cause the market price of our stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.
As of December 31, 2015, there were 92,382,717 shares of our common stock outstanding, 11,487,938 shares underlying outstanding options, 3,419,776
shares underlying restricted stock units, 3,130,682 shares underlying outstanding warrants and 35,185,979 shares underlying outstanding convertible notes. All of
our outstanding shares are eligible for sale in the public market, subject in certain cases to the requirements of Rule 144 of the Securities Act. Also, shares issued
upon exercise or conversion of outstanding options, warrants and convertible notes are eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the
provisions of the applicable option, warrant and convertible note agreements and Rule 144, or if such shares have been registered for resale under the Securities
Act. If these shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
As of December 31, 2015, 17,441,860 shares of our common stock held by our co-founder and board member T. Boone Pickens were pledged as security
for loans made to Mr. Pickens. We are not a party to these loans. If the price of our common stock declines, Mr. Pickens may be forced to provide additional
collateral for the loans or to sell shares of our common stock in order to remain within the margin limitations imposed under the terms of the loans. Any sales of
our common stock following a margin call that is not satisfied or any other large sales of our common stock by our officers and directors, such as Mr. Pickens' sale
of approximately 700,000 shares in September 2015, may cause the price of our common stock to decline.
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A significant portion of our stock is beneficially owned by a single stockholder whose interests may differ from yours and who is able to exert significant
influence over our corporate decisions, including a change of control.
As of December 31, 2015, our co-founder and board member T. Boone Pickens beneficially owned approximately 22.9% of our common stock (including
17,441,860 outstanding shares of common stock, 725,000 shares underlying stock options exercisable within 60 days after December 31, 2015, and 4,113,923
shares underlying convertible promissory notes convertible within 60 days after December 31, 2015). As a result, Mr. Pickens is able to strongly influence or
control matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions.
Mr. Pickens may have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree and that may be adverse to your interests. This concentration
of ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our Company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to
receive a premium for their stock as part of a sale of our Company, and might ultimately affect the market price of our common stock. Conversely, this
concentration may facilitate a change of control at a time when you and other investors may prefer not to sell.
The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our common stock has experienced, and may continue to experience, significant volatility. Such volatility may be in response to
various factors, some of which are beyond our control. In addition to the other factors discussed in these risk factors, factors that may cause volatility in our stock
price include, among others:
•

Successful implementation of our business plans;

•

Investor perception of our industry or our prospects;

•

A decline in the trading volume of our common stock; and

•

Changes in general economic and market conditions.

In addition, the securities markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating
performance of particular companies, and in such instances, have affected the market prices of these companies’ securities. These market fluctuations may also
materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
Item 2.

Properties.

Our corporate headquarters are located at 4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800, Newport Beach, California 92660, where we occupy approximately 68,000
square feet of office space. Our lease for this facility expires on June 30, 2021.
We own and operate the Pickens Plant located in Willis, Texas, approximately 50 miles north of Houston. We own approximately 24 acres of land on which
the plant is situated, along with approximately 34 acres surrounding the plant.
We own and operate the Boron Plant in Boron, California, approximately 125 miles from Los Angeles. In November 2006, we entered into a 30 -year ground
lease for the 36 acres on which this plant is situated, pursuant to which we pay annual base rent payments of $230,000 per year, plus up to $130,000 per year for
each 30,000,000 gallons of production capacity utilized, subject to future adjustment based on consumer price index changes.
We lease the land upon which we operate our RNG production facilities in North Shelby, Tennessee and Canton, Michigan.
We lease a manufacturing facility in Chilliwack, British Columbia where we occupy approximately 81,000 square feet of space. The lease for this facility
expires in January 2018.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings.

We are or may become party, and our property is and may become subject, to various legal actions that have arisen in the ordinary course of our business.
During the course of our operations, we are also subject to audit by tax authorities for varying periods in various federal, state, local, and foreign tax jurisdictions.
Disputes have arisen, and may continue to arise, during the
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course of such audits as to facts and matters of law. It is impossible to determine the ultimate liabilities that we may incur resulting from any of these lawsuits,
claims and proceedings, audits, commitments, contingencies and related matters or the timing of these liabilities, if any. If these matters were to ultimately be
resolved unfavorably, an outcome not currently anticipated, it is possible that such an outcome could have a material adverse effect upon our consolidated financial
position, results of operations or liquidity. However, we believe that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information
Our common stock trades on the The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "CLNE." Set forth below are the high and low sales prices as reported
by The Nasdaq Global Select Market for our common stock for the fiscal periods indicated.
Sales Prices
High

Low

2014
First Quarter

$

12.78

$

8.37

Second Quarter

$

11.72

$

8.70

Third Quarter

$

11.63

$

7.80

Fourth Quarter

$

7.43

$

4.30

2015
First Quarter

$

6.01

$

4.17

Second Quarter

$

10.27

$

5.45

Third Quarter

$

6.78

$

4.01

Fourth Quarter

$

6.35

$

3.29

Holders
There were approximately 56 stockholders of record as of March 1, 2016 . We believe there are approximately 73,067 additional stockholders whose shares
of our common stock are held on their behalf by brokerage firms or other agents.
Dividend Policy
We have not paid any dividends to date and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Further, the SLG
Agreements (as defined and described in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report), restrict our ability to pay cash dividends on our
common stock. We anticipate that all future earnings will be retained to finance future growth.
Performance Graph
This performance graph shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any filing of Clean
Energy Fuels Corp. under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, unless it is specifically incorporated by reference into any such filing.
The following graph compares the five-year total return to holders of our common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the Nasdaq Global Market
Index, and the Russell 2000 Growth Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested in our common stock on December 31, 2010 (the last trading day before the
beginning of our fifth preceding fiscal year). We chose to include the Russell 2000 Growth Index as a comparable index due to the lack of a comparable industry
index or peer group, as we are the only actively traded public company whose only line of business is to sell natural gas and the associated equipment and services
necessary to use natural gas as a vehicle fuel.
The graph is required by applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible future
performance of our common stock.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data.

The following selected historical consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in this annual report.
The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 , and 2015 and the consolidated balance sheet data at
December 31, 2014 , and 2015 , are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K. The consolidated
statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012, and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 are
derived from our audited consolidated financial statements that are not included in this annual report on Form 10-K. Historical results are not indicative of the
results to be expected in the current period or any future period.
Year Ended December 31,
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

(In thousands, except share data)

Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues(1)

$

292,717

Operating loss

$

334,008

(38,568)

Net loss

(47,455)

Basic and diluted loss per share

$

(0.68)

$

352,475

(70,522)
(100,862)
$

(1.16)

$

(51,691)
(0.71)

$

(54,364)

(66,919)
$

428,940

(41,623)

(90,859)
$

(0.96)

384,320
(135,458)

$

(1.47)

_______________________________________________________________________________

(1) Revenues include the following amounts:
Year Ended December 31,
2011

Alternative fuel tax credits (VETC)

$

2012

17,889

$

2013

(2,057) (a)

$

_______________________________________________________________________________

(a) Represents settlement with the Internal Revenue Service over certain VETC amounts.
(b) Amount includes $20,800 related to fuel sales in 2012.
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2014

45,439 (b)

$

2015

28,359

$

30,986
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December 31,
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments

$

Restricted cash, short term

271,454

$

146,697

$

378,273

$

214,927

$

146,668

4,792

8,445

8,403

6,012

4,240

Working capital

312,372

170,778

400,990

293,428

82,773

Total assets

931,061

975,200

1,250,965

1,160,409

1,005,792

Total debt inclusive of capital lease obligations

289,422

331,025

620,418

570,670

572,414

Total Clean Energy Fuels Corp. Stockholders'
equity

540,884

542,713

514,572

437,426

302,552

Item 7.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The discussion in this section contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance and are
based upon our current assumptions, expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effect on our business. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by the following words: "anticipate," "believe," "can," "continue," "ongoing," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may,"
"plan," "potential," "predict," "project," "forecast," "should," "would", "will" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology, although the
absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. These statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that could cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to materially differ from those
expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements we make. See Item 1A. Risk Factors in this annual report on Form 10-K for a discussion of some of these
risks, uncertainties and other factors. This discussion should be read with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this report.
We are the leading provider of natural gas as an alternative fuel for vehicle fleets in the United States and Canada, based on the number of stations operated
and the amount of gasoline gallon equivalents ("GGEs") of compressed natural gas("CNG"), liquefied natural gas ("LNG") and renewable natural gas ("RNG")
delivered. Our principal business is supplying CNG, LNG and RNG (RNG can be delivered in the form of CNG or LNG) for light, medium and heavy-duty
vehicles and providing operation, repair and maintenance ("O&M") services for vehicle fleet customer stations. As a comprehensive solution provider, we also
design, build, operate, service, repair and maintain fueling stations, manufacture, sell and service non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and related
equipment used in CNG stations and LNG stations, offer assessment, design and modification solutions to provide operators with code-compliant service and
maintenance facilities for natural gas vehicle fleets, transport and sell CNG to large industrial and institutional energy users who do not have direct access to
natural gas pipelines, process and sell RNG, sell tradable credits we generate by selling natural gas and RNG as a vehicle fuel, including credits we generate under
the California and Oregon Low Carbon Fuel Standards (collectively, "LCFS Credits") and Renewable Identification Numbers ("RIN Credits" or "RINs") we
generate under the federal Renewable Fuel Standard Phase 2 (“RFS 2”), help our customers acquire and finance natural gas vehicles and obtain federal, state and
local tax credits, grants and incentives.
Overview
This overview discusses matters on which our management focuses in evaluating our financial condition and operating performance and results.
Sources of Revenue.
We generate revenues by selling CNG, LNG, RNG, and providing O&M services to our customers, designing and constructing fueling stations and selling or
leasing those stations to our customers, processing and selling RNG, manufacturing, selling and servicing non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and other
equipment for CNG and LNG fueling stations, offering assessment, design and modification solutions to provide operators with code- compliant service and
maintenance facilities for natural gas vehicle fleets, transporting and selling CNG to large industrial and institutional energy users who do not have direct access to
natural gas pipelines, providing financing for our customers' natural gas vehicle purchases, selling tradable LCFS Credits and RIN Credits, and receiving federal
fuel tax credits.
The following table represents our sources of revenue:
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Revenue (in Millions)
Volume Related

2013
$

2014
195.3

$

2015
247.9

$

260.6

Clean Energy Compression

77.5

84.8

54.5

Station Construction Project Sales

27.1

67.4

37.8

VETC

45.4

28.4

31.0

Other

7.2

0.4

0.4

Total

$

352.5

$

428.9

$

384.3

Key Operating Data.
In evaluating our operating performance, our management focuses primarily on: (1) the amount of CNG, LNG, and RNG gasoline gallon equivalents
delivered (which we define as (i) the volume of gasoline gallon equivalents we sell to our customers, plus (ii) the volume of gasoline gallon equivalents dispensed
at facilities we do not own but where we provide O&M services on a per-gallon fee basis, plus (iii) our proportionate share of the gasoline gallon equivalents sold
as CNG by our joint venture with Mansfield Ventures, LLC called Mansfield Clean Energy Partners, LLC ("MCEP"), plus (iv) our proportionate share of the
gasoline gallon equivalents sold as CNG by our joint venture in Peru (through March 2013 when we sold our interest in the joint venture in Peru), plus (v) our
proportionate share (as applicable) of the gasoline gallon equivalents of RNG produced and sold as pipeline quality natural gas by the RNG production facilities we
own or operate), (2) our gross margin (which we define as revenue minus cost of sales), and (3) net income (loss) attributable to us. The following tables, which
should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes included in this annual report on Form 10-K, present our key operating data for
the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 , and 2015 :
Year Ended December 31,
2013

2015

2014

Gasoline gallon equivalents delivered (in millions)
CNG (1)

143.9

182.6

229.2

RNG (5)

10.5

12.2

8.8

LNG

60.0

70.3

70.5

Total

214.4

265.1

308.5

Year Ended December 31,
2013

2015

2014

Gasoline gallon equivalents delivered (in millions)
O&M

108.7

137.3

159.3

Fuel (1)

86.4

108.2

130.1

Fuel and O&M (2)

19.3

19.6

19.1

214.4

265.1

308.5

Total

Other Operating data (in thousands)
Gross margin (3)

$

127,713

$

120,153

$

125,835

Net loss attributable to Clean Energy Fuels. Corp (3)(4)

$

(66,968)

$

(89,659)

$

(134,242)

_______________________________________________________________________________
(1)

As noted above, this includes our proportionate share of the GGEs sold as CNG by our joint venture MCEP and our former joint venture in Peru. Such GGEs sold were 2.1 million,
0.0 million and 0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively.

(2)

Represents gasoline gallon equivalents at stations where we provide both fuel and O&M services.

(3)

Revenues and gross margins of our nonconsolidated joint ventures are net within the "Loss from noncontrolling interest" line item on our consolidated statement of operations.

(4)

Includes $45.4, $28.4 and $ 31.0 million of revenue from VETC for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively. See the discussion under "Operations—
VETC".
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(5)

Represents RNG non-vehicle fuel. RNG sold as vehicle fuel is included in CNG and LNG.

Key Trends in 2013 , 2014 and 2015 .
CNG and LNG are generally less expensive on an energy equivalent basis and, according to studies conducted by the California Air Resources Board and
Argonne National Laboratory, a research laboratory operated by the University of Chicago for the United States Department of Energy, cleaner than gasoline and
diesel fuel. According to the U.S. Energy Information Administration, demand for natural gas fuels in the United States increased by approximately 45% during
the period from January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2015. We believe this growth in demand was attributable primarily to the higher prices of gasoline and
diesel relative to CNG and LNG during much of this period, as well as increasingly stringent environmental regulations affecting vehicle fleets and increased
availability of natural gas. During 2015, lower oil prices decreased our pricing advantage when comparing natural gas prices to diesel and gasoline, which
impacted our gross revenue. This impact was partially offset by corresponding decreases in the cost of natural gas.
The number of fueling stations we owned, operated, maintained and/or supplied grew from 348 at December 31, 2012 to over 570 at December 31, 2015 (a
63.8% increase). Included in this number are all of the CNG and LNG fueling stations we own, operate, maintain or with which we have a fueling supply contract.
The amount of CNG, LNG and RNG gasoline gallon equivalents we delivered from 2013 to 2015 increased by 43.9% . Although this increase in gasoline gallon
equivalents delivered contributed to increased revenues between 2013 and 2014, our gross revenue decreased between 2014 and 2015 in spite of increased GGEs
delivered and an increase in our volume related revenue between periods. This revenue decrease in 2015 was due largely to decreased station construction revenue
and decreased compressor sales by Clean Energy Compression, which we believe were largely attributable to the decreased cost savings of natural gas as a vehicle
fuel during this period due to declining oil prices and the resulting slower and more limited adoption of natural gas as a vehicle fuel by new customers. Our 2013 ,
2014 and 2015 revenues included VETC revenues of $45.4, $28.4 and $31.0 million , respectively, with the 2013 VETC revenues including $20.8 million related
to 2012 due to the reinstatement of VETC in January 2013. Our revenue can vary between periods for various reasons, including the timing of equipment sales,
station construction, recognition of VETC and other credits and natural gas sale activity.
As with our revenue, our fuel cost of sales increased between 2013 and 2014 but decreased between 2014 and 2015 . We incurred increased costs across all
periods relating to our delivery of more CNG, RNG and LNG gallons to our customers in 2013 through 2015, but these increases were offset in 2015 by decreased
costs associated with less station construction activity and compressor sales. Our cost of sales can vary between periods for various reasons, including commodity
costs of fuel and the timing of equipment sales, fuel station construction and natural gas sale activity.
We have made a significant commitment of capital and other resources to build a nationwide network of truck friendly natural gas truck friendly fueling
stations, which we refer to as "America's Natural Gas Highway" or "ANGH." At December 31, 2015, we had 43 completed ANGH stations that were not open for
fueling operations. We expect to open such stations when we have sufficient customers to fuel at the locations, and we do not know when this will occur. We
believe that growth of heavy-duty truck customers depends, in part, on the development and adoption of natural gas engines that are well-suited for use by heavyduty trucks, which has been slower and more limited than anticipated. If these customers do not develop and if we do not open these stations, we will continue to
have substantial investments in assets that do not produce revenues equal to or greater than their costs. Additionally, many of our existing ANGH stations were
initially built to provide LNG; however, because operators are adopting both LNG heavy-duty trucks and CNG heavy-duty trucks, we designed these stations to be
capable of dispensing both fuels. We have been investing, and expect to continue to invest, additional capital in our ANGH stations to add CNG fueling. To help
accelerate the adoption by heavy-duty truck fleets of natural gas, we have negotiated favorable CNG and LNG tank pricing from manufacturers, which we are
passing along to our customers.
Some ANGH stations are located at Pilot Flying J Travel Centers ("Pilot"), one of the largest truck fueling operators in the U.S. Under our agreement with
Pilot, we own the ANGH stations we build at Pilot locations and initially pay rent to Pilot for the use of its property. In addition, we are entitled to recoup all of our
capital investments in ANGH stations we build at Pilot locations plus a defined return, after which we would share a portion of the station profits with Pilot.
Recent Developments.
In December 2015, the VETC alternative fuel tax credit was extended through December 31, 2016 and made retroactive to January 1, 2015. The program
providing for the VETC had previously expired as of December 31, 2014. Pursuant to the VETC, we receive a credit of $0.50 per GGE of CNG sold as a vehicle
fuel in 2015 and 2016, $0.50 per liquid gallon of LNG sold in 2015 and $0.50 per diesel gallon equivalent of LNG sold in 2016. VETC revenues for 2015, totaling
$31.0 million, were recognized in December 2015 and subsequently collected in cash in February 2016. Using the diesel gallon equivalent for LNG for 2016 is
expected to result in less VETC revenues.
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On December 31, 2015, we terminated our credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with General Electric Capital Corporation (“GE”). The Credit
Agreement provided us the eligibility to receive up to $200 million of loans from GE to finance the development, construction and operation of two new LNG
plans. We had not borrowed any amounts under the Credit Agreement as of its termination. As a result of the termination of the Credit Agreement, all related
unamortized deferred financing costs totaling $54.9 million, were removed from our balance sheet as an accelerated expense reported in interest expense. Included
in the total was $54.3 million related to the value of the warrant to purchase up to 5.0 million shares of our common stock we issued to GE in connection with the
Credit Agreement that was recorded as deferred financing costs. See notes 9 and 11 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for further
information.
On February 29, 2016, we entered into a loan and security agreement with, and issued a related promissory note to, PlainsCapital Bank, pursuant to which we
have the ability to incur additional indebtedness in the principal amount of $50.0 million. All amounts owed under the loan agreement are secured by the cash and
corporate and municipal bonds rated AAA, AA or A by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services that we hold in an account at PlainsCapital Bank.
On March 1, 2016 and pursuant to the consent of the holders of the SLG Notes, we prepaid an aggregate of $60.0 million in principal amount and $1.8
million in accrued and unpaid interest owed under the SLG Notes. See note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in this report for further information
about the SLG Notes.
In February 2016, in light of discounted trading prices of our 5.25% Notes and other factors, our board of directors authorized and approved our use of up to
$25.0 million to opportunistically purchase in the open market our outstanding 5.25% Notes, in accordance with the terms of the indenture governing the 5.25%
Notes. Pursuant to such approval, on February 18, 2016, we purchased $32.5 million in face amount of our 5.25% Notes for an aggregate purchase price of $16.8
million. Upon our purchase, such 5.25% Notes were surrendered to the trustee for such notes and canceled. See note 9 to the consolidated financial statements
included in this report for further information about the 5.25% Notes.
Anticipated Future Trends.
Although natural gas continues to be less expensive than gasoline and diesel in most markets, the price of natural gas has been significantly closer to the
prices of gasoline and diesel in recent years as a result of declining oil prices, thereby reducing the price advantage of natural gas as a vehicle fuel. We anticipate
that, over the long term, the prices for gasoline and diesel will continue to be higher than the price of natural gas as a vehicle fuel and will increase overall, which
would improve the cost savings of natural gas as a vehicle fuel compared to diesel and gasoline. However, the amount of time needed for oil prices to recover from
their recent decline is uncertain and we expect that adoption of natural gas as a vehicle fuel generally, growth in our customer base and our gross revenue will be
negatively affected until oil prices recover and this price advantage increases. Our belief that natural gas will continue, over the long term, to be a cheaper vehicle
fuel than gasoline or diesel is based in large part on the growth in United States natural gas production in recent years.
We believe natural gas fuels are well-suited for use by vehicle fleets that consume high volumes of fuel, refuel at centralized locations or along well-defined
routes and/or are increasingly required to reduce emissions. As a result, we believe there will be growth in the consumption of natural gas as a vehicle fuel among
vehicle fleets, and our goal is to capitalize on this trend if and to the extent it materializes and enhance our leadership position in these markets. Our business plan
calls for expanding our sales of natural gas fuels in the markets in which we operate, including heavy-duty trucking, refuse, airports, public transit, industrial and
institutional energy users and government fleets, and pursuing additional markets as opportunities arise. If our business grows as we anticipate, our operating costs
and capital expenditures may increase, primarily from the anticipated expansion of our station network and RNG production capacity, as well as the logistics of
delivering more natural gas fuels to our customers. We also may seek to acquire assets and/or businesses that are in the natural gas fueling infrastructure or RNG
production business, which may require us to raise and spend additional capital, if available.
We expect competition to remain steady in the near-term in the market for natural gas vehicle fuel. To the extent competition increases, we would be subject
to greater pricing pressure, reduced operating margins and fewer expansion opportunities.
Sources of Liquidity and Anticipated Capital Expenditures.
Liquidity is the ability to meet present and future financial obligations through operating cash flows, the sale or maturity of existing assets or the acquisition
of additional funds through capital management. Historically, our principal sources of liquidity have consisted of cash on hand, cash provided by financing
activities, cash provided by sales of assets, and, if available, VETC and other credits.
Our business plan calls for approximately $ 25.5 million in capital expenditures in 2016 , primarily related to the construction of natural gas fueling stations
and the purchase of CNG trailers by our subsidiary, NG Advantage, LLC ("NG
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Advantage"). Additionally, we had total consolidated indebtedness of approximately $ 572.4 million as of December 31, 2015, of which approximately $ 150.1
million , $ 5.5 million , $ 305.1 million , $ 54.7 million , $ 53.1 million and $ 4.0 million is expected to become due 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and thereafter,
respectively. In addition, in February 2016, we entered into a loan and security agreement with, and issued a related promissory note to, PlainsCapital Bank,
pursuant to which we may incur additional indebtedness in the principal amount of $50.0 million. We expect our total consolidated interest payment obligations
relating to our indebtedness to be approximately $ 32.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2016. With respect to certain of our outstanding indebtedness due
in 2016, we anticipate repaying, with a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, all or some portion the outstanding principal amount of the SLG
Notes (as defined and discussed in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report), together with accrued and unpaid interest, on or prior to
their August 2016 maturity date. To this end, on March 1, 2016 and pursuant to the consent of the holders of the SLG Notes, we prepaid an aggregate of $60.0
million in principal amount and $1.8 million in accrued and unpaid interest owed under the SLG Notes. In addition, with respect to certain of our outstanding
indebtedness due in 2018, in February 2016, our board of directors authorized and approved our use of up to $25.0 million to opportunistically purchase in the
open market our outstanding 5.25% Notes (as defined and discussed in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report). Pursuant to such
approval, on February 18, 2016, we purchased $32.5 million in face amount of our 5.25% Notes for an aggregate purchase price of $16.8 million. We are permitted
to repay up to $295.0 million of our consolidated indebtedness outstanding at December 31, 2015 at maturity with shares of our common stock rather than cash,
with the amount of shares determined by the then-current trading price of our common stock. Any such issuance would increase the number of our outstanding
shares and may significantly dilute the ownership interest of our stockholders. Additionally, in February 2016, we collected VETC revenues for 2015.
We may also elect to invest additional amounts in companies, assets or joint ventures in the natural gas fueling infrastructure, vehicle or services industries,
including RNG production, or use capital for other activities or pursuits. We will need to raise additional capital to fund any capital expenditures, investments or
debt repayments or repurchases that we cannot fund through available cash or cash generated by operations or that we cannot fund through other sources, such as
with our common stock. The timing and necessity of any future capital raised will depend on various factors, including our rate of new station construction, debt
repayments or repurchases (either prior to or at maturity), any potential merger or acquisition activity and other factors described under "Liquidity and Capital
Resources" below. We may seek to raise additional capital through one or more sources, including, among others, selling assets, obtaining new or restructuring
existing debt, obtaining equity capital, or any combination of these or other available sources of capital. We may not be able to raise capital when needed, on terms
that are favorable to us or existing stockholders or at all. Any inability to raise capital may impair our ability to build new stations, develop natural gas fueling
infrastructure, invest in strategic transactions or acquisitions or repay our outstanding indebtedness and may reduce our ability to grow our business and generate
sustained or increased revenues.
Business Risks and Uncertainties.
Our business and prospects are exposed to numerous risks and uncertainties. For more information, see Item 1A. Risk Factors in this report.
Operations
We generate revenues principally by selling CNG, LNG and RNG and providing O&M services to our vehicle fleet customer stations. For the year ended
December 31, 2015 , CNG and RNG (together) represented 77% and LNG represented 23% of our natural gas sales (on a gasoline gallon equivalent basis). To a
lesser extent, we generate revenues by designing and constructing fueling stations and selling or leasing those stations to our customers, manufacturing, selling and
servicing non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment, offering assessment, design and modification solutions to provide operators with
code-compliant service and maintenance facilities for natural gas vehicle fleets, providing financing for our customers' natural gas vehicle purchases, selling
tradable RINs and LCFS Credits and receiving federal alternative fuels tax credits.
CNG Sales
We sell CNG through fueling stations and by transporting it to customers that do not have direct access to a natural gas pipeline. CNG fueling station sales
are made through stations located on our customers' properties and through our network of public access fueling stations. At these CNG fueling stations, we
procure natural gas from local utilities or third-party marketers under standard, floating-rate arrangements and then compress and dispense it into our customers'
vehicles. Our CNG fueling station sales are made primarily through contracts with our customers. Under these contracts, pricing is principally determined on an
index-plus basis, which is calculated by adding a margin to the local index or utility price for natural gas. As a result, CNG sales revenues based on an index-plus
methodology increase or decrease as a result of an increase or decrease in
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the price of natural gas. The remainder of our CNG fueling station sales are on a per fill-up basis at prices we set at public access stations based on prevailing
market conditions.
Additionally, NG Advantage uses a fleet of 54 high-capacity tube trailers to deliver CNG to large institutions and industrial energy users, such as hospitals,
food processors, manufacturers and paper mills that do not have direct access to natural gas pipelines. Utilizing its trailer fleet, NG Advantage creates a "virtual
natural gas pipeline" that allows large oil, diesel or propane users to take advantage of the cost savings and environmental benefits of natural gas. We anticipate
that NG Advantage will need to purchase or lease additional trailers in the future to transport CNG in support of its operations.
LNG Production and Sales
We obtain LNG from our own plants as well as through relationships with suppliers. We own and operate LNG liquefaction plants near Houston, Texas and
Boron, California.
We sell LNG on a bulk basis to fleet customers, who often own and operate their fueling stations, and we also sell LNG to fleet and other customers at our
public access LNG stations. We also sell LNG for non-vehicle purposes, including to customers who use LNG in the oil fields or for industrial or utility
applications. During 2014 and 2015 , we purchased 44% and 43% , respectively, of our LNG from third-party suppliers, and we produced the remainder of the
LNG at our liquefaction plants in Texas and California. We purchase some LNG from third parties under "take or pay" contracts that require us to purchase
minimum volumes of LNG at index-based rates.
We deliver LNG via our fleet of 84 tanker trailers to fueling stations, where it is stored and dispensed in liquid form into vehicles. As with our CNG
customer contracts, we sell LNG through supply contracts that are priced on an index-plus basis, such that LNG sales revenues from these contracts increase or
decrease as a result of an increase or decrease in the price of natural gas. We also sell LNG on a per fill-up basis at prices we set at public access stations based on
prevailing market conditions. LNG generally costs more than CNG as LNG must be liquefied and transported.
VETC
The American Taxpayer Relief Act, signed into law on January 2, 2013, reinstated VETC for calendar year 2013 and also made it retroactive to January 1,
2012. The Tax Increase Prevention Act, signed into law in December 2014, reinstated VETC for the remainder of calendar year 2014 and made it retroactive to
January 1, 2014. VETC revenues recognized during 2013 and 2014 were $45.4 and $28.4 million, respectively. The VETC revenues received during 2013 include
$20.8 million related to CNG and LNG that we sold in 2012, which was recognized in January 2013, and all VETC revenues received in 2014 were recognized in
December 2014.
In December 2015, the VETC was extended through December 31, 2016 and made retroactive to January 1, 2015. As a result, VETC revenues received in
2015, totaling $31.0 million, were recognized in December 2015.
O&M Services
We generate a portion of our revenue from our performance of O&M services for CNG and LNG fueling stations that we do not own. For these services we
generally charge a per-gallon fee based on the volume of fuel dispensed at the station. We include the volume of fuel dispensed at the stations at which we provide
O&M services in our calculation of aggregate gasoline gallon equivalents delivered.
Station Construction and Engineering
We generate a portion of our revenue from designing and constructing fueling stations and selling or leasing some of the stations to our customers. For these
projects, we typically act as general contractor or supervise qualified third-party contractors. We also offer assessment, design and modification solutions to
provide operators with code-compliant service and maintenance facilities for natural gas vehicle fleets, which can include the construction and sale of facility
modifications, such as our NGV Easy Bay ™ product, a natural gas vapor leak barrier developed specifically for natural gas vehicle facilities. We charge
construction or other fees or lease rates based on the size and complexity of the project.
RNG Production and Sales
Our subsidiary Clean Energy Renewables owns RNG production facilities located at Republic Services landfills in Canton, Michigan and North Shelby,
Tennessee. Clean Energy Renewables has entered into long-term fixed-price sale contracts for the majority of the RNG that we expect these facilities to produce
over the next seven years. We are seeking to expand our RNG business by pursuing additional RNG production projects, either on our own or with project
partners. We sell some of the RNG we produce through our natural gas fueling infrastructure for use as a vehicle fuel. In addition, we purchase RNG from
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third-party producers, and sell that RNG for vehicle fuel use through our fueling infrastructure. The RNG we sell for vehicle fuel use is distributed under the name
Redeem™ .
In December 2014, we sold our ownership interest in our former subsidiary, Dallas Clean Energy, LLC (“DCE”, together with its subsidiary Dallas Clean
Energy McCommas Bluff, LLC (“DCEMB”), for approximately $40.6 million. In September 2015, we received $1.1 million in cash due to the results of certain
performance tests performed at the RNG extraction and production project owned by Dallas Clean Energy McCommas Bluff, LLC ("DCEMB"). For the year
ended December 31, 2014 , DCE contributed approximately $16.7 million to our revenue. We continued to perform O&M services for DCEMB subsequent to the
sale and recognized $0.4 million in revenue for such services during 2015. See note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for further
information on the divestiture.
Natural Gas Fueling Compressors
Our subsidiary, Clean Energy Compression, manufactures, sells and services non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment for the
global natural gas fueling market. Clean Energy Compression is headquartered near Vancouver, British Columbia, has an additional manufacturing facility near
Shanghai, China, and has sales and service offices in Bangladesh, Colombia, Peru and the U.S. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015 , Clean Energy
Compression contributed approximately $ 84.8 million and $ 54.5 million, respectively, to our revenue.
Sales of RINs and LCFS Credits
We generate RIN Credits when we sell RNG for use as a vehicle fuel in the U.S. and we generate LCFS Credits when we sell RNG and conventional natural
gas for use as a vehicle fuel in California and Oregon. We can sell these credits to third parties who need the RINs and LCFS Credits to comply with federal and
state requirements. In 2014, we recognized $2.1 million and $3.5 million in revenue through the sale of RIN Credits and LCFS, respectively. In 2015 , we
recognized $ 10.3 million and $ 8.1 million in revenue through the sale of RIN Credits and LCFS Credits, respectively. We anticipate that we will generate and
sell increasing numbers of RINs and LCFS Credits as we build our business and sell increasing amounts of CNG, LNG and RNG for use as a vehicle fuel. The
market for RINs and LCFS Credits is volatile, and the prices for such credits are subject to significant fluctuations. Further, the value of RINs and LCFS Credits
will be adversely affected by any changes to the federal and state programs under which such credits are generated and sold.
Vehicle Acquisition and Finance
We offer vehicle finance services, including loans and leases, to help our customers acquire natural gas vehicles. Where appropriate, we apply for and
receive federal and state incentives associated with natural gas vehicle purchases and pass these benefits through to our customers. We may also secure vehicles to
place with customers or pay deposits with respect to such vehicles prior to receiving a firm order from our customers, which we may be required to purchase if our
customer fails to purchase the vehicle as anticipated. For the years ended 2013, 2014 and 2015, we have not generated significant revenue from vehicle financing
activities.
Vehicle Conversions
Prior to June 28, 2013, we owned BAF Technologies, Inc., a provider of natural gas vehicle conversions, alternative fuel systems, application engineering,
service and warranty support and research and development. BAF Technologies, Inc. owned ServoTech Engineering, Inc. (together with BAF Technologies, Inc.,
"BAF"), which provided, among other services, design and engineering services for natural gas engine systems. Prior to our sale of BAF, we generated revenues
through BAF’s sale of natural gas vehicles that had been converted to run on natural gas and design and engineering services for natural gas engine systems. For
the year ended December 31, 2013, BAF contributed approximately $7.0 million to our revenue. On June 28, 2013, we sold BAF for approximately $27.2 million.
Volatility of Earnings Related to Warrants
We are required to record the change in the fair market value of our liability-classified warrants in our consolidated financial statements. We have recognized
a gain of $5.7 million and $ 1.4 million , respectively, related to recording the estimated fair value changes of our warrants in 2014 and 2015 . See note 11 and 18
to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for more information. Our earnings or loss per share may be materially affected by future gains or
losses we are required to recognize as a result of valuing our warrants. As of December 31, 2015 , 2,130,682 of our Series I warrants and 127,200 of the NG
Advantage warrants assumed from our NG Advantage acquisition remained outstanding.
Debt Compliance
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Certain of the agreements governing our outstanding debt, which are discussed in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report,
have certain non-financial covenants with which we must comply. As of December 31, 2015 , we were in compliance with all of these covenants.
Risk Management Activities
From time to time, we enter into natural gas fuel sales contracts that require us to sell CNG or LNG to our customers at a fixed price. These contracts expose
us to the risk that the price of natural gas may increase above the natural gas cost component included in the price at which we are committed to sell the natural gas
to our customers.
In an effort to mitigate the volatility of our earnings related to any futures contracts and to reduce our risk related to our fixed price sales contracts, we
operate under a natural gas hedging policy pursuant to which we only purchase futures contracts to hedge our exposure to variability in expected future cash flows
related to a particular fixed price contract or bid. Subject to the conditions set forth in the policy, we purchase futures contracts in quantities reasonably expected to
effectively hedge our exposure to cash flow variability related to fixed price sales contracts entered into after the date of the policy. Unless otherwise agreed in
advance by our board of directors and the derivatives committee thereof, we will conduct our futures contract activities and enter into fixed price sales contracts
only in accordance with the natural gas hedging policy, a complete copy of which, as amended effective May 29, 2008, is filed as Exhibit 99.1 to our Form 8-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 20, 2008. The summary of the policy described above does not purport to be complete and is qualified
in its entirety by reference to the full text of the policy.
Due to the restrictions of our hedging policy, we expect to offer fewer fixed price sales contracts to our customers. If we do offer a fixed price sales contract,
we anticipate including a price component that would cover our estimated cash requirements over the duration of the underlying futures contracts. The amount of
this price component will vary based on the anticipated volume and the natural gas price component to be covered under the fixed price sales contract.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("US GAAP"). The preparation of financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and revenues and expenses recorded during the reporting periods.
On a periodic basis we evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and various other assumptions we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions. For further information on our significant accounting
policies, see note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.
Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of costs incurred over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses. Goodwill is not amortized. Instead, it is tested for
impairment on an annual basis or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired. We perform our annual
impairment test as of the first day of our fourth fiscal quarter and use qualitative factors to determine whether goodwill is more likely than not to be impaired. The
qualitative assessment includes assessing the potential impact on our reporting unit's fair value of certain events and circumstances, including macroeconomic
conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, our market capitalization value, and other relevant entity-specific events. If we conclude from the
qualitative assessment that goodwill is more likely than not to be impaired, then we perform a two-step quantitative impairment test. We are required to use
judgment when applying the goodwill impairment test including the identification of reporting units among other considerations. We determined we are a single
reporting unit for the purpose of our goodwill impairment test. Based upon our qualitative assessment of goodwill, we concluded it is more likely than not that the
fair value of our reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount and no further quantitative analysis was warranted. During fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, there were no
indicators of impairment to goodwill. Subsequent to December 31, 2015, our stock price has declined due to adverse macroeconomic conditions surrounding the
energy industry, which are driven by depressed oil prices. As a result of the recent volatility of our market capitalization, it is possible that our goodwill could
become impaired, which could result in a material charge and adversely affect our results of operations.
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We review long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of long-lived assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. Estimated future cash flows are determined by
management based on a number of estimates. The determination of fair value requires significant judgment by management. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
In the fourth quarter of 2014, we recorded an impairment to an intangible asset contract, acquired at the time of the Clean Energy Compression acquisition,
in the amount of $4.8 million. There were no impairments to our long-lived assets during 2015 or 2013.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue on various products and services. Our volume related revenues primarily consist of CNG and LNG fuel sales, RIN and LCFS Credits
sales and O&M services. These revenues are recognized in accordance with US GAAP, which requires that the following four criteria must be met before revenue
can be recognized: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred and title and the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the customer or services have been rendered; (3) the price is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Applying these
factors, we typically recognize revenue from the sale of natural gas fuel at the time it is dispensed or, in the case of LNG sales agreements, delivered to our
customers' storage facilities. We recognize revenue from O&M service agreements as we provide the related services.
In certain transactions with our customers, we agree to provide multiple products or services, including construction of and sale of a station, providing O&M
services to the station, and sale of fuel to the customer. We evaluate the separability of revenues based on current FASB authoritative guidance, which provides a
framework for establishing whether or not a particular arrangement with a customer has one or more revenue elements and allows us to use a combination of
internal and external objective and reliable evidence to develop management's best estimate of the fair value of the contract elements. If the arrangement contains a
lease, we use the existing evidence of fair value to separate the lease from the other elements in the arrangement. The arrangement's consideration that is fixed or
determinable is then allocated to each separate unit of accounting based on the estimated relative selling price of each deliverable, which is determined based on
the historical data derived from our stand -alone projects. The revenue allocated to the construction of the station is recognized using the completed-contract
method. The revenue allocated to the O&M is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement and sale of fuel is recognized as the fuel is delivered.
We typically recognize revenue on fueling station construction projects where we sell the station to the customer using the completed-contract method. The
construction contract is considered to be substantially completed at the earlier of customer acceptance of the fueling station or the time when the fuel dispensing
activities begin. When applicable, multi-station construction contracts are segmented into phases as negotiated with customers. Gross margin related to each phase
is recognized at its substantial completion. For Clean Energy Compression and Clean Energy Cryogenics, we use the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting. In these circumstances, revenue is recognized as work on a contract progresses, based on costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs to be
incurred for that project.
We generate LCFS Credits when we sell RNG and conventional natural gas for use as a vehicle fuel in California and Oregon, and we generate RIN Credits
when we sell RNG for use as a vehicle fuel. We can sell these credits to third parties who need the RINs and LCFS Credits to comply with federal and state
emission requirements. We recognize revenue from the generation of these credits at the time we have an agreement in place to sell the credits at a fixed or
determinable price.
Income Taxes
We compute income taxes under the asset and liability method. This method requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary
differences between the financial carrying amounts and the tax bases of our assets and liabilities. The impact on deferred taxes of changes in tax rates and laws, if
any, are applied to the years during which temporary differences are expected to be settled and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period of
enactment. We record a valuation allowance against any deferred tax assets when management determines it is more likely than not that the assets will not be
realized. When evaluating the need for a valuation analysis, we use estimates involving a high degree of judgment including projected future book income and the
amounts and estimated timing of the reversal of any deferred tax assets and liabilities.
We operate within multiple domestic and foreign taxing jurisdictions and are subject to audit in these jurisdictions. These audits can involve complex issues,
which may require an extended period of time for resolution. Although we believe that
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adequate consideration has been given to such issues, it is possible that the ultimate resolution of such issues could be significantly different than originally
estimated.
Fair Value Estimates
We have established a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with authoritative guidance. The framework includes a hierarchy for inputs used in
measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be
used when available. Observable inputs are inputs market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from
sources independent of our Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect our assumptions about the factors market participants would use in valuing the
asset or liability developed based upon the best information available in the circumstances. The hierarchy consists of the following three levels: Level 1 inputs are
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, and inputs (other than quoted prices) that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
Our significant uses of fair value measurements include:
•

Allocation of the purchase price paid to acquire businesses to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in those acquisitions,

•

Assessments of impairment of long-lived assets

Inputs into the determination of the fair value of certain warrants to purchase our common stock include the current market price of our common stock,
exercise price of the warrants, volatility of our stock price, term of the warrants, and discount rate used. Significant changes in any of those inputs in isolation can
result in a significant change in the fair value measurement. Generally, a positive change in the market price of our common stock, an increase in the volatility of
our common stock, or an increase in the remaining term of the warrant would result in a directionally similar change in the estimated fair value of the warrants and
thus an increase in the associated liability. An increase in the assumed discount rate or a decrease in the positive differential between the warrant's exercise price
and the market price of our common stock would result in a decrease in the estimated fair value measurement of the warrants and thus a decrease in the associated
liability.
Recently Adopted Accounting Changes and Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Standards
See note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
Results of Operations
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenue. Revenue decreased by $ 44.6 million to $ 384.3 million for 2015 from $428.9 million for 2014 due to lower effective pricing and fewer station
construction and compressor sales. Revenue for station construction sales decreased by $29.6 million principally from the sale of more station upgrades and fewer
full station projects in 2015. Full station projects generally have substantially higher price points than station upgrades. Clean Energy Compression revenue
decreased by $30.3 million due to the effects of a continued global decline in oil prices, the strength of the U.S. dollar and slower than expected sales in China.
Approximately $24.3 million of the decrease in revenue was the result of lower effective prices of gallons delivered, which were caused by lower commodity costs
in 2015 compared to 2014. Our effective price per gallon charged was $0.84 for 2015, a $0.10 per gallon decrease from $0.94 per gallon charged for 2014. The
decrease in our effective price was due to lower fuel prices driven by lower commodity costs, partially offset by increased RINs and LCFS credits sales. The
effective price per gallon is defined as revenues generated from selling CNG, LNG, RNG, any related RINs and LCFS Credits sales and providing O&M services
to our vehicle fleet customers at stations that we do not own and for which we receive a per-gallon fee, all divided by the total GGEs delivered less GGEs delivered
by non-consolidated entities, such as equity method investments.
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The decrease in revenue was partially offset by a 43.4 million increase in the number of gallons delivered, from 265.1 million gallons delivered in 2014 to
308.5 million gallons delivered in 2015, which provided approximately $36.6 million in increased revenue for 2015 compared to 2014. The increase in volume
was due to a 46.6 million gallon increase in CNG volume delivered, which was primarily attributable to 22 new refuse customers, six new transit customers, and
seven new trucking customers partially offset by a decrease of 3.4 million gallons in RNG volume delivered, primarily due to the sale in December 2014 of our
interest in DCE and, with it, our interest in a RNG extraction and processing project at the McCommas Bluff landfill in Dallas, Texas. LNG volume delivered was
relatively flat between periods.
Cost of sales. Cost of sales decreased by $ 50.3 million to $ 258.5 million for 2015 , from $308.8 million for 2014 . The decrease was primarily due to
fewer station and compressor sales, as we experienced a $24.0 million decrease in station installation costs and a $28.1 million decrease in compressor costs
between periods due to decreased activity. Our effective cost per gallon decreased by $0.09 per gallon, from $0.65 per gallon for 2014 to $0.56 per gallon for 2015.
Our effective cost per gallon is defined as the total costs associated with delivering natural gas, including gas commodity costs, transportation fees, liquefaction
charges, and other site operating costs, plus the total cost of providing O&M services at stations that we do not own and for which we receive a per-gallon fee,
including direct technician labor, indirect supervisor and management labor, repair parts and other direct maintenance costs, all divided by the total GGEs
delivered less GGEs delivered by non-consolidated entities, such as equity method investments. The decrease in our effective cost per gallon was primarily due to
lower natural gas prices. The increased gas volumes delivered partially offset by decreased natural gas prices resulted in a net decrease of $1.2 million in gas
commodity costs. In addition, service costs increased as a percentage of service revenues during 2015 due to lower margin services performed by Clean Energy
Cryogenics and Clean Energy Compression compared to the prior year. These decreases were partially offset by a $3.0 million increase between periods of other
natural gas delivery costs.
Gain from change in fair value of derivative warrants . Derivative gains decreased by $ 4.3 million to $ 1.4 million for 2015 , from $ 5.7 million for 2014 .
These amounts represent the non-cash impact with respect to valuing our outstanding warrants based on our mark-to-market accounting for the warrants during the
periods (see note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report).
Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by $ 12.7 million to $ 113.7 million for 2015 , from $ 126.4
million for 2014 . The decrease is primarily attributable to a $6.7 million decrease in employee-related expenses between periods due to company-wide cost cutting
measures. Reduced expenditures in travel and entertainment, stock-based compensation expense, and business insurance premiums led to a decrease of $3.0
million compared to the prior period. Further contributing to the decrease between periods was the absence in 2015 of certain events that caused increased
expenses in 2014, such as $1.3 million in retirement benefits related to the retirement of our former Chief Marketing Officer in 2014 and $0.6 million in severance
costs related to the departure of our former Chief Financial Officer in 2014.
Impairment of long-lived intangible definite lived assets . In the fourth quarter of 2014, we recorded an impairment to an intangible asset contract acquired in
connection with the Clean Energy Compression acquisition in an amount of $4.8 million. There were no impairments in 2015.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by $ 6.1 million to $ 55.2 million for 2015 , from $ 49.1 million for 2014 . This
increase was primarily due to additional depreciation expense in 2015 related to increased property and equipment balances between periods from our expanded
station network and assets we acquired in our acquisition of NG Advantage during the fourth quarter of 2014.
Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net, increased by $ 50.6 million to $ 95.0 million for 2015 , from $ 44.4 million for 2014 . This increase was
primarily due to a non-cash charge related to the elimination of unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 54.9 million associated with our termination of our Credit
Agreement with GE. This increase was partially offset when compared to interest expense 2014 by the extinguishment of the Mavrix Note and resulting
discontinuation of interest accrual thereunder in December 2014. (See note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for a description of our
former Credit Agreement with GE and the Mavrix Note).
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net, increased by $ 5.2 million to $ 2.6 million for 2015 , from $ (2.6) million for 2014 . This
increase was primarily due to foreign currency exchange rate changes between periods on our Clean Energy Compression customer deposits held in foreign
currencies and a $1.4 million gain from a litigation settlement in 2015.
Loss from equity method investment. Losses from our equity method investments increased by $ 0.3 million to $ 0.8 million for 2015 , compared to a loss
of $ 0.5 million for 2014 due to losses from our MCEP joint venture, which was formed in September 2014.
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Gain from sale of subsidiary. In 2014, we recorded a gain of $12.0 million from the sale of DCE and in 2015 we recorded a related earn-out of $0.9
million. (See note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for additional discussion of the sale of DCE).
Income tax expense. Income tax expense increased by $0.5 million to $1.6 million for 2015 compared to $1.1 million for 2014 . The increase is primarily
attributable to an increase in our tax on foreign operations between periods.
Loss (income) of noncontrolling interest. In 2015 , we recorded $ 1.2 million for the noncontrolling interest in the net income of NG Advantage and in
2014 we recorded a total of $1.2 million for the noncontrolling interest in the net income of DCE and NG Advantage. (See note 2 to our consolidated financial
statements included in this report for additional discussion of the noncontrolling interests in DCE and NG Advantage). The noncontrolling interests represent the
46.7% noncontrolling interest in NG Advantage upon our acquisition of a 53.3% interest in NG Advantage in October 2014, and the 30% interest of our joint
venture partner in DCE until September 2014 when we sold 19% of DCE to our joint venture partner, which increased its interest from 30% to 49%. In December
2014, we sold our remaining 51% ownership interest in DCE to the joint venture partner.
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013
Revenue. Revenue increased by $76.4 million to $428.9 million for 2014 from $352.5 million for 2013. A portion of this increase was the result of a 50.7
million increase in the number of gallons delivered between periods, from 214.4 million gasoline gallon equivalents in 2013 to 265.1 million gasoline gallon
equivalents in 2014. The increase in volume was primarily from an increase in CNG sales of 38.7 million gallons. Our net increase in CNG volume was primarily
from 26 new refuse customers, 16 new transit customers, five new airport customers, and four new trucking customers, which together accounted for 18.4 million
gallons of the CNG volume increase, and an additional 4.6 million CNG gallons sold as a result of our acquisition and purchase of a CNG station from NG
Advantage in 2014. We also experienced an increase of 20.7 million gallons in CNG volume between periods from our existing airport, refuse and trucking
customers. These CNG gallon increases were offset by a decline of 2.2 million gallons associated with the sale of our 49% interest in our Peruvian joint venture in
March 2013 and 2.8 million gallons related to the loss of three CNG O&M service stations for one transit customer. Further, we experienced an increase of
10.3 million gallons in LNG volume between periods, which was primarily due to 7.1 million gallons from 15 new refuse, transit, trucking and industrial
customers, and 3.2 million gallons from existing trucking, refuse, transit and industrial customers. We experienced a 1.7 million gallons increase between periods
in our RNG sales, primarily due to increased RNG production at our facilities in Canton, Michigan and North Shelby, Tennessee. The increase was offset by a
decrease in RNG sales at our Dallas, Texas facility, which was sold in December 2014 in connection with the sale of our interest in DCE and, with it, our interest
in a RNG extraction and processing project at the McCommas Bluff landfill in Dallas, Texas. Revenue attributable to the design and construction of fueling
stations and code-compliant maintenance facilities sold to our customers increased by $40.3 million between periods, primarily due to completion of 16 new CNG
stations for new refuse, airport, transit and industrial customers and 18 upgrades for CNG stations for existing refuse and transit customers. Revenue attributable to
Clean Energy Compression increased between periods by $7.3 million. Our effective price per gallon was $0.94 for 2014, a $0.03 per gallon increase from $0.91 in
2013. The increase in the effective price per gallon was primarily due to higher natural gas prices in 2014, upon which we base a portion of our pricing to our
customers.
The increases in revenues was partially offset by a $17.0 million decrease in VETC revenue primarily due to our recording of $20.8 million of 2012 VETC
revenue in the first quarter of 2013 as a result of legislation passed in January 2013 that retroactively reinstated the fuel tax credit to January 1, 2012. Additionally,
we experienced a decrease of $7.0 million in the sales of natural gas vehicle equipment and emission control services by BAF between periods due to the sale of
BAF in June 2013.
Cost of sales. Cost of sales increased by $84.0 million to $308.8 million for 2014, from $224.8 million for 2013. The increase was primarily due to
increased costs related to delivering and servicing more volume to our customers. Our effective cost per gallon increased by $0.07 per gallon, from $0.58 per
gallon in 2013 to $0.65 per gallon in 2014. This increase was primarily the result of higher natural gas and LNG delivery costs between periods. Additionally,
station construction costs increased by $33.9 million between periods as station construction sales increased between periods. Also contributing to the cost of sales
increase was a $10.3 million increase in costs related to Clean Energy Compression primarily due to increased compressor sales between periods and higher
manufacturing costs related to equipment sold for a mining power project in Australia during 2014. These increases were partially offset by a $6.8 million decrease
in costs related to BAF's vehicle equipment sales and emission control services, as we sold BAF in June 2013.
Gain from change in fair value of derivative warrants. Derivative gains increased by $4.8 million to $5.7 million for 2014, from $0.9 million for 2013.
These amounts represent the non-cash impact with respect to valuing our outstanding warrants based on our mark-to-market accounting for the warrants during the
periods (see note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report ).
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Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by $11.6 million to $126.4 million for 2014, from
$138.0 million for 2013. The decrease is primarily attributable to a decrease in our stock based compensation expense of $11.5 million in 2014. In addition, we
experienced decreases in travel and entertainment expenses of $2.1 million, decreases in natural gas policy and promotion expenses of $1.6 million, decreases in
costs related to vacating in 2013 our former offices in Seal Beach, California of $1.6 million and decreases in research and development costs of $0.3 million.
These decreases were partially offset by an increase in our salaries and employee benefits by $5.4 million between periods, primarily due to higher average salaries
and benefits per employee in 2014 compared to 2013, as we increased our operations headcount by 44 and hired more management level positions between periods
to help support America's Natural Gas Highway and our continued business expansion. A portion of the increase in our salaries and employee benefits is due to
$1.3 million in retirement benefits related to the retirement of our former Chief Marketing Officer in 2014 and $0.6 million in severance costs related to the
departure of our former Chief Financial Officer in 2014.
Impairment of long-lived intangible definite lived assets. In the fourth quarter of 2014, we recorded an impairment to an intangible asset contract acquired
in connection with the Clean Energy Compression acquisition in an amount of $4.8 million. There were no impairments in 2013.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by $6.8 million to $49.1 million for 2014, from $42.3 million for 2013. This
increase was primarily due to additional depreciation expense in 2014 related to increased property and equipment balances between periods, which primarily
resulted from our expanded station network, including our efforts to build-out America's Natural Gas Highway.
Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net, increased by $15.1 million to $44.4 million for 2014, from $29.3 million for 2013. This increase was primarily
the result of an increase in interest expense related to the $50.0 million of convertible notes we issued in June 2013, the $250.0 million of convertible notes we
issued in September 2013, the aggregate $15.0 million advanced under the Mavrix Note during 2013, and the $12.4 million Canton Bonds issued in March 2014.
An early termination fee of $0.8 million, incurred upon our repayment in full of the Mavrix Note in connection with the sale of DCE, and additional debt issuance
costs of $0.9 million associated with the issuance of the Canton Bonds were also expensed and included in interest expense in 2014 (see note 9 to our consolidated
financial statements included in this report for a description of our outstanding debt).
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net, increased by ($1.6) million to ($2.6) million for 2014, from ($1.0) million for 2013. This
increase was primarily due to foreign currency exchange rate changes between periods on our Clean Energy Compression customer deposits held in foreign
currencies.
Loss from equity method investment. Losses from our equity method investments increased by $0.4 million to $0.5 million for 2014, from $0.1 million for
2013. This increase was primarily due to losses from our MCEP joint venture, which was formed in September 2014. During 2013, we recorded $0.1 million of
equity in the loss of our 49% interest in our Peruvian joint venture. We completed the sale of our interest in our Peruvian joint venture in March 2013.
Gain from sale of equity method investment.
Gain from sale of subsidiary.
sale of BAF.

In 2013, we recorded a $4.7 million gain from the sale of our 49% interest in our Peruvian joint venture.

In 2014, we recorded a gain of $12.0 million from the sale of DCE. During 2013, we recorded a $14.1 million gain from the

Income tax expense. Income tax expense decreased by $2.6 million to $1.1 million for 2014 compared to $3.7 million for 2013. The decrease is primarily
attributable to a decrease in our tax on foreign operations between periods, which in 2013 included $1.4 million of taxes that arose from the sale of our interest in
our Peruvian joint venture.
Loss (income) of noncontrolling interest. During 2014 and 2013, we recorded $1.2 million and $0 million, respectively, for the noncontrolling interest in
the net income of DCE and NG Advantage. (see note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for additional discussion of the
noncontrolling interests in DCE and NG Advantage).
Seasonality and Inflation
To some extent, we experience seasonality in our results of operations. Natural gas vehicle fuel amounts consumed by some of our customers tend to be
higher in summer months when buses and other fleet vehicles use more fuel to power their air conditioning systems. Natural gas commodity prices tend to be
higher in the fall and winter months due to increased overall demand for natural gas for heating during these periods.
Since our inception, inflation has not significantly affected our operating results. However, costs for construction, repairs, maintenance, electricity and
insurance are all subject to inflationary pressures, which could affect our ability to maintain our
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stations adequately, build new stations, expand our existing facilities or pursue additional RNG production projects, or could materially increase our operating
costs.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We require cash to fund our capital expenditures, operating expenses and working capital requirements, including outlays for the design and construction of
new fueling stations, debt repayments and repurchases, maintenance of LNG production facilities, the purchase of new CNG tanker trailers, investment in RNG
production, manufacturing natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment, mergers and acquisitions, financing natural gas vehicles for our customers and
general corporate purposes, including geographic expansion (domestically and internationally), pursuing new customer markets, supporting our sales and
marketing activities, supporting legislative and regulatory initiatives and for working capital. Historically, our principal sources of liquidity have consisted of cash
on hand, cash provided by financing activities, cash provided by sales of assets, and if available, grants, VETC and other credits.
Liquidity
We expect cash from our operating activities to fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our operating results, the timing of our billing,
collections and liability payments, completion of our station construction projects, government grants, and the timing and amount of tax and other fuel credits.
Cash used in operating activities was $ 12.1 million in 2015 , a decrease of $63.9 million, compared to $76.0 million used in 2014 . The decrease between periods
is primarily due to an improvement in our net loss of $ 26.4 million , net of non-cash adjustments, and increased cash from changes in operating assets and
liabilities of approximately $ 37.5 million which includes the cash receipt of $28.4 million of VETC revenues attributable to natural gas vehicle fuel sales in 2014,
plus $9.1 million of normal changes in working capital due to timing differences.
Cash used in investing activities was $ 33.9 million in 2015 , a decrease of $ 13.0 million , compared to $46.9 million in 2014 . Capital expenditures
decreased by $ 37.2 million primarily due to our purchase in 2014 of 67 CNG-In-A-Box units (relatively small turn-key, self-contained CNG stations) for $18.4
million which were not repeated in 2015 and less construction of Company owned stations between periods. In 2014, we received $ 39.8 million in net cash
proceeds for the sale of DCE and in 2015 we received an additional $ 1.1 million for certain related performance tests. Additionally, we had an increase of $ 3.9
million of cash provided from our maturities, net of purchases of short term investments, and a decrease of $ 6.6 million used for investments in other entities due
to the absence of any such investments in 2015.
Cash provided by financing activities was $ 0.4 million in 2015 , an increase of $ 26.2 million , compared to $25.8 million used in 2014 . The change was
primarily due to the excess of repayments of borrowings over proceeds from such borrowings in 2014 that was not repeated in 2015. The repayments in 2014 relate
to the payoffs of a revolving line of credit and the Mavrix Note. Offsetting the repayments in 2014 was proceeds from the issuance of the Canton Bonds by our
Canton subsidiary for $12.4 million in 2014, with no issuance in 2015. Additionally, there was an increase of $4.0 million in proceeds from issuances of common
stock in 2015 which includes cash received from our ATM Program described below.
Our financial position and liquidity are, and will continue to be, influenced by a variety of factors, including our ability to generate cash flows from
operations, the level of our outstanding indebtedness and the principal and interest we are obligated to pay on our indebtedness, our capital expenditure
requirements (which consist primarily of station construction costs and the purchase of CNG tanker trailers and, to a lesser extent, LNG plant maintenance costs
and RNG plant construction and maintenance costs) and any merger, divestiture or acquisition activity.
Sources of Cash
Historically, our principal sources of liquidity have consisted of cash on hand, cash provided by financing activities, cash provided by sales of assets, and, if
available, grants, VETC and other credits. At December 31, 2015 we had total cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $ 146.7 million , compared
to $214.9 million at December 31, 2014 .
On June 14, 2013, T. Boone Pickens and Green Energy Investment Holdings, LLC delivered $50.0 million to us in satisfaction of a funding requirement
under the 7.5% Notes.
In September 2013, we completed a private offering of the 5.25% Notes. The net proceeds from the sale of the 5.25% Notes after the payment of certain debt
issuance costs of $7.8 million were approximately $242.2 million, which we have used, and intend to continue to use, to fund capital expenditures and for general
corporate purposes.
On March 19, 2014, Canton completed the issuance of the Canton Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $12.4 million. The proceeds were used
primarily to (i) refinance the cost of constructing and equipping its RNG extraction and production project in Canton, Michigan and (ii) pay a portion of the cost
associated with the issuance of the Canton Bonds.
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On November 11, 2015, we entered into an equity distribution agreement with Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (“Citigroup”), as sales agent and/or principal,
pursuant to which we may issue and sell, from time to time, through or to Citigroup shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $75.0
million in an at-the-market offering program (the “ATM Program”). As of December 31, 2015, we received $6.5 million in proceeds, net of $0.5 million in fees
and issuance costs, and issued 1,561,902 shares of our common stock in the ATM Program. We intend to use any net proceeds from the ATM Program for general
corporate purposes, which may include repaying all or a portion of our outstanding SLG Notes. See notes 9 and 11 to our consolidated financial statements
included in this report for further information. Subsequent to December 31, 2015, we have received an additional $ 12.7 million in proceeds, net of $ 0.4 million in
fees and issuance costs, and we have issued an additional 4,787,342 shares of our common stock in the ATM Program.
On February 29, 2016, we entered into a loan and security agreement with, and issued a related promissory note to, PlainsCapital Bank ("Plains"), pursuant to
which Plains agreed to lend us up to $50.0 million on a revolving basis for a term of one year (the "Credit Facility"). Simultaneously, we drew down $50.0 million
under this Credit Facility.
See note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for a description of all of our outstanding debt.
We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, cash generated from operations and financing activities will satisfy our routine
business requirements for at least the next twelve months and the foreseeable future.
Capital Expenditures
Our business plan calls for approximately $ 25.5 million in capital expenditures in 2016 , primarily related to construction of CNG and LNG fueling stations
and the purchase of CNG trailers by NG Advantage. Additionally, we had total consolidated indebtedness of approximately $ 572.4 million as of December 31,
2015, of which approximately $ 150.1 million , $ 5.5 million , $ 305.1 million , $ 54.7 million , $ 53.1 million , and $ 4.0 million is expected to become due in
2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, and thereafter, respectively. In addition, in February 2016, we entered into a loan and security agreement with, and issued a related
promissory note to, PlainsCapital Bank, pursuant to which we may incur additional indebtedness in the principal amount up to $50.0 million. We expect our total
consolidated interest payment obligations relating to our indebtedness to be approximately $32.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2016. With respect to
certain of our outstanding indebtedness due in 2016, we anticipate repaying, with a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, all or some portion of the
outstanding principal amount of SLG Notes (as defined and discussed in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report), together with
accrued and unpaid interest, on or prior to their August 2016 maturity date. To this end, on March 1, 2016 and pursuant to the consent of the holders of the SLG
Notes, we prepaid an aggregate of $60.0 million in principal amount and $1.8 million in accrued and unpaid interest owed under the SLG Notes. In addition, with
respect to certain of our outstanding indebtedness due in 2018, in February 2016, our board of directors authorized and approved our use of up to $25.0 million to
opportunistically purchase in the open market our outstanding 5.25% Notes (as defined and discussed in note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in
this report). Pursuant to such approval, on February 18, 2016, we purchased $32.5 million in face amount of our 5.25% Notes for an aggregate purchase price of
$16.8 million. We are permitted to repay up to $ 295.0 million of our consolidated indebtedness outstanding at December 31, 2015 at maturity with shares of our
common stock rather than cash, with the amount of shares determined by the then-current trading price of our common stock. Any such issuance would increase
the number of our outstanding shares and may significantly dilute the ownership interest of our stockholders.
We may also elect to invest additional amounts in companies, assets or joint ventures in the natural gas fueling infrastructure, vehicle or services industries,
including RNG production or use capital for other activities or pursuits. We will need to raise additional capital to fund any capital expenditures, investments, debt
repayments or repurchases that we cannot fund through available cash or cash generated by operations or that we cannot fund through other sources, such as with
our common stock. The timing and necessity of any future capital raised will depend on various factors, including our rate of new station construction, debt
repayments or repurchases (either prior to or at maturity), any potential merger or acquisition activity, and other factors described above under “Liquidity and
Capital Resources.” We may seek to raise additional capital through one or more sources, including, among others, selling assets, obtaining new or restructuring
existing debt, obtaining equity capital, or any combination of these or other available sources of capital. We may not be able to raise capital when needed on terms
that are favorable to us or existing stockholders, or at all. Any inability to raise capital may impair our ability to build new stations, develop natural gas fueling
infrastructure, invest in strategic transactions or acquisitions or repay our outstanding indebtedness and may reduce our ability to grow our business and generate
sustained or increased revenues.
Contractual Obligations
The following represents the scheduled maturities of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015 :
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Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations: (in thousands)

Total

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations(a) $
Operating lease commitments(b)
Long-term "take or pay" natural gas purchase
commitment contracts(c)
Construction contracts(d)

665,472

$

183,985

1 - 3 years

$

More than
5 years

3 - 5 years

360,528

$

116,709

$

4,250

54,025

7,998

13,856

11,297

20,874

9,959

4,650

4,332

977

—

9,865
$

Total

Less than 1 year

739,321

9,865
$

206,498

—
$

378,716

—
$

128,983

—
$

25,124

_______________________________________________________________________________

(a) Consists of long-term debt and capital lease obligations to finance acquisitions and equipment purchases, including future interest payments.
(b) Consists of various space and ground leases for our California LNG plant, office spaces and fueling stations as well as leases for equipment.
(c) Represents our estimates for two long-term fixed "take-or-pay" natural gas purchase commitment contracts.
(d) Consists of our obligations to fund various fueling station construction projects, net of amounts funded through December 31, 2015 , and excluding
contractual commitments related to station sales contracts.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
At December 31, 2015 , we had the following off-balance sheet arrangements that had, or are reasonably likely to have, a material effect on our financial
condition:
•

outstanding surety bonds for construction contracts and general corporate purposes totaling $ 58.8 million ;

•

two long-term take-or-pay contracts for the purchase of natural gas; and

•

operating leases where we are the lessee.

We provide surety bonds primarily for construction contracts in the ordinary course of business, as a form of guarantee. No liability has been recorded in
connection with our surety bonds as we do not believe, based on historical experience and information currently available, that it is probable that any amounts will
be required to be paid under these arrangements for which we will not be reimbursed.
We have two long-term take-or-pay contracts that require us to purchase minimum volumes of natural gas at index based prices which expire in October
2017 and December 2020, respectively.
We have entered into operating lease arrangements for certain equipment and for our office and field operating locations in the ordinary course of business.
The terms of our leases expire at various dates through 2021. Additionally, in November 2006, we entered into a ground lease for 36 acres in California on which
we built our California LNG liquefaction plant. The lease is for an initial term of thirty years and requires payments of $0.2 million per year, plus up to
$0.1 million per year for each 30 million gallons of production capacity utilized, subject to future adjustment based on consumer price index changes. We must
also pay a royalty to the landlord for each gallon of LNG produced at the facility, as well as a fee for certain other services that the landlord provides.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to various market risks, including commodity price risk and risks related to foreign currency exchange
rates.
Commodity Price Risk.
We are subject to market risk with respect to our sales of natural gas, which have historically been subject to volatile market conditions. Our exposure to
market risk is heightened when we have a fixed price sales contract with a customer that is not covered by a futures contract, or when we are otherwise unable to
pass through natural gas price increases to customers. Natural gas prices and availability are affected by many factors, including, among others, weather conditions,
overall economic conditions and foreign and domestic government regulations and relations.
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Natural gas costs represented 26% (or 31% excluding Clean Energy Compression and Clean Energy Cryogenics) of our cost of sales for 2014 and 29% (or
32% excluding Clean Energy Compression and Clean Energy Cryogenics) of our cost of sales for 2015 .
To reduce price risk caused by market fluctuations in natural gas, we may enter into exchange traded natural gas futures contracts. These arrangements
expose us to the risk of financial loss in situations where the other party to the contract defaults on the contract or there is a change in the expected differential
between the underlying price in the contract and the actual price of natural gas we pay at the delivery point. We did not have any futures contracts outstanding at
December 31, 2015 .
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk.
Because we have foreign operations, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange gains and losses. Since the functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries
is in their local currency, the currency effects of translating the financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries, which operate in local currency environments, are
included in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of consolidated equity in our consolidated financial statements and do not impact
earnings. However, foreign currency transaction gains and losses not in our subsidiaries' functional currency do impact earnings and resulted in approximately
$1.0 million of gains in 2015 . During 2015 , our primary exposure to foreign currency rates related to our Canadian operations that had certain outstanding
accounts receivable and accounts payable denominated in the U.S. dollar which were not hedged.
We have prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk with respect to our monetary transactions denominated in foreign currency. If
the exchange rates on these assets and liabilities were to fluctuate by 10% from rates as of December 31, 2015 , we would expect a corresponding fluctuation in the
value of the assets and liabilities of approximately $1.8 million.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Quarterly Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2015 . The information for
each quarter is unaudited and we have prepared the information on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on
Form 10-K. This information includes all adjustments that management considers necessary for the fair presentation of such data. See Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for descriptions of the effects of any extraordinary, unusual or infrequently occurring
items recognized in any of the periods covered by the below quarterly data. The quarterly data should be read together with our consolidated financial statements
and related notes included in this annual report on Form 10-K. The results of operations for any one quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected
in the current period or any future period.
Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data)
For the Quarter Ended
March 31,
2014

June 30,
2014

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2014

Revenue:
Product revenues

$

85,789

Service revenues
Total revenues

$

86,473

$

90,448

$

117,489

9,486

11,660

12,972

14,623

95,275

98,133

103,420

132,112

67,867

69,175

79,021

75,399
4,528

Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below):
Product cost of sales

3,764

4,080

4,953

Derivative (gains) losses on warrant valuation

Service cost of sales

(4,455)

2,286

(3,255)

Selling, general and administrative

33,490

34,400

28,240

30,305

Depreciation and amortization

11,515

11,608

12,325

13,610

—

—

—

4,772

Total operating expenses

112,181

121,549

121,284

128,290

Operating income (loss)

(16,906)

(23,416)

(17,864)

3,822

Interest expense, net

(9,510)

(10,130)

(10,676)

(14,041)

Other income (expense), net

(1,286)

1,121

(880)

(1,526)

Impairment of long-lived intangible definite lived assets

Loss from equity method investments

—

Gain (loss) from sale of subsidiary

—

—

Loss before income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net income (loss)
Loss of noncontrolling interest

—

—

(27,702)

(324)

(490)

—

(32,425)

11,998

(29,420)

(962)

(147)

(811)

(28,664)

(32,572)

(30,231)

(71)

(266)

(138)

(237)
845
608
(725)

Net income (loss) attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp.

$

(28,593)

$

(32,306)

$

(30,093)

$

1,333

Basic income (loss) per share

$

(0.30)

$

(0.34)

$

(0.32)

$

0.01

Fully diluted income (loss) per share

$

(0.30)

$

(0.34)

$

(0.32)

$

0.01
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For the Quarter Ended
March 31,
2015

June 30,
2015

September 30,
2015

December 31,
2015

Revenue:
Product revenues

$

69,297

Service revenues

$

75,744

$

77,355

$

106,772

16,551

11,124

14,902

12,575

85,848

86,868

92,257

119,347

Product cost of sales

55,379

59,387

59,313

56,542

Service cost of sales

9,354

4,399

7,410

6,701

Total revenues
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below):

Derivative (gains) losses on warrant valuation

(883)

300

(502)

(329)

Selling, general and administrative

30,233

28,994

27,800

26,626

Depreciation and amortization

12,886

13,402

14,000

14,931

Total operating expenses

106,969

106,482

108,021

104,471

Operating loss

(21,121)

(19,614)

(15,764)

14,876

(9,895)

(9,973)

(10,152)

(64,950)

Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net

547

Loss from equity method investments
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
Loss of noncontrolling interest

317

2,648

52

(204)

(345)

(154)

(112)

(30,673)

(29,615)

(23,422)

(50,134)

(854)

(740)

(31,527)

(30,355)

(23,181)

(50,395)

(380)

(393)

(62)

(381)

241

(261)

Net loss attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp.

$

(31,147)

$

(29,962)

$

(23,119)

$

(50,014)

Basic loss per share

$

(0.34)

$

(0.33)

$

(0.25)

$

(0.54)

Fully diluted loss per share

$

(0.34)

$

(0.33)

$

(0.25)

$

(0.54)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Clean Energy Fuels Corp.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2014 and
2015 , and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the threeyear period ended December 31, 2015 . In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the related financial statement
schedule. We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 , based on criteria established in Internal Control
—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is
responsible for these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule and an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Clean Energy Fuels
Corp. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2015 , in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material aspects, the information set forth therein. Also,
in our opinion, Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2015 , based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).
/s/ KPMG LLP
Irvine, California
March 3, 2016
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CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2015

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash
Short-term investments

92,381

$

43,724

6,012

4,240

122,546

102,944

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $752 and $1,895 as of December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2015, respectively

81,970

73,645

Other receivables

56,223

60,667

Inventory

34,696

29,289

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

19,811

14,930

413,639

329,439

514,269

516,324

71,904

19,723

Total current assets
Land, property and equipment, net
Notes receivable and other long-term assets, net
Investments in other entities

6,510

5,695

Goodwill

98,726

91,967

Intangible assets, net

55,361

42,644

Total assets

$

1,160,409

$

1,005,792

$

4,846

$

150,129

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of debt and capital lease obligations
Accounts payable

43,922

26,906

Accrued liabilities

56,760

59,082

Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Long-term portion of debt and capital lease obligations
Long-term debt, related party
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

14,683

10,549

120,211

246,666

500,824

357,285

65,000

65,000

9,339

7,896

695,374

676,847

—

—

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value. Authorized 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding no shares
Common stock, $0.0001 par value. Authorized 224,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 90,203,344 shares and
outstanding 92,382,717 shares at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total Clean Energy Fuels Corp. stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Total stockholders' equity

9

9

898,106

915,199

(457,441)

(591,683)

(3,248)

(20,973)

437,426

302,552

27,609

26,393

465,035
$

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December 31,
2013

2014

2015

Revenue:
Product revenues

$

310,813

$

380,199

$

329,168

Service revenues

41,662

48,741

55,152

Total revenue

352,475

428,940

384,320

Product cost of sales

213,593

291,462

230,621

Service cost of sales

11,169

17,325

27,864

(5,748)

(1,414)

Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below):

Gain from change in fair value of derivative warrants

(938)

Selling, general and administrative

138,024

126,435

113,653

Depreciation and amortization

42,318

49,058

55,219

Impairment of long-lived asset

—

4,772

—

Total operating expenses

404,166

483,304

425,943

Operating loss

(51,691)

(54,364)

(41,623)

(29,287)

(44,357)

(94,970)

(970)

(2,571)

2,627

(76)

(490)

Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Loss from equity method investments
Gain from sale of equity method investment
Gain from sale of subsidiary
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
Loss (income) of noncontrolling interest

—

—

14,115

11,998

937

(63,204)

(89,784)

(133,844)

(3,715)

(1,075)

(1,614)

(66,919)

(90,859)

(135,458)

(49)

Net loss attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp.

(815)

4,705

1,200

1,216

$

(66,968)

$

(89,659)

$

(134,242)

$

(0.71)

$

(0.96)

$

(1.47)

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
93,958,758

Basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2013
Clean Energy
Fuels Corp

Net income (loss)
$
Other comprehensive
income (loss), net of
tax:
Foreign currency
translation
adjustments net of $0
tax in 2013, 2014 and
2015
Foreign currency
adjustments on intraentity long-term
investments, net of
$0 tax in 2013, 2014
and 2015
Unrealized gains
(losses) on availablefor sale securities, net
of $0 tax in 2013,
2014, and 2015
Unrecognized gains
on derivatives, net of
$0 tax in 2013, 2014
and 2015
Total other
comprehensive income
(loss)
Comprehensive income
$
(loss)

(66,968)

Noncontrolling
Interest

$

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Clean Energy
Fuels Corp

Total

49

$

(66,919)

$

(89,659)

Noncontrolling
Interest

$

(1,200)

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Clean Energy
Fuels Corp

Total

$

(90,859)

$

Noncontrolling
Interest

(134,242)

(1,216)

Total

$

(135,458)

(1,680)

—

(1,680)

(7,958)

—

(7,958)

(9,653)

—

(9,653)

(4,834)

—

(4,834)

4,866

—

4,866

(8,078)

—

(8,078)

(445)

—

(445)

544

—

544

6

—

6

108

—

108

—

—

—

—

—

—

(6,851)
(73,819)

—
$

49

(6,851)
$

(73,770)

(2,548)
$

(92,207)

—
$

(1,200)

(2,548)
$

(93,407)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(17,725)
$

(151,967)

—
$

(1,216)

(17,725)
$

(153,183)
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CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)

Common stock

Shares
Balance, December 31, 2012
Issuance of common stock, net of
applicable taxes
Issuance of common stock, net of
offering costs

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Amount

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(300,814)

Noncontrolling
Interest in
Subsidiary

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

6,151

3,917

546,630

87,634,478

9

837,367

119,349

—

677

—

—

—

677
21,993

1,610,570

—

21,993

—

—

—

Stock-based compensation

—

—

23,008

—

—

—

23,008

Net (loss) income
Accumulated other comprehensive
income

—

—

—

—

49

(66,919)

—

—

—

(6,851)

—

(6,851)

Balance, December 31, 2013
Issuance of common stock, net of
applicable taxes
Issuance of common stock, net of
offering costs
Exercise of additional membership
interest in subsidiary

89,364,397

9

883,045

(700)

3,966

518,538

519,608

—

2,300

—

—

—

2,300

319,339

—

3,750

—

—

—

3,750

—

—

2,363

—

—

—

2,363

—

—

11,514

—

—

—

11,514

—

—

(4,866)

—

—

—

(4,866)

—

—

—

—

—

28,075

28,075

—

—

—

—

—

(3,232)

(3,232)

Net (loss) income

—

—

—

—

(1,200)

(90,859)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

—

—

—

90,203,344

9

898,106

2,179,373

—

6,314

Stock-based compensation

—

—

10,779

Net (loss) income

—

—

—

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

—

—

—

92,382,717

9

915,199

Stock-based compensation
Foreign currency adjustments on intraentity long-term investments converted
to equity
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in
subsidiary
Sale of non-controlling interest in
subsidiary

Balance, December 31, 2014
Issuance of common stock, net of
applicable taxes

Balance, December 31, 2015

(66,968)
—
(367,782)

(89,659)
—
(457,441)

—

(3,248)

27,609

465,035

—

6,314

—

—

—

—

(134,242)
—
(591,683)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(2,548)

—

—
(1,216)

(17,725)

—

(20,973)

26,393

(2,548)

10,779
(135,458)
(17,725)
328,945
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CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2013

2014

2015

Cash flows from operating activities :
Net loss

$

(66,919)

$

(90,859)

$

(135,458)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts, notes and inventory
Derivative gain

42,318
1,962
(938)

49,058

55,219

1,277

2,656

(5,748)

(1,414)
10,779

Stock-based compensation expense

23,008

11,514

Amortization of debt issuance cost

1,662

4,194

2,969

—

—

54,925

Non-cash interest charge related to a terminated credit agreement
Accretion of notes payable
Gain on sale of equity method investment
Dividend received on equity method investment
Long-lived intangible impairment

1,140

412

57

(4,705)

—

—

1,091

—

—

4,772

—

(14,115)

(11,998)

(937)

(1,132)

(208)

—

Accounts and other receivables

(441)

(55,573)

3,426

Inventory

(637)

(979)

5,407

Gain on sale of subsidiary
Gain on contingent consideration for acquisitions

—

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of assets and liabilities acquired and disposed:

Prepaid expenses and other assets

579

1,361

2,876

9,126

(12,005)

Accounts payable

(6,962)

Accrued expenses and other

19,395

7,646

(4,694)

(76,005)

(12,096)

(170,935)

(157,629)

(158,840)

93,289

171,902

176,969

(86,730)

(88,628)

(51,415)

(3,950)

(9,140)

(4,279)

4,153

6,580

Net cash used in operating activities

(596)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments
Maturities and sales of short-term investments
Purchases and deposits on property and equipment
Loans made to customers
Payments on and proceeds from sales of loans receivable

928

Restricted cash

13,250

(3,567)

1,650

Cash received with sale of subsidiary, net of cash transferred

(1,178)

39,760

1,118

Investments in other entities
Proceeds from sale of equity method investment
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities

—

(6,634)

—

6,119

—

—

(9,000)

467

—

(154,982)

(46,889)

(33,869)

677

2,300

6,314

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuances of common stock, net of taxes paid
Proceeds from debt instruments

300,559

12,778

384

Proceeds from debt, related party

15,000

—

—

Proceeds from revolving line of credit

31,527

34,607

31

Proceeds from exercise of additional membership interest in subsidiary

6,992

—

Repayment of borrowings under revolving line of credit

(37,767)

(40,354)

(64)

Repayment of capital lease obligations and debt instruments

(10,147)

(41,036)

(6,258)

Contingent consideration paid relating to business acquisitions
Payment for debt issuance costs
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

—

—
(9,130)
290,719
468

(176)

—

(896)

—

(25,785)
1,027

407
(3,099)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

131,511

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(147,652)

108,522
$

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

(48,657)

240,033

240,033

$

92,381

92,381

$

43,724

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid

$

2,228

$

943

$

890

Interest paid, net of $2,517, $3,160, and $835 capitalized, respectively

$

22,110

$

39,224

$

37,662

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

( 1 ) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company
Clean Energy Fuels Corp., together with its majority and wholly owned subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Company," unless the context
or the use of the term indicates or requires otherwise) is engaged in the business of selling natural gas fueling solutions to its customers, primarily in the United
States and Canada.
The Company's principal business is supplying compressed natural gas (“CNG”), liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) and renewable natural gas (“RNG”) for
light, medium and heavy-duty vehicles and providing operation, repair and maintenance ("O&M") services for vehicle fleet customer stations. As a comprehensive
solution provider, the Company also designs, builds, operates, services, repairs and maintains fueling stations, manufactures, sells and services non-lubricated
natural gas fueling compressors and other equipment used in CNG stations and LNG stations, offers assessment, design and modification solutions to provide
operators with code-compliant service and maintenance facilities for natural gas vehicle fleets, transports and sells CNG to large industrial and institutional energy
users who do not have direct access to natural gas pipelines, processes and sells RNG, sells tradable credits generated by selling natural gas and RNG as a vehicle
fuel, including credits generated under the California and the Oregon Low Carbon Fuel Standards (collectively, "LCFS Credits") and Renewable Identification
Numbers ("RIN Credits" or "RINs") generated under the federal Renewable Fuel Standard Phase 2, helps its customers acquire and finance natural gas vehicles
and obtains federal, state and local tax credits, grants and incentives.
In addition, through June 28, 2013, the Company provided natural gas vehicle conversions and design and engineering services for natural gas engine
systems. Further, through December 29, 2014, the Company processed, extracted, and sold RNG from its former McCommas Bluff landfill in Dallas, Texas. See
note 2 for further information.
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments,
which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to state fairly the Company's financial position, results of operations, comprehensive income (loss) and
cash flows in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("US GAAP"). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and revenues and
expenses recorded during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made in preparing the consolidated financial
statements include (but are not limited to) those related to revenue recognition, goodwill and long-lived intangible asset valuations and impairment assessments,
income tax valuations, fair value measurements and stock-based compensation expense.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less on the date of acquisition to be cash equivalents.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of the Company's financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts and other receivables,
notes receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities, capital lease obligations and notes payable approximate fair value.
Inventories
Inventory consists of raw materials and spare parts, work in process and finished goods and is stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. The
Company writes down the carrying value of its inventory to net realizable value for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory in an amount equal to the
difference between the cost of inventory and its estimated realizable value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions, among other
factors.
52

Table of Contents
CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Inventories consisted of the following as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 :

2014

Raw materials and spare parts

$

Work in process
Finished goods
$

Total

2015

31,389

$

25,113

3,292

973

15

3,203

34,696

$

29,289

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are recognized over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives of depreciable assets are three to twenty years for LNG liquefaction plant assets, up to 10 years for station equipment and LNG
trailers, and three to seven years for all other depreciable assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or related
lease terms. Periodically, the Company receives grant funding to assist in the financing of natural gas fueling station construction. The Company records the grant
proceeds as a reduction of the cost of the respective asset. Total grant proceeds received were approximately $3,114 , $959 , and $4,292 for the years ended
December 31, 2013 , 2014 , and 2015 respectively.
Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment and intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of long-lived assets to be held and used is measured by comparing
the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. Estimated future cash flows are determined
by management based on a number of estimates, including future cash flow projections, discount rates and terminal values. In determining these estimates,
management considers internally generated information and information obtained from discussions with market participants. The determination of fair value
requires significant judgment by both management and outside experts engaged to assist in this process. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives
of intangible assets with finite useful lives are two to 20 years for technology, one to eight years for customer relationships, one to 10 years for acquired contracts,
two to 20 years for trademarks and trade names, and three years for non-compete agreements. In 2014, the Company acquired the controlling interest in NG
Advantage, LLC (“NG Advantage”) and allocated approximately $5,600 of the purchase price to the identifiable intangible assets related to customer relationships
and trade names. Also, in the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company determined that a long-lived asset related to a contract acquired in its acquisition of Clean
Energy Compression was impaired and recorded an impairment charge of $4,772 . The Company had no impairments of any long-lived assets in 2013 or 2015.
The Company's intangible assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 were as follows:
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2014

Technology

$

2015

54,400

Customer relationships

$

54,400

16,430

16,576

Acquired contracts

3,694

3,694

Trademark and trade names

8,200

8,200

Non-compete agreements

2,060

2,060

Total intangible assets

84,784

84,930

(24,384)

(30,442)

(5,039)

(11,844)

Less accumulated amortization
Foreign currency rate change
$

Net intangible assets

55,361

$

42,644

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $9,016 , $7,024 , and $5,539 for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , respectively.
Estimated amortization expense for the five years and thereafter succeeding the year ended December 31, 2015 is approximately $4,788 , $4,574 , $4,011 , $2,953 ,
$2,933 and $23,385 respectively.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of costs incurred over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses. The Company assesses its goodwill using a
qualitative approach to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit is less than its carrying value. The qualitative assessment
includes the potential impact on a reporting unit's fair value of certain events and circumstances, including the Company's market capitalization value,
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, and other relevant entity-specific events. If it is determined, based upon the qualitative
assessment, that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying amount, then a two-step quantitative impairment test is
performed. The Company has determined that it is a single reporting unit for the purpose of goodwill impairment tests. The Company performs the impairment test
annually on October 1, or more frequently if facts and circumstances warrant a review. During 2013, 2014 and 2015, there were no indicators of impairment to
goodwill.
The Company reduced its goodwill balance by $774 and $7,205 when it sold BAF and its interest in DCE and its subsidiary DCEMB on June 28, 2013 and
December 29, 2014, respectively, and added $16,555 and $21,070 to its goodwill balance when it acquired MGES and NG Advantage on May 6, 2013 and
October 14, 2014, respectively (all as defined and described in note 2 ). The goodwill balances on the consolidated balance sheets include foreign currency
translation gains (losses) of $(3,687) and $(6,578) as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , respectively. See note 2 for further information.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue on various products and services. The table below and the following discussion describe the Company’s revenue by
group of similar products.
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Volume related revenue

2013
$

2014

195,328

$

2015

247,899

$

260,629

Clean Energy Compression

77,485

84,775

54,497

Station Construction Project Sales

27,098

67,392

37,830

VETC

45,439

28,359

30,986

Other

7,125

515

378

$

352,475

54

$

428,940

$

384,320

Table of Contents
CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Company’s volume related revenues primarily consist of CNG and LNG fuel sales, RIN and LCFS Credits sales and O&M services. These revenues
are recognized in accordance with US GAAP, which requires that the following four criteria must be met before revenue can be recognized: (i) persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has occurred and title and the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer or services have been
rendered; (iii) the price is fixed or determinable; and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured. Applying these factors, the Company typically recognizes revenue
from the sale of natural gas fuel at the time the fuel is dispensed or, in the case of LNG sales agreements, delivered to the customers' storage facilities. The
Company recognizes revenue from O&M service agreements as the related services are provided.
The Company generates LCFS Credits when it sells RNG and conventional natural gas for use as a vehicle fuel in California and it generates RIN Credits
when it sells RNG as a vehicle fuel in the U.S. The Company can sell these credits to third parties who need the credits to comply with federal and state
requirements. RIN and LCFS Credits are included in volume related revenues. The Company recognizes revenue from the generation of these credits at the time it
has an agreement in place to sell the credits at a fixed or determinable price.
The Company recognizes compression revenues through its subsidiary Clean Energy Compression when it sells non-lubricated natural gas fueling
compressors and related equipment. Clean Energy Compression uses the percentage-of-completion method of accounting to recognize revenue because its projects
are small and it has been able to demonstrate that it can reasonably estimate costs to complete. In these circumstances, revenue is recognized based on costs
incurred in relation to total estimated costs to be incurred for a project.
The Company typically recognizes revenue on fueling station construction projects where it sells the station or station upgrade to the customer using the
completed-contract method because the projects are short-term and the results of operations reported on the completed-contract basis would not vary materially
from those resulting from the use of the percentage-of-completion method. The construction contract is considered to be substantially completed at the earlier of
customer acceptance of the fueling station or the time when the fuel dispensing activities begin. When applicable, multi-station construction contracts are
segmented into phases as negotiated with customers. Gross margin related to each phase is recognized when it is substantially complete. The Company’s subsidiary
Clean Energy Cryogenics, which manufactures components used in the Company’s station sales, uses the percentage-of-completion method of accounting to
recognize revenue because its projects are small and it has been able to demonstrate that it can reasonably estimate costs to complete. In these circumstances,
revenue is recognized based on costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs to be incurred for a project.
In certain transactions with its customers, the Company agrees to provide multiple products or services, including construction of a station, providing
O&M services to the station, and sale of fuel to the customer. The Company evaluates the separability of revenues based on Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") authoritative guidance, which provides a framework for establishing whether or not a particular arrangement with a customer has one or more revenue
elements, and allows the Company to use a combination of internal and external objective and reliable evidence to develop management's best estimate of the fair
value of the contract elements. If the arrangement contains a lease, the Company uses the existing evidence of fair value to separate the lease from the other
elements in the arrangement. The arrangement's consideration that is fixed or determinable is then allocated to each separate unit of accounting based on the
estimated relative selling price of each deliverable, which is determined based on the historical data derived from the Company's stand-alone projects. The revenue
allocated to the construction of the station is recognized using the completed-contract method. The revenue allocated to the O&M services is recognized ratably
over the term of the arrangement and sale of fuel is recognized as the fuel is delivered.
The Company collects and remits taxes assessed by various governmental authorities that are imposed on and concurrent with revenue-producing
transactions between the Company and our customers. These taxes may include, but are not limited to, fuel, sales and value-added taxes. The Company reports the
collection of these taxes on a net basis.
The Company is eligible to receive, at times, a federal alternative fuels tax credit ("VETC") when a gasoline gallon equivalent of CNG and a liquid gallon
of LNG is sold as vehicle fuel. Based on the service relationship with its customers, either the Company or its customers claims the credit. The Company records
its VETC credits, if any, as revenue in its consolidated statements of operations as the credits are fully refundable and do not need to offset income tax liabilities to
be received. See the discussion under “Alternative Fuels Excise Tax Credit” below for further information.
The Company previously owned BAF Technologies, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, ServoTech Engineering, Inc. (BAF Technologies, Inc. and
ServoTech Engineering Inc. are collectively referred to as "BAF"), which converted light and medium duty vehicles to run on natural gas and provided design and
engineering services for natural gas
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engine systems. On June 28, 2013, the Company sold BAF to Westport Innovations (U.S.) Holdings Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Westport Innovations Inc.
As of the sale of BAF, the Company no longer generates revenues from vehicle conversions.
Alternative Fuels Excise Tax Credit
From October 1, 2006 through December 31, 2015, the Company was eligible to receive the VETC alternative fuels tax credit of $0.50 per gasoline gallon
equivalent of CNG and $0.50 per liquid gallon of LNG that it sold as vehicle fuel. For 2016, the VETC credit is $0.50 per gasoline gallon equivalent of CNG and
$0.50 per diesel gallon equivalent of LNG that is sold as a vehicle fuel. The American Taxpayer Relief Act, signed into law on January 2, 2013, reinstated VETC
for 2013 and made it retroactive to January 1, 2012. The Company did not record any VETC revenues in 2012, but recognized VETC revenues in 2013 of $45,439
, which included $20,800 for CNG and LNG the Company sold in 2012. The Tax Increase Prevention Act, signed into law on December 19, 2014, reinstated
VETC for the 2014 calendar year and made it retroactive to January 1, 2014. As a result, VETC revenues for the 2014 calendar year, totaling $28,359 , were all
recognized in December 2014. In December 2015, the VETC was extended through December 31, 2016 and made retroactive to January 1, 2015. As a result,
VETC revenues for the 2015 calendar year, totaling $30,986 , were recognized in December 2015.
LNG Transportation Costs
The Company records the costs incurred to transport LNG to its customers in the line item cost of sales in the accompanying statements of operations.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs amounted to $1,391 , $439 , and $44 for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 , and 2015
respectively.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock‑based payment arrangements, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, over the requisite service
period of the award. For stock options, the Company determines the grant date fair value using the Black‑Scholes option pricing model, which requires the input of
certain assumptions, including the expected life of the stock‑based payment awards, stock price volatility and risk‑free interest rates. For restricted stock units, the
Company determines the grant date fair value based on the closing market price of its common stock on the date of grant.
Foreign Currency Translation
In accordance with FASB authoritative guidance, the Company uses the local currency as the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries. Accordingly, all
assets and liabilities outside the United States are translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expense items
are translated at the weighted-average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Net foreign currency translation adjustments are recorded as accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders' equity.
Foreign currency transactions occur when there is a transaction denominated in other than the respective entity's functional currency. The Company records
the changes in the exchange rate for these transactions in the consolidated statements of operations. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 , and
2015 , foreign exchange transaction gains and (losses) were included in other income (expense) and were $(1,196) , $(3,188) , and $975 respectively.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized by applying enacted statutory tax
rates applicable to future years to differences between the tax bases and financial carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are
established when it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The Company has a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by taxing
authorities based on the technical merits of the
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position. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. The Company recognizes potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefit in income tax expense.
Net Loss Per Share
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp. by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding and common shares issuable for little or no cash consideration during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss
attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp. by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding and common shares issuable for little or no cash
consideration and potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive securities include stock options, warrants, convertible notes and
restricted stock units. The dilutive effect of stock options and warrants is computed under the treasury stock method. The dilutive effect of convertible notes and
restricted stock units is computed under the if-converted method. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computations of diluted net loss per share if
their effect would be antidilutive. In 2013, 5,000,000 shares of common stock subject to the GE Warrant, as defined and described in notes 9 and 11 , were
included in the basic and dilutive net loss per share calculation. On September 11, 2014, the Company determined it no longer met certain conditions required to
include 4,000,000 of the shares of common stock subject to the GE Warrant in its weighted average share calculations. As a result, from September 11, 2014 to
December 31, 2015 the Company (i) excluded 4,000,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the GE Warrant from the weighted average number of
shares outstanding in the basic and diluted net loss per share calculations, and (ii) included the remaining 1,000,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of the GE Warrant in the basic and diluted net loss per share calculations, as 500,000 shares were exercisable in 2012 upon the execution of the associated Credit
Agreement, as defined and described in note 9 , and an additional 500,000 shares became exercisable on December 31, 2014 in connection with an amendment to
the Credit Agreement executed on December 29, 2014. On December 31, 2015, the Company terminated the Credit Agreement and as a result, 4,000,000 shares
subject to the GE Warrant will not vest and will not become exercisable.
The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the diluted net loss per share calculations because their effect would have been
antidilutive:

Stock options
Warrants
Convertibles notes
Restricted stock units

2013

2014

2015

11,526,998

11,486,301

11,487,938

2,130,682

6,130,682

2,130,682

35,185,979

35,185,979

35,185,979

1,590,836

2,591,752

3,419,776

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity (net assets) of a business enterprise during the period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources. The difference between net income and comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 , and
2015 was primarily comprised of the Company's foreign currency translation adjustments. During 2014, the Company converted a long-term equity intra-entity
investment to equity and the related translation adjustments were reclassified to additional paid-in capital.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Credit is extended to all customers based on financial condition, and collateral is generally not required. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade
receivables are limited because of the large number of customers comprising the Company's customer base and dispersion across many different industries and
geographies. However, certain international customers have historically been slower to pay on trade receivables. Accordingly, the Company continuously monitors
collections and payments from its customers and maintains a provision for estimated credit losses based upon its historical experience and any specific customer
collection issues that it has identified. In addition, through Export Development Canada, Clean Energy Compression maintains accounts receivable insurance on a
substantial portion of its foreign trade receivables, which covers up to 90% of the related outstanding balance. Although credit losses have historically been within
the Company's expectations and the provisions established, the Company cannot guarantee that it will continue to experience the same credit loss rates that it has in
the past.
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The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with high credit quality financial institutions. At times, such investments may be in excess of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC"), Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation ("CDIC"), and other foreign insurance limits. Financial instruments that
potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash deposits. The amounts in excess of FDIC insurance limits were $88,740
and $40,691 as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , respectively.
Recently Adopted Accounting Changes and Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-02, Leases . The new standard
will require most leases to be recognized on the balance sheet which will increase reported assets and liabilities. Lessor accounting remains substantially similar to
current guidance. The new standard is effective for annual and interim periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, which for the Company is the
first quarter of fiscal 2019 and mandates a modified retrospective transition method. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities . The new standard
requires equity investments to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income, simplifies the impairment assessment of equity
investments without readily determinable fair values, eliminates the requirement to disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value,
requires use of the exit price notion when measuring fair value, requires separate presentation in certain financial statements, and requires an evaluation of the need
for a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset related to available-for-sale securities. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2017, which for the Company is the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes , which amends existing guidance on income taxes to
require the classification of all deferred tax assets and liabilities as non-current on the balance sheet. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption permitted and the guidance may be applied either prospectively or
retrospectively. The Company has adopted this standard, which did not have a material impact on our financial statements, in our December 31, 2015 financial
statements on a prospective basis.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory , changing the measurement principle for inventory from the
lower of cost or market to the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business,
less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. The Company adopted this standard early to apply to the annual period ended
December 31, 2015 and prospective annual periods, and it did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements for its fiscal year ended December
31, 2015.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-3, Interest - Imputation of Interest , requiring that debt issuance costs be presented in the balance sheet as
a deduction from the carrying amount of the related liability, rather than as a deferred charge. The updated guidance is effective retroactively for financial
statements covering fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, and interim periods within those fiscal years, which for the Company is the first quarter of
fiscal 2016. Early adoption was permitted but the Company did not elect early adoption. As of December 31, 2015, the Company has $4,023 of unamortized debt
issuance costs.
In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers , Deferral of the Effective Date.” With the issuance of ASU
2015-14, the new revenue guidance ASU 2014-09 will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 15 December 2017, including interim reporting
periods within that reporting period, which for the Company is the first quarter of fiscal 2018, using one of two prescribed retrospective methods. The Company is
currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Company has not yet selected a
transition method, nor has it determined the effect of the standard on its ongoing financial reporting.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-9, Revenue from Contracts with Customers , amending revenue recognition guidance and requiring more
detailed disclosures to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature,
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amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will
have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, to communicate amendments to FASB Accounting Standards Codification Subtopic 205-40, "
Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern ." The ASU requires management to evaluate relevant conditions, events and
certain management plans that are known or reasonably knowable as of the evaluation date when determining whether substantial doubt about an entity's ability to
continue as a going concern exists. Management will be required to make this evaluation for both annual and interim reporting periods. Management will need to
make certain disclosures if it concludes that substantial doubt exists or when it plans to alleviate substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going
concern. The standard is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016 and for interim reporting periods starting in the first quarter of 2017. Early
adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of the guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements
(2) Acquisitions and Divestitures
BAF
On June 28, 2013, the Company, entered into and closed a stock purchase agreement (the "BAF Sale Agreement") with Westport Innovations Inc.
("Westport") and Westport Innovations (U.S.) Holdings Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Westport (together with Westport, the "Westport Parties"). Under the
terms of the BAF Sale Agreement, on June 28, 2013, the Westport Parties purchased all of the outstanding capital stock of BAF Technologies, Inc. ("BAF"),
including BAF's 100% ownership interest of ServoTech Engineering, Inc., for 816,460 shares of Westport's common stock. Pursuant to the BAF Sale Agreement,
the Company was issued 718,485 shares of Westport's common stock on June 28, 2013 and 97,975 shares of Westport's common stock (the "Holdback Shares")
were retained by Westport for one year as security for the Company's indemnification obligations under the BAF Sale Agreement. At the end of June 2014, the
Company was issued 94,914 of the Holdback Shares, with the remaining 3,061 Holdback Shares remaining unissued as a result and in full satisfaction of an
indemnity claim under the BAF Sale Agreement. In July 2013, the Company sold the 718,485 shares it received upon closing for net proceeds of $23,722 . In July
2014, the Company sold all of the Holdback Shares it received for net proceeds of $1,727 . Further, during August 2013, the Westport Parties repaid $2,478 of
certain intercompany indebtedness of BAF to the Company following the conclusion of applicable post-closing adjustment procedures contemplated in the BAF
Sale Agreement.
The fair value of the 816,460 shares of Westport's common stock on June 28, 2013 was $27,221 , and the Company recognized an initial gain of $15,498 on
June 28, 2013 related to the transaction. In December 2013, the Company wrote down the value of the Holdback Shares by $1,383 , which resulted in an adjusted
gain of $14,115 on the transaction. In July 2014, the Company wrote down the value of the Holdback Shares by an additional $122 , which resulted in an adjusted
gain of $13,993 on the transaction. The value of the shares of Westport's common stock received by the Company has been excluded from the Company's
consolidated statements of cash flows as it is a non-cash investing activity. The gain was recorded in the line item gain from sale of subsidiary in the Company's
consolidated statements of operations.
In addition, pursuant to the BAF Sale Agreement, the Company, Westport Power Inc. and Westport Fuel Systems Inc. (Westport Power, Inc. and Westport
Fuel Systems, Inc. are collectively referred to as the "Westport Affiliates") entered into a marketing agreement, dated June 28, 2013, whereby the Westport
Affiliates agreed to pay the Company $5,000 in cash, which was received on February 27, 2014. Under the marketing agreement, the Company and the Westport
Affiliates agreed to collaborate during a two year period to encourage sales of all BAF products and certain vehicle products offered by the Westport Affiliates, and
the Company agreed to provide 750,000 complimentary gasoline gallon equivalents of CNG to be used by the Westport Affiliates as marketing incentives.
Additionally, the marketing agreement provides for the Company's appointment of a product line manager for BAF, and at least one member of a newly
established operating committee formed to create sales and marketing strategies for BAF and assist in BAF's performance of these strategies.
MGES
On May 6, 2013, the Company entered into and closed a stock purchase agreement with Mansfield Energy Corp. ("Mansfield") and its wholly owned
subsidiary Mansfield Gas Equipment Systems Corporation ("MGES"). MGES is primarily engaged in the business of providing CNG station design and
construction and CNG equipment repair and maintenance services. Under the terms of the stock purchase agreement, the Company purchased from Mansfield all
of the outstanding
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capital stock of MGES for $20,000 , payable 50% in cash and 50% in shares of the Company's common stock. Upon closing, the Company delivered $9,000 in
cash and 761,545 shares of the Company's common stock, and retained $1,000 in cash as security for Mansfield's indemnification obligations under the stock
purchase agreement. On the first anniversary of the closing date, the Company delivered the retained amount of $1,000 to Mansfield. In addition, in August 2013,
the Company paid Mansfield an additional $563 following the conclusion of applicable post-closing adjustment procedures contemplated by the stock purchase
agreement. The fair value of the Company's common stock delivered to Mansfield is excluded from the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows as it is a
non-cash investing activity. The Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement covering the resale of such shares, and the
registration statement was declared effective in August 2013.
The Company accounted for this acquisition in accordance with FASB authoritative guidance for business combinations, which requires the Company to
recognize the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, measured at their fair values, as of the date of acquisition. The following table summarizes the allocation
of the aggregate purchase price to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Current assets

$

Property, plant and equipment

4,475
1,369

Identifiable intangible assets

600

Goodwill

16,555

Total assets acquired

22,999

Current liabilities assumed

(1,984)
$

Total purchase price

21,015

Management allocated approximately $600 of the purchase price to the identifiable intangible assets related to customer relationships and project back-orders
that were acquired with the acquisition. The fair value of the identifiable intangible assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of such assets ranging from one to six years . The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired was allocated to goodwill, which primarily
represents additional market share available to the Company as a result of the acquisition, and is fully deductible for income tax purposes.
The results of operations of MGES have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements since May 6, 2013. The historical results of
MGES's operations were not material to the Company's financial position or historical results of operations.
NG Advantage
On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into a Common Unit Purchase Agreement ("UPA") with NG Advantage, LLC ("NG Advantage"). NG
Advantage is engaged in the business of transporting CNG in high-capacity trailers to large industrial and institutional energy users, such as hospitals, food
processors, manufacturers and paper mills, which do not have direct access to natural gas pipelines. The Company viewed the acquisition as a strategic investment
in the expansion of the Company's initiative to deliver natural gas to industrial and institutional energy users. Under the terms of the UPA, the Company paid NG
Advantage $37,650 for a 53.3% controlling interest in NG Advantage. $19,000 of the purchase price was paid in cash on October 14, 2014 and the remaining
$18,650 of the purchase price was paid in the form of an unsecured promissory note issued by the Company (the "NG Advantage Note"). The principal amount of
the NG Advantage Note was paid by the Company in two payments as follows: (i) $3,000 was paid on January 13, 2015 and (ii) the remaining $15,650 was paid
on April 1, 2015. The NG Advantage Note did not bear interest. The fair value of the NG Advantage Note delivered to NG Advantage is excluded from the
Company's consolidated statements of cash flows as it is a non-cash investing activity. The consideration paid is accounted for as an intercompany transaction, as
NG Advantage's financial results are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements.
The Company recognized the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, measured at their fair values, as of the date of acquisition. The following table
summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
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Current assets

$

Property, plant and equipment

40,558
20,862

Other long-term assets

5,115

Identifiable intangible assets

5,600

Goodwill

21,070

Total assets acquired

93,205

Current liabilities assumed

(9,165)

Long-term debt including capital leases assumed, excluding current installments

(17,604)

Other liabilities

(711)

Noncontrolling interest

(28,075)
$

Total purchase price

37,650

In connection with its purchase of a controlling interest in NG Advantage, the Company assumed debt of $20,439 on a consolidated basis related to
purchases of capital assets and working capital needs. Immediately after the Company's purchase of the controlling interest, $10,361 of such debt was paid with
proceeds of the Company's investment in NG Advantage, and the related debt instruments were canceled.
Management allocated approximately $5,600 of the purchase price to the identifiable intangible assets related to customer relationships and trade names that
were acquired with the acquisition. The fair value of the identifiable intangible assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
such assets ranging from four to seven years . The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired was allocated to goodwill, which primarily
represents additional market share available to the Company as a result of the acquisition, and is not deductible for income tax purposes.
Management determined the fair value of the noncontrolling interest to be $28,075 using a market approach and using inputs that included use of a
comparable transaction to calculate the value of the noncontrolling interest adjusted for a control premium.
The results of NG Advantage's operations have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements since October 14, 2014. The historical
results of NG Advantage's operations were not material to the Company's financial position or historical results of operations.
DCE and DCEMB
On September 4, 2014, Mavrix, LLC ("Mavrix"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, sold to Cambrian Energy McCommas Bluff III LLC
("Cambrian") 19% of its then- 70% interest in Dallas Clean Energy, LLC ("DCE"). On December 29, 2014, Mavrix entered into a Membership Interest Purchase
Agreement (the "Agreement") with Cambrian, pursuant to which Mavrix sold to Cambrian its entire remaining 51% interest in DCE. DCE owns all of the equity
interests in Dallas Clean Energy McCommas Bluff, LLC ("DCEMB"), which owns a RNG extraction and processing project at the McCommas Bluff landfill in
Dallas, Texas. As consideration for the sale of DCE, the Company, through Mavrix, received $6,992 in cash in September 2014, $40,588 in cash in December 2014
and $1,118 in cash in September 2015 due to the results of certain performance tests performed at the McCommas Bluffs project in accordance with the terms of
the Agreement. The Company continues to have the right to market and sell biomethane produced at the McCommas Bluff project under its Redeem™ renewable
natural gas vehicle fuel brand. The transaction resulted in a total gain of $12,935 , comprised of $11,998 and $937 that was recorded in the line item gain from the
sale of subsidiary in the Company's statements of operations for 2014 and 2015, respectively. Included in the determination of the total gain is goodwill of $7,386
that was allocated to the disposed business based on the relative fair values of the business disposed and the portion of the reporting unit that was retained.
The Company determined that the disposal did not meet the definition of a discontinued operation as the disposal did not represent a significant disposal nor
was the disposal a strategic shift in the Company's strategy.
(3) Restricted Cash
61

Table of Contents
CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

The Company classifies restricted cash as short-term and a current asset if the cash is expected to be used in operations within a year or to acquire a current
asset. Otherwise, the restricted cash is classified as long-term. Restricted cash consisted of the following as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 :

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2015

Short-term restricted cash:
Standby letters of credit

$

Canton Bonds (see note 9)

1,753

$

4,259
$

Total short-term restricted cash

6,012

1,631
2,609

$

4,240

(4) Investments
Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value, inclusive of unrealized gains and losses. Unrealized gains and losses are included in other
comprehensive income (loss) net of applicable income taxes. Gains or losses on sales of available-for-sale investments are recognized on the specific identification
basis. All of the Company's short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale securities.
The Company reviews available-for-sale investments for other- than-temporary declines in fair value below their cost basis each quarter and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the cost basis of an asset may not be recoverable. This evaluation is based on a number of factors, including the
length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been below its cost basis and adverse conditions related specifically to the security, including any changes
to the credit rating of the security. As of December 31, 2015 , the Company believes its carrying values for its available-for-sale investments are properly recorded.
Short-term investments as of December 31, 2014 are summarized as follows:
Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Amortized
Cost

Municipal bonds & notes

$

Zero coupon bonds

38,668

$

Estimated
Fair Value

(16)

$

38,652

3,308

(2)

3,306

Corporate bonds

45,274

(41)

45,233

Certificate of deposits

35,355

—

35,355

$

Total short-term investments

122,605

$

(59)

$

122,546

Short-term investments as of December 31, 2015 are summarized as follows:
Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Amortized
Cost

Municipal bonds & notes

$

Zero coupon bonds
Corporate bonds
Certificate of deposits

16,797

$

Total short-term investments
(5) Other Receivables
Other receivables at December 31, 2014 and 2015 consisted of the following:
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(7)

$

16,790

500

(1)

499

37,181

(77)

37,104

48,551
$

Estimated
Fair Value

103,029

—
$

(85)

48,551
$

102,944
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2014

Loans to customers to finance vehicle purchases

2015

$

8,257

$

10,531

Accrued customer billings

10,143

7,106

Fuel tax and carbon credits

34,250

40,730

3,573

2,300

Other
$

56,223

$

60,667

(6) Land, Property and Equipment
Land, property and equipment at December 31, 2014 and 2015 are summarized as follows:

2014

Land

$

LNG liquefaction plants

2015

2,858

$

94,636

RNG plants

2,858
94,634

45,359

46,397

265,086

316,258

LNG trailers

40,067

50,414

Other equipment

74,796

83,687

163,737

139,586

Station equipment

Construction in progress
Less accumulated depreciation
$

686,539

733,834

(172,270)

(217,510)

514,269

$

516,324

Included in the land, property and equipment are capitalized software costs of $21,004 and $22,886 as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015 ,
respectively. The accumulated amortization on the capitalized software costs is $10,740 and $13,793 as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015 ,
respectively. The Company recorded $3,079 , $2,993 , and $3,053 of amortization expense related to the capitalized software costs in 2013 , 2014 and 2015 ,
respectively.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , $11,032 and $5,955 , respectively, are included in accounts payable balances, which amounts are related to purchases of
property and equipment within the respective year. These amounts are excluded from the consolidated statements of cash flows as they are non-cash investing
activities.
(7) Investment in Other Entities
The Company previously invested in Clean Energy del Peru ("Peru JV"), a joint venture in Peru that operated CNG stations. The Company accounted for its
investment in Peru JV under the equity method of accounting as the Company had the ability to exercise significant influence over Peru JV's operations while the
Company maintained an ownership interest in Peru JV. In March 2013, the Company completed the sale of its entire ownership interest in Peru JV for $6,119 after
receiving a dividend distribution of $1,091 , and recognized a gain of $4,705 .
On September 16, 2014, the Company formed a joint venture with Mansfield Ventures LLC (“Mansfield Ventures”) called Mansfield Clean Energy
Partners LLC ("MCEP"), which is designed to provide natural gas fueling solutions to bulk fuel haulers in the U.S. The Company and Mansfield Ventures each
have a 50% ownership interest in MCEP. The Company accounts for its interest using the equity method of accounting as the Company has the ability to exercise
significant influence over MCEP's operations. The Company recorded a loss from this investment of $490 and $815 has an investment balance of $5,510 and
$4,695 at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
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(8) Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2014 and 2015 consisted of the following:
2014

Salaries and wages

2015

$

9,041

Accrued gas and equipment purchases

$

9,537

12,340

14,133

Accrued property and other taxes

5,178

5,344

Accrued professional fees

1,084

1,105

Accrued employee benefits

3,208

3,042

Accrued warranty liability

2,302

1,826

Accrued interest

3,748

3,718

Other

19,859
$

56,760

20,377
$

59,082

( 9 ) Debt
Debt and capital lease obligations at December 31, 2014 and 2015 consisted of the following and are further discussed below:

December 31, 2014

7.5% Notes(1)

$

December 31, 2015

150,000

$

150,000

SLG Notes

145,000

145,000

5.25% Notes

250,000

250,000

Canton Bonds

12,150

10,910

Capital lease obligations
Other debt
Total debt and capital lease obligations

2,692

6,448

10,828

10,056

570,670

Less amounts due within one year

572,414

(4,846)
$

Total long-term debt and capital lease obligations

565,824

(150,129)
$

422,285

(1) Included in the 7.5% Notes is $65,000 in principal amount held by T. Boone Pickens, which are classified as “Long-term debt, related party” on the
consolidated balance sheets. See below for additional information.
The following is a summary of aggregate maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations for each of the years ending December 31:

2016

7.5% Notes(1)

2017

2018

2019

2020

Thereafter

—

—

50,000

50,000

50,000

—

145,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

250,000

—

—

—

Canton Bonds

1,390

1,420

1,460

1,555

1,665

3,420

Capital lease obligations
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7.5% Notes
On July 11, 2011, the Company entered into a loan agreement (the "CHK Agreement") with Chesapeake NG Ventures Corporation ("Chesapeake"), an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake Energy Corporation, whereby Chesapeake agreed to purchase from the Company up to $150,000 of debt
securities pursuant to the issuance of three convertible promissory notes over a three -year period, each having a principal amount of $50,000 (each a "CHK Note"
and collectively the "CHK Notes" and, together with the CHK Agreement and other transaction documents, the "CHK Loan Documents"). The first CHK Note was
issued on July 11, 2011 and the second CHK Note was issued on July 10, 2012.
On June 14, 2013 (the "Transfer Date"), Boone Pickens and Green Energy Investment Holdings, LLC, an affiliate of Leonard Green & Partners, L.P.
(collectively, the "Buyers"), and Chesapeake entered into a note purchase agreement ("Note Purchase Agreement") pursuant to which Chesapeake sold the
outstanding CHK Notes (the "Sale") to the Buyers. Chesapeake assigned to the Buyers all of its right, title and interest under the CHK Loan Documents (the
"Assignment"), and each Buyer severally assumed all of the obligations of Chesapeake under the CHK Loan Documents arising after the Sale and the Assignment
including, without limitation, the obligation to advance an additional $50,000 to the Company in June 2013 (the "Assumption"). The Company also entered into the
Note Purchase Agreement for the purpose of consenting to the Sale, the Assignment and the Assumption.
Contemporaneously with the execution of the Note Purchase Agreement, the Company entered into a loan agreement with each Buyer (collectively, the
"Amended Agreements"). The Amended Agreements have the same terms as the CHK Agreement, other than changes to reflect the new ownership of the CHK
Notes. Immediately following execution of the Amended Agreements, the Buyers delivered $50,000 to the Company in satisfaction of the funding requirement
they had assumed from Chesapeake (the "June Advance"). In addition, the Company canceled the existing CHK Notes and issued replacement notes, and the
Company also issued notes to the Buyers in exchange for the June Advance (the replacement notes and the notes issued in exchange for the June Advance are
referred to herein as the "7.5% Notes").
The 7.5% Notes have the same terms as the original CHK Notes, other than changes to reflect their different holders. They bear interest at the rate of 7.5%
per annum and are convertible at the option of the holder into shares of the Company's common stock at a conversion price of $15.80 per share (the "7.5% Notes
Conversion Price"). Upon written notice to the Company, the holders of the 7.5% Notes have the right to exchange all or any portion of the principal and accrued
and unpaid interest under each such note for shares of the Company's common stock at the 7.5% Notes Conversion Price. Additionally, subject to certain
restrictions, the Company can force conversion of each 7.5% Note into shares of its common stock if, following the second anniversary of the issuance of a 7.5%
Note, such shares trade at a 40% premium to the 7.5% Notes Conversion Price for at least 20 trading days in any consecutive 30 trading day period. The entire
principal balance of each 7.5% Note is due and payable seven years following its original issuance date and the Company may repay each 7.5% Note in shares of
its common stock or cash. All of the shares issuable upon conversion of the 7.5% Notes have been registered for resale by their holders pursuant to a registration
statement that has been filed with and declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Amended Agreements restrict the use of the proceeds of
the 7.5% Notes to financing the development, construction and operation of LNG stations and payment of certain related expenses. The Amended Agreements also
provide for customary events of default which, if any of them occurs, would permit or require the principal of, and accrued interest on, the 7.5% Notes to become,
or to be declared, due and payable. At December 31, 2015 , none of the proceeds from the 7.5% Notes were included in restricted cash as the Company had used
the funds primarily to build LNG fueling stations. No events of default under the 7.5% Notes had occurred as of December 31, 2015.
On August 27, 2013, Green Energy Investment Holdings, LLC transferred $5,000 in principal amount of the 7.5% Notes to certain third parties.
As a result of the foregoing transactions, as of December 31, 2015, (i) Boone Pickens holds 7.5% Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $65,000 , which
7.5% Notes are convertible into approximately 4,113,924 shares of the Company's common stock, (ii) Green Energy Investment Holdings, LLC holds 7.5% Notes
in the aggregate principal amount of $80,000 , which 7.5% Notes are convertible into approximately 5,063,291 shares of the Company's common stock, and (iii)
other third parties hold 7.5% Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $5,000 , which 7.5% Notes are convertible into approximately 316,456 shares of the
Company's common stock.
SLG Notes
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On August 24, 2011, the Company entered into convertible note purchase agreements (each, an "SLG Agreement" and collectively the "SLG Agreements")
with each of Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Temasek Holdings Pte. Ltd., Lionfish Investments Pte. Ltd., an investment vehicle
managed by Seatown Holdings International Pte. Ltd., and Greenwich Asset Holding Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of RRJ Capital Master Fund I, L.P. (each, a
"Purchaser" and collectively, the "Purchasers"), whereby the Purchasers agreed to purchase from the Company $150,000 of 7.5% convertible promissory notes due
in August 2016 (each a "SLG Note" and collectively the "SLG Notes"). The transaction closed and the SLG Notes were issued on August 30, 2011. On March 1,
2012, Springleaf Investments Pte. LTD transferred $24,000 in principal amount of the SLG Notes to Baytree Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd.
The SLG Notes bear interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum and are convertible at the option of each Purchaser into shares of the Company's common stock at
a conversion price of $15.00 per share (the "SLG Conversion Price"). Upon written notice to the Company, the holders of the SLG Notes have the right to
exchange all or any portion of the principal and accrued and unpaid interest under each such note for shares of the Company's common stock at the SLG
Conversion Price. Additionally, subject to certain restrictions, the Company can force conversion of each SLG Note into shares of its common stock if, following
the second anniversary of the issuance of the SLG Notes, such shares trade at a 40% premium to the SLG Conversion Price for at least 20 trading days in any
consecutive 30 trading day period. The entire principal balance of each SLG Note is due and payable five years following its issuance and the Company may repay
the principal balance of each SLG Note in shares of its common stock or cash. All of the shares issuable upon conversion of the SLG Notes have been registered
for resale by their holders pursuant to a registration statement that has been filed with and declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The SLG
Agreements include certain affirmative and negative covenants relating to the Company’s operations, including, among others, a prohibition on the Company’s
declaration or payment of any dividends or distributions with respect to its capital stock, except for those payable solely with the Company’s common stock,
without the prior consent of a majority of the holders of the outstanding SLG Notes. The SLG Agreements also provide for customary events of default which, if
any of them occurs, would permit or require the principal of, and accrued interest on, the SLG Notes to become, or to be declared, due and payable. No events of
default under the SLG Notes had occurred as of December 31, 2015.
In April 2012, $1,003 of principal and accrued interest under an SLG Note was converted by the holder thereof into 66,888 shares of the Company's common
stock. In January and February 2013, $4,030 of principal and accrued interest under an SLG Note was converted by the holder thereof into 268,664 shares of the
Company's common stock. Such conversions were not included in the consolidated statements of cash flows as they are a non-cash financing activity.
On February 29, 2016, the Company repaid $60,000 in cash of the $145,000 outstanding principal amount of the SLG Notes.
5.25% Notes
In September 2013, the Company completed a private offering of 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018 (the "5.25% Notes") and entered into an
indenture governing the 5.25% Notes (the "Indenture").
The net proceeds from the sale of the 5.25% Notes after the payment of certain debt issuance costs of $7,805 were $242,195 . The Company has used, and
intends to continue to use, the net proceeds from the sale of the 5.25% Notes to fund capital expenditures and for general corporate purposes.
The 5.25% Notes bear interest at a rate of 5.25% per annum, payable semi- annually in arrears on October 1 and April 1 of each year, beginning on April 1,
2014. The 5.25% Notes will mature on October 1, 2018, unless purchased, redeemed or converted prior to such date in accordance with their terms and the terms of
the Indenture.
Holders may convert their 5.25% Notes, at their option, at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the maturity
date of the 5.25% Notes. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver a number of shares of its common stock, per $1 principal amount of 5.25% Notes, equal to
the conversion rate then in effect (together with a cash payment in lieu of any fractional shares). The initial conversion rate for the 5.25% Notes is 64.1026 shares
of the Company's common stock per $1 principal amount of 5.25% Notes (which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $15.60 per share of
the Company's common stock). The conversion rate is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain specified events as described in the Indenture.
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Upon the occurrence of certain corporate events prior to the maturity date of the 5.25% Notes, the Company will, in certain circumstances, in addition to
delivering the number of shares of the Company's common stock deliverable upon conversion of the 5.25% Notes based on the conversion rate then in effect
(together with a cash payment in lieu of any fractional shares), pay holders that convert their 5.25% Notes a cash make-whole payment in an amount as described
in the Indenture. The Company may, at its option, irrevocably elect to settle its obligation to pay any such make-whole payment in shares of its common stock
instead of in cash. The amount of any make-whole payment, whether it is settled in cash or in shares of the Company's common stock upon the Company's
election, will be determined based on the date on which the corporate event occurs or becomes effective and the stock price paid (or deemed to be paid) per share
of the Company's common stock in the corporate event, as described in the Indenture.
The Company may not redeem the 5.25% Notes prior to October 5, 2016. On or after October 5, 2016, the Company may, at its option, redeem for cash all or
any portion of the 5.25% Notes if the closing sale price of the Company's common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30
consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which notice of redemption is provided, exceeds 160%
of the conversion price on each applicable trading day. In the event of the Company's redemption of the 5.25% Notes, the redemption price will equal 100% of the
principal amount of the 5.25% Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. No sinking fund is provided for in
the 5.25% Notes.
If the Company undergoes a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture) prior to the maturity date of the 5.25% Notes, subject to certain conditions as
described in the Indenture, holders may require the Company to purchase, for cash, all or any portion of their 5.25% Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the 5.25% Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change purchase date.
The Indenture contains customary events of default with customary cure periods, including, without limitation, failure to make required payments or
deliveries of shares of the Company’s common stock when due under the Indenture, failure to comply with certain covenants under the Indenture, failure to pay
when due or acceleration of certain other indebtedness of the Company or certain of its subsidiaries, and certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency of the
Company or certain of its subsidiaries. The occurrence of an event of default under the Indenture will allow either the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in
principal amount of the then-outstanding 5.25% Notes to accelerate, or upon an event of default arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency of the
Company, will automatically cause the acceleration of, all amounts due under the 5.25% Notes. No events of default had occurred under the 5.25% Notes as of
December 31, 2015 .
The 5.25% Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank senior in right of payment to the Company's future indebtedness that is
expressly subordinated in right of payment to the 5.25% Notes; equal in right of payment to the Company's unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated;
effectively junior to any of the Company's secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all
indebtedness (including trade payables) of the Company's subsidiaries.
On February 18, 2016, the Company paid $16,761 in cash to retire $32,500 par value and accrued interest of the $250,000 of the 5.25% Notes.
Canton Bonds
On March 19, 2014, Canton Renewables LLC ("Canton"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the issuance of Solid Waste Facility
Limited Obligation Revenue Bonds (Canton Renewables, LLC—Sauk Trail Hills Project) Series 2014 in the aggregate principal amount of $12,400 (the "Canton
Bonds").
The Canton Bonds were issued by the Michigan Strategic Fund (the "Issuer") and the proceeds of the issuance were loaned by the Issuer to Canton pursuant
to a loan agreement that became effective on March 19, 2014 (the "Loan Agreement"). The Canton Bonds are expected to be repaid from revenue generated by
Canton from the sale of RNG and are secured by the revenue and assets of Canton. The Canton Bond repayments will be amortized through July 1, 2022, the
average coupon interest rate on the Canton Bonds is 6.6% , and all but $1,000 of the principal amount of the Canton Bonds is non-recourse to Canton's parent
companies, including the Company.
Canton used the Canton Bond proceeds primarily to (i) refinance the cost of constructing and equipping its RNG extraction and production project in Canton,
Michigan and (ii) pay a portion of the costs associated with the issuance of the
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Canton Bonds. The refinancing described in the prior sentence was accomplished through distributions to the Borrower's direct and indirect parent companies who
provided the financing for the RNG production facility, and such companies have used such distributions to finance construction of additional RNG extraction and
processing projects and for working capital purposes.
The Loan Agreement contains customary events of default, with customary cure periods, including without limitation, failure to make required payments
when due under the Loan Agreement, failure to comply with certain covenants under the Loan Agreement, certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency of Canton,
and the existence of an event of default under the indenture governing the Canton Bonds that was entered into between the Issuer and The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. The occurrence of an event of default under the Loan Agreement will allow the Issuer or the trustee to accelerate all
amounts due under the Loan Agreement. No events of default had occurred as of December 31, 2015 .
Other Debt
The Company has other debt due at various dates through 2020 bearing interest at rates up to 19.33% and with a weighted average interest rate of 6.80% and
6.35% as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , respectively.
December 2015 Termination of GE Credit Agreement
On November 7, 2012, the Company, through two wholly owned subsidiaries (the "Borrowers"), entered into a credit agreement ("Credit Agreement") with
General Electric Capital Corporation ("GE"). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, GE agreed to loan to the Borrowers up to an aggregate of $200,000 to finance the
development, construction and operation of two LNG plants (individually a "Project" and together the "Projects").
The Credit Agreement included a commitment fee on the unutilized loan amounts of 0.5% per annum, which was $1,014 for each of the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2014 and 2015 and was charged to interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
Concurrently with the execution of the Credit Agreement, the Company issued to GE a warrant to purchase up to 5,000,000 shares of its common stock at a
price of $0.01 per share (the "GE Warrant"). See note 11 for further information.
On December 29, 2014, the Borrowers and GE entered into an amendment to the Credit Agreement providing, among other things, that (i) the Credit
Agreement would terminate if the initial loans under the Credit Agreement (collectively, "Loans") for the Projects were not made prior to December 31, 2016
(rather than December 31, 2015 , as the Credit Agreement originally provided), (ii) each Project was required to be completed by the earlier of (a) the date that is
thirty months after the funding of the initial Loans with respect to such Project and (b) December 31, 2018 (rather than December 31, 2016, as the Credit
Agreement originally provided), and (iii) prior to the funding of the Loans, the Borrowers were required to enter into agreements with GE Oil & Gas, Inc. relating
to the purchase of equipment for the Projects.
On December 31, 2015, the Company terminated the Credit Agreement and related documents but excluding the GE Warrant which remains outstanding,
although 4,000,000 shares subject to the GE Warrant will not vest and will not become exercisable; see note 11 for further information. No amounts had been
borrowed by the Borrowers under the Credit Agreement as of its termination. As a result of the termination of the Credit Agreement, all related unamortized
deferred financing costs that were to be amortized to interest expense in future periods have been removed from the balance sheet and a non-cash charge totaling
$54.9 million was recorded in interest expense in the fourth quarter of 2015.
December 2014 Termination of Mavrix Note
On April 25, 2013, Mavrix entered into a note purchase agreement (the “NPA”) with Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance (the “Note Purchaser”) and issued
to the Note Purchaser a secured multi draw promissory note (the “Mavrix Note”) in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $30,000 . The Note Purchaser
funded $15,000 under the Mavrix Note during 2013. In connection with the Company’s sale of its interests in DCE and DCEMB, on December 29, 2014, Mavrix
paid $13,594 to the Note Purchaser as payment in full of all outstanding indebtedness under the NPA and the Maxrix Note. Such amount includes approximately
$750 as payment of an early termination fee required pursuant to the terms of the NPA and the Mavrix Note. Concurrently with such payment, the NPA, the
Mavrix Note and all other documents related thereto were terminated in full.
PlainsCapital Bank Credit Facility
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On February 29, 2016, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (“LSA”) with PlainsCapital Bank (“Plains”), pursuant to which Plains
agreed to lend the Company up to $50,000 on a revolving basis from time to time for a term of one year (the “Credit Facility”). All amounts advanced under the
Credit Facility are due and payable on February 29, 2017. Simultaneously, the Company drew down $50,000 under this Credit Facility. The Credit Facility is
evidenced by a promissory note we issued on February 29, 2016 in favor of Plains (the “Plains Note”). Interest on the Plains Note is payable monthly and accrues
at a rate equal to the greater of (i) the then-current LIBOR rate plus 2.30% or (ii) 2.70% . As collateral security for the prompt payment in full when due of our
obligations to Plains under the LSA and the Plains Note, the Company pledged to and granted Plains a security interest in all of its right, title and interest in the
cash and corporate and municipal bonds rated AAA, AA or A by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services that the Company holds in an account at Plains. In connection
with such pledge and security interest granted under the Credit Facility, on February 29, 2016, the Company entered into a Pledged Account Agreement with
Plains and PlainsCapital Bank - Wealth Management and Trust (the “Pledge Agreement” and collectively with the LSA and the Plains Note, the “Plains Loan
Documents”).
The Plains Loan Documents include certain covenants and also provide for customary events of default, which, if any of them occurs, would permit or require,
among other things, the principal of, and accrued interest on, the Credit Facility to become, or to be declared, due and payable. Events of default under the Plains
Loan Documents include, among others, the occurrence of certain bankruptcy events, the failure to make payments when due under the Plains Note and the transfer
or disposal of the collateral under the LSA.
(10) Derivative Transactions
The Company had no commodity futures contracts or forward exchange contracts outstanding during 2015 . The Company marks -to -market its open futures
positions and forward exchange contracts at the end of each period and records the net unrealized gain or loss during the period in derivative (gains) losses in the
consolidated statements of operations or in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance sheets in accordance with the applicable
accounting guidance. In the years ended December 31, 2013 , and 2014 , the Company recorded unrealized gains of $2,151 , and $108 , respectively, in other
comprehensive income (loss) related to its futures contracts. Of the Company's net futures contracts liability of $107 at December 31, 2013 , $5 was recorded as an
asset in prepaid expenses and other current assets and $112 was recorded as an accrued liability in the Company's consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2013
. The Company's ineffectiveness related to its futures contracts and forward exchange contracts for the year ended December 31, 2013 was insignificant. During the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 , the Company recognized a loss of $2,370 and $65 , respectively, in cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations related to its futures contracts that were settled during the respective years. These amounts were reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).
(11) Stockholders' Equity
Authorized Shares
The Company's certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of two classes of capital stock designated as common stock and preferred stock, each
having $0.0001 par value per share. As of December 31, 2015 , the Company was authorized to issue 225,000,000 shares, of which 224,000,000 shares are
designated common stock and 1,000,000 shares are designated preferred stock.
Dividend Provisions
The Company did not declare or pay any dividends during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 or 2015 .
Voting Rights
Each holder of common stock has the right to one vote per share owned on matters presented for stockholder action.
Issuance of Common Stock and Warrants
Unit Sale and Issuance
On October 28, 2008, the Company entered into a placement agent agreement (the "Placement Agent Agreement") relating to the sale and issuance by the
Company to select investors of 4,419,192 units (the "Units"), with each Unit consisting
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of (i) one share of the Company's common stock, (ii) a warrant to purchase up to 0.75 shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series I Warrant"), and (iii)
one warrant to purchase up to 0.2571 shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series II Warrant"). The price of each Unit was $7.92 per Unit. The transaction
closed on November 3, 2008, and the Company issued 4,419,192 shares of common stock, Series I Warrants to purchase up to 3,314,394 shares of common stock,
and Series II Warrants to purchase up to 1,136,364 shares of common stock. The Company received approximately $32,484 after deducting the placement agent's
fees and other offering expenses related to the Unit sale. The Company allocated $19,166 , $9,745 and $3,573 of the proceeds to the common stock, the Series I
Warrants and the Series II Warrants, respectively.
The Series I Warrants became exercisable beginning six months from the date of issuance, have a term of seven years from the date they became exercisable,
and carry an exercise price of $12.54 per share. On November 10, 2010, the Company entered into an amendment with one of the holders of the Series I Warrants
pursuant to which the expiration date of such warrant for the purchase of 1,183,712 shares of common stock was changed to November 10, 2010. In consideration
of the modification to the expiration date, the Company agreed to pay the holder of such warrant approximately $3,172 . The Company received notice on
November 10, 2010 that such warrant was being exercised in full, and issued 1,183,712 shares of its common stock for an aggregate exercise price of
approximately $15,009 . Upon exercise, the Company recognized a gain of approximately $3,208 related to the transaction. For additional information on the
Series I Warrants, see note 18 .
The Series II Warrants became exercisable on November 5, 2008 upon the failure of the California Alternative Fuel Vehicles and Renewable Energy Act, or
Proposition 10, in the California statewide election. The Series II Warrants were all exercised on a cashless basis at the exercise price of $0.01 per share, which
resulted in the issuance of 1,134,759 shares of common stock to the Series II Warrant holders on November 12, 2008.
GE Warrant
Concurrently with the execution of the Credit Agreement on November 7, 2012, the Company issued to GE the GE Warrant, which entitled GE to purchase
up to 5,000,000 shares of the Company's common stock at a price per share of $0.01 . At issuance, 500,000 shares were immediately exercisable and an additional
500,000 shares became exercisable on December 31, 2014. The Company terminated the Credit Agreement on December 31, 2015 and as a result, the remaining
4,000,000 shares subject to the GE Warrant will not vest and will not become exercisable.
The GE Warrant terminates on November 7, 2022. During the exercise period, if the Company issues or sells any shares of its common stock other than
exempted securities (as defined in the GE Warrant) for a price per share less than a price equal to 80% of the market price on the day of such issuance or sale, then,
immediately after such issuance and sale, the number of shares then purchasable shall be increased on a proportionate basis by a formula set forth in the GE
Warrant. All of the shares issuable upon exercise of the GE Warrant have been registered for resale by the holder thereof pursuant to a registration statement filed
with and declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company measured the fair value of the original 5,000,000 shares subject to the GE Warrant at $56,158 and recorded the amount in additional paid-incapital and other long-term assets as a deferred financing cost. The fair value of the 500,000 shares that were immediately exercisable and the 500,000 shares that
became exercisable on December 31, 2014 were being amortized over the estimated term of the Credit Agreement on the straight-line basis. The issuance of the
GE Warrant is not included in the consolidated statements of cash flows as it is a non-cash financing activity.
In connection with the termination of the Credit Agreement, all related unamortized deferred financing costs that were to be amortized to interest expense in
future periods have been eliminated from the balance sheet in full through a non-cash charge to earnings, reported in interest expense, of $54,925 in the fourth
quarter of 2015. See note 9 for further information.
At-The-Market Offering Program
On November 11, 2015, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (“Citigroup”), as sales agent and/or
principal, pursuant to which the Company may issue and sell, from time to time, through or to Citigroup shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering
price of up to $75,000 in an “at-the-market” offering program (the “ATM Program”). As of December 31, 2015, the Company received $6,450 in proceeds, net of
$493 in fees and issuance costs, and issued 1,561,902 shares of its common stock in the ATM Program.
Other
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At December 31, 2015, third parties held outstanding warrants, which expire in 2020, to purchase equity interests in NG Advantage. Such warrants allow a
purchase up to 127,200 shares of NG Advantage common units and are treated as liability-classified warrants. The fair value was $630 and $561 as of December
31, 2014 and 2015, respectively and the gain from the change in fair value was $0 and $69 for 2014 and 2015, respectively. See note 18 .
Stock-Based Compensation
The following table summarizes the compensation expense and related income tax benefit related to the Company's stock-based compensation arrangements
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations:
Years Ended December 31,
2013

$

Stock-based compensation expense, net of $0 tax in 2013, 2014 and 2015

2014

23,008

$

2015

11,514

$

10,779

Equity Incentive Plans
In December 2002, the Company adopted its 2002 Stock Option Plan ("2002 Plan"). When the 2002 Plan was available for the issuance of new awards, the
Company's board of directors determined eligibility, vesting schedules, and exercise prices for options granted thereunder. Options generally have a term of ten
years .
Under the 2002 Plan, eligible persons could be issued options for services rendered to the Company. Under the 2002 Plan, the purchase price per share for
each option granted could not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of such option grant; provided, however, that
the purchase price per share of common stock issued to a 10% stockholder could not be less than 110% of the fair market value of the Company's common stock
on the date of such option grant. Options generally vest over a three -year period.
In December 2006, the Company adopted its 2006 Equity Incentive Plan ("2006 Plan"). The 2006 Plan was effective on May 24, 2007, the date the Company
completed its initial public offering of common stock. The 2002 Plan became unavailable for new awards upon the effectiveness of the 2006 Plan. Unissued
awards under the 2002 Plan are available for future grant under the 2006 Plan. If any outstanding option under the 2002 Plan expires or is canceled, the shares
allocable to the unexercised portion of that option will be added to the share reserve under the 2006 Plan and will be available for grant under the 2006 Plan. As of
December 31, 2015 , the Company had 19,890,500 shares approved for issuance under its option plans. At December 31, 2015 , the Company had 262,461 shares
available for future grant under the 2006 Plan.
Stock Options
The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity:
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Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Shares

Options Outstanding at December 31, 2012

12,083,677

Granted

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)

$

98,500

11.75
13.47

Exercised

(119,349)

5.24

Forfeited or Expired

(535,830)

12.64

Options Outstanding at December 31, 2013

11,526,998

Granted

$

957,000

11.79
10.23

Exercised

(468,279)

3.78

Forfeited or Expired

(529,418)

13.40

Options Outstanding at December 31, 2014
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or Expired

11,486,301

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$

1,415,200

11.91
5.39

(608,279)

2.96

(805,284)

14.04

Options Outstanding at December 31, 2015

11,487,938

$

11.44

4.93

—

Options Exercisable at December 31, 2015

9,736,608

$

12.32

4.13

—

As of December 31, 2015 , there was $4,907 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested shares underlying outstanding stock options. That
cost is expected to be expensed over a remaining weighted average period of 2.28 years. The total fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31,
2015 was $7,958 .
The intrinsic value of all stock options exercised during 2013 , 2014 and 2015 was $935 , $2,568 and $2,197 respectively.
The fair value of each stock option granted was estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and using the following
assumptions:
Years Ended December 31,
2013

2014

2015

Dividend yield

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

Expected volatility

51.0% to 55.6%

52.3% to 67.0%

59.2% to 72.0%

Risk-free interest rate

1.0% to 1.9%

1.1% to 1.8%

1.7% to 1.8%

Expected life in years

6.0

6.0

6.0

The weighted-average grant date fair values of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , were $ 6.86 , $5.32 and
$3.29 , respectively. The volatility amounts used during the periods were estimated based on the Company's historical volatility and the Company's implied
volatility of its traded options. The expected lives used during the periods were based on historical exercise periods and the Company's anticipated exercise periods
for its outstanding stock options. The risk free interest rates used during the periods were based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve for the expected life of the stock
options at the time of grant. The Company recorded $13,751 , $7,286 and $5,195 of stock option expense during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and
2015 , respectively. The Company has not recorded any tax benefit related to its stock option expense.
Market-Based Performance Restricted Stock Units
The Company granted 2,034,500 market-based performance restricted stock units ("Market-Based RSUs") to certain key employees during 2012 and 2014 .
A holder of Market-Based RSUs will receive one share of the Company's common stock for each Market-Based RSU held if (x) between two years and four years
from the date of grant of the Market-Based RSU, the closing price of the Company's common stock equals or exceeds, for twenty consecutive trading days, 135%
of the closing
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price of the Company's common stock on the Market-Based RSU grant date (the "Stock Price Condition") and (y) the holder is employed by the Company at the
time the Stock Price Condition is satisfied. If the Stock Price Condition is not satisfied prior to four years from the date of grant, the Market-Based RSUs are
automatically forfeited. As a result, on January 25, 2016, Market-Based RSUs granted in January 2012 and entitling the holders to receive 1,215,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock were forfeited for failure to satisfy the applicable Stock Price Condition.
The Market-Based RSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the 2006 Plan and a Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit and Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement.
The following table summarizes the Company's Market-Based RSU activity:

Weighted
Average
Fair Value at Grant
Date

Number of
Shares

RSU Outstanding at December 31, 2012

1,545,000

$

11.42

Granted

—

—

Vested

—

—

Forfeited or Expired

—

—

RSU Outstanding at December 31, 2013

1,545,000

Granted

$

489,500

Vested

—

(265,500)

RSU Outstanding at December 31, 2014

1,769,000

11.42
8.26

—

Forfeited or Expired

10.62
$

10.67

Granted

—

—

Vested

—

—

Forfeited or Expired

—
1,769,000

RSU Outstanding and Unvested at December 31, 2015

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (in years)

—
$

10.67

0.58

As of December 31, 2015 , there was $2,063 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested shares underlying outstanding Market-Based RSUs.
That cost is expected to be expensed over a remaining weighted average period of 0.09 year.
The Company recorded $8,821 , $2,556 and $1,770 of expense in 2013, 2014 and 2015 , respectively, related to the Market-Based RSUs. The Company has
not recorded any tax benefit related to its Market-Based RSU expense.
Service-Based Restricted Stock Units
The Company has granted service-based restricted stock units ("Service-Based RSUs") to key employees that vest annually over the three years following
the date of grant at a rate of 34% , 33% and 33% , respectively, if the holder is in service to the Company at each vesting date. The Service-Based RSUs are subject
to the terms and conditions of the 2006 Plan and a Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.
The following table summarizes the Company's Service-Based RSU activity:
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Weighted
Average
Fair Value at Grant
Date

Number of
Shares

RSU Outstanding at December 31, 2012

—

Granted
Vested
Forfeited or expired

$

—

45,836

13.09

—

—

—

RSU Outstanding at December 31, 2013

45,836

—
$

13.09

Granted

792,500

5.54

Vested

(15,584)

13.09

Forfeited or expired

—

RSU Outstanding at December 31, 2014

822,752

Granted

—
$

1,167,750

Vested
Forfeited or expired
RSU Outstanding and Unvested at December 31, 2015

5.82
5.38

(283,726)

5.94

(56,000)

5.57

1,650,776

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (in years)

$

5.50

2.19

As of December 31, 2015 , there was $7,535 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested shares underlying outstanding Service-Based
RSUs. That cost is expected to be expensed over a remaining weighted average period of 2.25 years.
The Company recorded $51 , $365 and $2,622 of expense in 2013, 2014 and 2015 , respectively, related to the Service-Based RSUs. The Company has not
recorded any tax benefit related to its Service-Based RSU expense.
The fair value of each Service-Based RSU granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 was estimated using the closing stock price of the Company's
common stock on the date of grant.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
On May 7, 2013, the Company adopted an employee stock purchase plan (the "ESPP"), pursuant to which eligible employees may purchase shares of the
Company's common stock at 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the last trading day of two consecutive, non-concurrent offering periods each
year. The Company has reserved 2,500,000 shares of its common stock for issuance under the ESPP, and the first offering period under the ESPP commenced on
September 1, 2013.
The Company recorded $29 , $67 and $50 of expense related to the ESPP during 2013, 2014 and 2015 , respectively. The Company has not recorded any tax
benefits related to its ESPP expense. As of December 31, 2015 , the Company had issued an aggregate of 152,389 shares pursuant to the ESPP.
Non-Qualified Non-Public Subsidiary Unit Options
In September 2013, the Company's wholly owned subsidiary Clean Energy Renewables adopted a unit option plan (the "Clean Energy Renewables Plan").
150,000 Class B units representing membership interests in Clean Energy Renewables were initially reserved for issuance under the Clean Energy Renewables
Plan.
The following table summarizes Clean Energy Renewables' unit option activity during the year ended December 31, 2015 :
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Number of
Units

Options Outstanding at December 31, 2012
Options granted

—

$

40.80

—

—

Options forfeited or expired

—
115,000

—
$

40.80

Options granted

—

—

Options exercised

—

—

Options forfeited or expired

—

—

Options Outstanding at December 31, 2014

115,000

Options granted

40.80
—

—

Options forfeited or expired
Options Outstanding and non-vested, December 31, 2015

$

—

Options exercised

—

—

—

(7,000)
108,000

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

—

115,000

Options exercised
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2013

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (in years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

40.80
$

40.80

$

—

As of December 31, 2015 , there was $803 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested units underlying outstanding unit options. That cost
is expected to be expensed over a remaining period of 0.50 years .
The fair value of each unit option is estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and using the following assumptions:
Dividend yield

0.0%

Expected volatility

96.4%

Risk-free interest rate

1.9%

Expected life in years

6.0

The grant date fair value of unit options granted in September 2013 was $31.65 , which was determined contemporaneously with the unit option grants. The
volatility amounts used during the period were estimated based on the historical volatility of a certain peer group of Clean Energy Renewables for a period
commensurate with the expected life of the unit options granted. The expected life used was Clean Energy Renewables' anticipated exercise periods for its
outstanding unit options. The risk free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve for the expected life of the unit options at the time of grant. Clean
Energy Renewables recorded $356 , $1,240 and $1,115 of unit option expense during 2013, 2014 and 2015 , respectively. Clean Energy Renewables has not
recorded any tax benefit related to its unit option expense.

(12) Income Taxes
The components of loss before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 are as follows:
2013

U.S.

$

Foreign

(40,195)

2014

$

(23,009)
$

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:
75

(63,204)

(64,913)

2015

$

(111,437)

$

(133,844)

(24,871)
$

(89,784)

(22,407)
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2013

2014

2015

Current:
Federal

$

87

State

$

190

$

9

310

238

248

Foreign

2,910

1,017

912

Total current

3,307

1,445

1,169

134

29

337

Deferred:
Federal
State

47

(10)

71

Foreign

227

(389)

37

Total deferred

408

(370)

445

$

Total

3,715

$

1,075

$

1,614

Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 differs from the "expected" amount computed using the federal income tax rate
of 35% as a result of the following:
2013

Computed expected tax (benefit)

$

2014

(22,121)

$

2015

(30,415)

$

(46,846)

Nondeductible expenses

7,216

10,690

24,998

Tax rate differential on foreign earnings

2,993

5,733

3,701

—

—

Basis difference on sale

(6,457)

Tax credits

(35,604)

Other

(8,286)

82

Change in valuation allowance

57,606
$

Total tax expense

3,715

(9,988)

(1,121)

(372)

24,474
$

1,075

30,121
$

1,614

During 2013, federal tax legislation extended the VETC through December 31, 2013 with retroactive effect to the beginning of 2012, during 2014, federal
tax legislation extended the VETC through December 31, 2014 with retroactive effect to the beginning of 2014 and during 2015, federal tax legislation extended
the VETC through December 31, 2016 with retroactive effect to the beginning of 2015. Additionally, in 2013 federal tax guidance was issued that clarified that the
VETC in excess of the Company's fuel tax obligation, which is collected from customers, can be excluded from taxable income. The Company recorded a federal
tax benefit of $9,298 , $8,221 and $7,068 related to the exclusion of VETC associated with 2015 2014 and 2013 fuel sales in excess of its fuel tax obligation and a
federal tax benefit of $27,497 was recorded in 2013 related to the exclusion of similar VETC amounts associated with fuel sales from 2006 through 2012. These
amounts increased the Company's deferred tax asset attributed to its federal net operating loss carryforwards and the Company's deferred tax asset valuation
allowance.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities.
The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 are as follows:
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2014

2015

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses

$

Sales-type leases
Alternative minimum tax and general business credits
Derivative loss
Stock option expense
Other
Loss carryforwards
Total deferred tax assets
Less valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

4,834

$

4,512

908

154

4,966

5,780

527

—

21,741

23,113

2,596

2,283

147,706

174,157

183,278

209,999

(160,436)

(189,203)

22,842

20,796

(20,028)

(17,398)

(3,864)

(4,600)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill
Partnership income

—

Total deferred tax liabilities

(293)

(23,892)
$

Net deferred tax liabilities

(1,050)

(22,291)
$

(1,495)

At December 31, 2015 , the Company had federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $438,384 , $336,251 and $58,090 ,
respectively. The Company's federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards will, if not utilized, expire beginning in 2026, 2016 and 2028, respectively.
The Company also has federal tax credit carryforwards of $5,572 that will expire beginning in 2026. Due to the change of ownership provisions of Internal
Revenue Code Section 382, utilization of a portion of the Company's net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be limited in future periods.
In assessing the realizability of the net deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. Management considers projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2015 , the Company provided a valuation allowance of $160,436 , and $189,203 , respectively, to reduce the net deferred tax assets due to
uncertainty surrounding the realizability of these assets. The net increase in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015 was $23,468
, and $28,767 , respectfully. The changes in the valuation allowance were primarily attributable to operating losses incurred in certain jurisdictions for which a full
valuation allowance was established.
As of December 31, 2015 , the Company has not provided deferred U.S. income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on temporary differences of
approximately $2,828 resulting from earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries which are permanently reinvested outside the U.S. Unrecognized deferred taxes on
remittance of these funds are not expected to be material.
The Company does not recognize the impact of a tax position in its financial statements unless the position is more likely than not to be sustained, based on
the technical merits of the position. The Company has unrecognized tax benefits of $27,497 at December 31, 2015 included $692 of tax benefits that, if recognized,
would reduce the Company's annual effective tax rate. The remaining $26,805 , if recognized, would not result in a tax benefit since it would be fully offset with a
valuation allowance.
The following is a tabular reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 :
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Unrecognized tax benefit—December 31, 2013

$

Gross increases—tax positions in current year

17,398
4,722

Gross increases—tax positions in prior years

(146)

Unrecognized tax benefit—December 31, 2014

21,974

Gross increases—tax positions in current year

5,523

Gross increases—tax positions in prior years

—
$

Unrecognized tax benefit—December 31, 2015

27,497

The increase in the Company's unrecognized tax benefits during 2014 and 2015 is primarily attributable to the portion of VETC offset by the fuel tax the
Company collected from its customers as an unrecognized tax benefit during 2014 and 2015 . The Company believes the portion of VETC that is offset by the fuel
tax the Company collects from its customers can be excluded from taxable income, although the ultimate outcome of this tax position is uncertain.
FASB authoritative guidance requires the Company to accrue interest and penalties where there is an underpayment of taxes based on the Company's best
estimate of the amount ultimately to be paid. The Company's policy is to recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as income
tax expense. In addition to the unrecognized tax benefits noted above, the Company accrued $120 and $178 of interest expense and penalties as of December 31,
2014 and 2015, respectively. The Company recognized interest expense related to uncertain tax positions of $48 , $54 and $58 during 2013, 2014 and 2015,
respectively.
The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company's tax years for 2011 through 2015 are
subject to examination by various tax authorities. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. examination for years before 2012, and for state tax examinations for
years before 2011.
A number of years may elapse before an uncertain tax position is finally resolved. It is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution
of any particular uncertain tax position, but the Company believes that its reserves for income taxes reflect the most probable outcomes. The Company adjusts the
reserve, as well as the related interest and penalties, in light of changing facts and circumstances. The amount of penalties accrued is immaterial. Settlement of any
particular position would usually require the use of cash and result in the reduction of the related reserve, or there could be a change in the amount of the
Company's net operating loss. The resolution of a matter would be recognized as an adjustment to the provision for income taxes at the effective tax rate in the
period of resolution. Other than an increase attributable to the VETC received in 2016 that offsets fuel tax liability, which cannot be accurately estimated, the
Company does not expect a significant increase or decrease in its uncertain tax positions within the next twelve months.
(13) Commitments and Contingencies
Environmental Matters
The Company is subject to federal, state, local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations. The Company does not anticipate any expenditures to
comply with such laws and regulations that would have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity. The
Company believes that its operations comply, in all material respects, with applicable federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations.
Litigation, Claims and Contingencies
The Company may become party to various legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of its business. During the course of its operations, the Company is
also subject to audit by tax authorities for varying periods in various federal, state, local and foreign tax jurisdictions. Disputes may arise during the course of such
audits as to facts and matters of law. It is impossible to determine the ultimate liabilities that the Company may incur resulting from any of these lawsuits, claims
and proceedings, audits, commitments, contingencies and related matters or the timing of these liabilities, if any. If these matters were to ultimately be resolved
unfavorably, an outcome not currently anticipated, it is possible that such an outcome could have a material adverse effect upon the Company's consolidated
financial position, results of operations or liquidity. However, the Company believes that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
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Operating Lease Commitments
The Company leases facilities, including the land for its LNG production plant in Boron, California, and certain equipment under noncancelable operating
leases expiring at various dates through 2038. The following schedule represents the future minimum lease obligations for all noncancelable operating leases as of
December 31, 2015 :
Fiscal year:
2016

$

7,998

2017

7,750

2018

6,106

2019

5,909

2020

5,388

Thereafter

20,874
$

Total future minimum lease payments

54,025

Rent expense, including variable rent, totaled $10,504 , $10,140 , and $8,629 for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , respectively.
Long-Term Take-or-Pay Natural Gas Supply Contracts
In October 2007, the Company entered into an LNG supply contract with Desert Gas Services (formerly known as Spectrum Energy Services, LLC)
("DGS") to purchase, on a take-or-pay basis, 45,000 gallons of LNG per day, which was increased to 65,000 gallons per day in March 2014, from a plant
constructed by DGS in Ehrenberg, Arizona, which is near the California border. This obligation began in March 2010, and for the years ended December 31, 2013 ,
2014 and 2015 , the Company paid approximately $11,404 , $14,267 , and $11,852 respectively, under this contract. The contract expires in October 2017. At
December 31, 2015 , the fixed commitments under this contract totaled approximately $4,579 and $3,816 for the years ending December 31, 2016 and 2017,
respectively.
During 2015, the Company entered into a CNG supply contract with Jacksonville Transit Authority ("JTA") to purchase CNG, on a take-or-pay basis,
starting in January of 2016 and extended to expire in December 2020. At December 31, 2015, the fixed commitments under the JTA contract totaled approximately
$71 , $203 , $313 , $429 and $548 for the years ending December 31, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, respectively.

(14) Geographic Information
Disclosures are required for certain information regarding operating segments, products and services, geographic areas of operation and major customers.
Segment reporting is based upon the “management approach,” which assesses, how management organizes the Company’s operating segments for which separate
financial information is (1) available and (2) evaluated regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance. The Company’s CODM is the Chief Executive Officer.
The Company operates in a single segment to sell natural gas. In making operating decisions, the CODM primarily considers consolidated financial
information, accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues by geographic region. The assessment of operating results and the allocation of resources
among the components of the business by the CODM are made on a project by project basis, rather than on a component-by-component basis, and are based on
looking at the economics of a mix of product and services for a customer.
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Several of the Company's functions, including marketing, engineering, and finance are performed at the corporate level. As a result, significant
interdependence and overlap exists among the Company's geographic areas. Geographic revenue data reflect internal allocations and are therefore subject to certain
assumptions and the Company’s methodology. Accordingly, revenue, operating income (loss), and long-lived assets shown for each geographic area may not be
the amounts which would have been reported if the geographic areas were independent of one another. Revenue by geographic area is based on where services are
rendered and finished goods are sold. Operating income (loss) is based on the location of the entity selling the finished goods or providing the services.
2013

2014

2015

Revenue:
United States

$

Canada

292,250

$

13,922

Other

$

16,241

46,303

Total revenue

360,881

330,003
21,818

51,818

32,499

$

352,475

$

428,940

$

384,320

$

(44,797)

$

(41,543)

$

(33,067)

Operating income (loss):
United States
Canada

(1,594)

(3,087)

(4,980)

Other

(5,300)

(9,734)

(3,576)

Total operating income (loss)

$

(51,691)

$

(54,364)

$

(41,623)

$

544,638

$

582,028

$

582,644

Long-lived assets:
United States
Canada

103,997

Other

85,984

7,537
$

Total long-lived assets

656,172

68,292

6,854
$

674,866

5,693
$

656,629

The Company's goodwill and intangible assets at December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 relate to its United States operations and its BAF (through June 28,
2013, see note 2 ), Clean Energy Compression, Clean Energy Cryogenics, and NG Advantage (beginning on October 14, 2014, see note 2 ) operations.
(15) 401(k) Plan
The Company has established a savings plan ("Savings Plan") which is qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees
may elect to make contributions to the Savings Plan through salary deferrals of up to 90% of their base pay, subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations. The
Company may make discretionary contributions to the Savings Plans that are subject to limitations. For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 and 2015 the
Company contributed approximately $1,448 , $1,040 , and $304 of matching contributions to the Savings Plan, respectively.
(16) Supplier Concentrations
During 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , the Company incurred approximately 3% , 4% , and 1% respectively, of its natural gas expense related to its LNG sales from
Williams Gas Processing Company pursuant to a floating rate purchase contract that includes minimum purchase commitments. During 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , the
Company incurred approximately 22% , 17% , and 16% respectively, of its natural gas expense related to its LNG sales from Shell Energy, which supplied the
Company's LNG plant in California and supplies DGS's plant in Arizona, where the Company has a take or pay obligation to DGS. See note 13 for further
information regarding the DGS take or pay obligation. During 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , the Company incurred approximately 7% , 3% , and 7% , respectively, of its
natural gas costs related to its CNG operations from the SoCal Gas Company and San Diego Gas and Electric. The Company incurred approximately 24% and 19%
of its natural gas expense related to its LNG and CNG purchases from BP Energy during 2014 and 2015 , respectively. Vermont Gas Systems supplies
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natural gas to our subsidiary NG Advantage. For the years ended 2014 and 2015 Vermont Gas Systems accounted for approximately 0% and 10% of the
Company's natural gas expense, respectively.
(17) Capitalized Lease Obligation and Receivables
The Company leases equipment under capital leases with a weighted-average interest rate of 9.71% . At December 31, 2015 , future payments under these
capital leases are as follows:
2016

$

1,688

2017

1,738

2018

1,739

2019

1,633

2020

660

Thereafter

633

Total minimum lease payments

8,091

Less amount representing interest

(1,643)

Future minimum lease payments

6,448

Less current portion

(1,294)
$

Capital lease obligations, less current portion

5,154

The value of the equipment under capital lease as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 was $4,898 and $8,970 , with related accumulated amortization of $1,936
and $2,766 , respectively.
The Company also leases certain fueling station equipment to certain customers under sales-type leases at a weighted average effective interest rate of
10.62% . The leases are payable in varying monthly installments through February 2018.
At December 31, 2015 , future receipts under these leases are as follows:
2016

$

563

2017

380

2018

251

2019

186

2020

186

Thereafter

1,798

Total

3,364

Less amount representing interest

(1,575)
$

1,789

( 18 ) Fair Value Measurements
The Company follows the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements with respect to assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis and nonrecurring basis. Under the standard, fair value is defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, as of the measurement date. The standard also establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in
measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be
used when available. Observable inputs are inputs market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from
sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company's assumptions about the factors market participants would use in
valuing the asset or liability developed based upon the best information available in the circumstances. The hierarchy consists of the following three levels: Level 1
inputs are
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quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, and inputs (other than quoted prices) that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 , the Company's financial instruments consisted of available-for-sale securities, debt instruments and
liability-classified warrants (some of which are our Series I Warrants). The Company’s available-for-sale securities are classified within Level 2 because they are
valued using the most recent quoted prices for identical assets in markets that are not active and quoted prices for similar assets in active markets. The liabilityclassified warrants are classified within Level 3 because the Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value based on inputs that
are not observable in any market. The fair values of the Company's debt instruments approximated their carrying values at December 31, 2014 and 2015 .
The following tables provide information by level for assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2015 , respectively:
Balance at
December 31, 2014

Description

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Available-for-sale securities(1):
Certificate of deposits

$

35,355

Municipal bonds and notes
Zero coupon bonds
Corporate bonds

$

—

38,652

—

$

35,355

$

—

38,652

—

3,306

—

3,306

—

45,233

—

45,233

—

1,416

—

—

1,416

Liabilities:
Warrants(2)

Balance at
December 31, 2015

Description

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Available-for-sale securities(1):
Certificate of deposits

$

48,551

Municipal bonds and notes
Zero coupon bonds
Corporate bonds

$

—

$

48,551

$

—

16,790

—

16,790

—

499

—

499

—

37,104

—

37,104

—

632

—

—

632

Liabilities:
Warrants(2)
_______________________________________________________________________________

(1) Included in short-term investments in the consolidated balance sheets. See note 4 for further information.
(2) Included in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
The following tables provide a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of items measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the tables above
that used significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).
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Liabilities: Warrants

2014

Beginning Balance

2015

$

Gain included in earnings

7,164

$

(5,748)

2,046
(1,414)

630

Warrants acquired from NG Advantage acquisition (see note 11)
$

Ending Balance

2,046

—
$

632

Valuation Processes for Level 3 Fair Value Measurements and Sensitivity to Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs
The fair value measurements are compared to those of the prior reporting periods to ensure that changes are consistent with expectations of management
based upon the sensitivity and nature of the inputs.
Series I Warrant Liability
The Company estimated the fair value of its Series I Warrant liability using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following inputs as of
December 31, 2015 :
Unobservable Inputs

Range or Weighted Average

Current market price of the Company's common stock

$

3.60

Exercise price of the warrant

$

12.54

Dividend yield

0.00%

Remaining term of the warrant

0.33

Implied volatility of the Company's common stock

83.05%

Assumed discount rate

0.33%

Significant changes in any of those inputs in isolation can result in a significant change in the fair value measurement. Generally, a positive change in the
market price of the Company's common stock, an increase in the volatility of the Company's common stock, or an increase in the remaining term of the warrant
would result in a directionally similar change in the estimated fair value of the Company's Series I Warrants and thus an increase in the associated liability. An
increase in the assumed discount rate or a decrease in the positive differential between the warrant's exercise price and the market price of the Company's common
stock would result in a decrease in the estimated fair value measurement of the Series I Warrants and thus a decrease in the associated liability. The Company has
not, nor does it plan to, declare dividends on its common stock, and thus, there is no directionally similar change in the estimated fair value of the warrants due to
the dividend assumption.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive and
principal financial officers, respectively), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act.
Our controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of our disclosure
controls
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and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs.
Based on management's evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2015 , our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting .
We regularly review and evaluate our system of internal control over financial reporting and make changes to our processes and systems to improve controls
and increase efficiency, while ensuring that we maintain an effective internal control environment. Changes may include such activities as implementing new,
more efficient systems, consolidating activities, and migrating processes.
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recently completed fiscal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under
the Exchange Act). Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 . In making its assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, our
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013) . Based on these criteria, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2015 , our internal control over financial reporting is
effective. Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an attestation on our internal control over financial reporting, which is
included in Part II, Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.
Item 9B.

Other Information.

On February 29, 2016, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (“LSA”) with PlainsCapital Bank (“Plains”), pursuant to which Plains agreed to lend
us up to $50.0 million on a revolving basis from time to time for a term of one year (the “Credit Facility”). All amounts advanced under the Credit Facility are due
and payable on February 29, 2017. The Credit Facility is evidenced by a promissory note we issued on February 29, 2016 in favor of Plains (the “Plains Note”).
Interest on the Plains Note is payable monthly and accrues at a rate equal to the greater of (i) the then-current LIBOR rate plus 2.30% or (ii) 2.70%. As collateral
security for the prompt payment in full when due of our obligations to Plains under the LSA and the Plains Note, we pledged to and granted Plains a security
interest in all of our right, title and interest in the cash and corporate and municipal bonds rated AAA, AA or A by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services that we hold
in an account at Plains. In connection with such pledge and security interest granted under the Credit Facility, on February 29, 2016, we entered into a Pledged
Account Agreement with Plains and PlainsCapital Bank - Wealth Management and Trust (the “Pledge Agreement” and collectively with the LSA and the Plains
Note, the “Plains Loan Documents”).
The Plains Loan Documents include certain covenants and also provide for customary events of default, which, if any of them occurs, would permit or
require, among other things, the principal of, and accrued interest on, the Credit Facility to become, or to be declared, due and payable. Events of default under the
Plains Loan Documents include, among others, the occurrence of certain bankruptcy events, the failure to make payments when due under the Plains Note and the
transfer or disposal of the collateral under the LSA.
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PART III

Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the proxy statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 .
Item 11.

Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the proxy statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 .
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the proxy statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 .
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the proxy statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 .
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the proxy statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 .
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PART IV

Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements.
The following documents are filed in Part II, Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
The financial statement schedule set forth below is filed as a part of this annual report on Form 10-K. All other schedules have been omitted as they are not
required, not applicable, or the required information is otherwise included.
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Allowances for
Doubtful Trade
Receivables

Balance at December 31, 2012

$

Charges (benefit) to operations

905

Allowance for
Doubtful Notes
Receivables

$

454

Deductions

(527)

Balance at December 31, 2013

—

832

Charges (benefit) to operations
Deductions
Balance at December 31, 2014
Charges (benefit) to operations
Deductions

2,416

387

890

(467)

(456)

752

2,850

1,514

1,142

(371)
$

Balance at December 31, 2015
86

909
1,507

1,895

(2)
$

3,990

Table of Contents
(a)(3) Exhibits.
The information required by this Item 15(a)(3) is set forth on the exhibit index that immediately follows the signature page to this Annual Report on Form 10-K
and is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP.
By:

/s/ ANDREW J. LITTLEFAIR
Andrew J. Littlefair
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 3, 2016
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ ANDREW J. LITTLEFAIR

Title

Date

President, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
and a Director

March 3, 2016

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

March 3, 2016

Chairman of the Board and Director

March 3, 2016

Director

March 3, 2016

Director

March 3, 2016

Director

March 3, 2016

Director

March 3, 2016

Director

March 3, 2016

Director

March 3, 2016

Director

March 3, 2016

Andrew J. Littlefair

/s/ ROBERT M. VREELAND
Robert M. Vreeland
/s/ WARREN I. MITCHELL
Warren I. Mitchell
/s/ VINCENT C. TAORMINA
Vincent C. Taormina
/s/ JOHN S. HERRINGTON
John S. Herrington
/s/ JAMES C. MILLER III
James C. Miller III
/s/ BOONE PICKENS
Boone Pickens
/s/ JAMES E. O'CONNOR
James E. O'Connor
/s/ KENNETH M. SOCHA
Kenneth M. Socha
/s/ STEPHEN A. SCULLY
Stephen A. Scully
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated herein by reference to the following filings:
Description

Form

Filed on

2.8

Stock Purchase Agreement dated May 6, 2013, among
Mansfield Energy Corp., Mansfield Gas Equipment Systems
Corporation, and Clean Energy.

Filed as Exhibit 2.8 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

May 7, 2013

2.9

Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 28, 2013, among
Westport Innovations (U.S.) Holdings Inc., Westport
Innovations Inc., Clean Energy and BAF Technologies, Inc.

Filed as Exhibit 2.9 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

June 28, 2013

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated December 29,
2014, between Mavrix, LLC and Cambrian Energy
McCommas Bluff III LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 2.10 on the Current Report on Form 8-K.

January 5, 2015

Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, as amended.

March 27, 2007

3.1.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, by the
Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Registrant dated May 28, 2010.

Filed as Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2010.

August 9, 2010

3.1.2

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended by the
Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Registrant dated May 28, 2010, as further
amended by the Certificate of Amendment to the Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated May 8,
2014.

Filed as Exhibit 3.1.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2014.

August 7, 2014

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

February 23, 2011

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Bylaws.

Filed as Exhibit 3.2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

February 27, 2014

4.1

Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, as amended.

March 27, 2007

4.5

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock.

Filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

October 29, 2008

4.6

Convertible Promissory Note issued by the Registrant to
Chesapeake NG Ventures Corporation.

Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

July 11, 2011

4.7

Form of Convertible Note.

Filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

August 30, 2011

4.8

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated November 7, 2012,
issued by the Registrant to GE Energy Financial Services, Inc.

Filed as Exhibit 4.8 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

November 13, 2012

4.9

Secured Promissory Note dated April 25, 2013, issued by
Mavrix, LLC to Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance
Company.

Filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

April 26, 2013

4.10

Form of Replacement Note issued by the Registrant.

Filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

June 18, 2013

4.11

Indenture dated September 16, 2013, between the Registrant
and U.S. Bank National Association.

Filed as Exhibit 4.11 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

September 16, 2013

4.12

Form of 5.25% Convertible Senior Note due 2018.

Included with Exhibit 4.11 to the Current Report on Form 8K.

September 16, 2013

2.10

3.1

3.2
3.2.1
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated herein by reference to the following filings:
Description

Form

Filed on

4.13

Promissory Note in the principal amount of $18,650,300 dated
October 14, 2014, issued by Clean Energy to NG
Advantage, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 4.13 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

October 15, 2014

4.14

Promissory Note in the principal amount of $1,800,000 dated
October 14, 2014, issued by Clean Energy to NG
Advantage, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 4.14 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

October 15, 2014

4.15

Warrant Amendment dated December 29, 2014, among Clean
Energy Fuels Corp., General Electric Company and GPFS
Securities Inc.

Filed as Exhibit 4.15 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

January 5, 2015

10.1+

2002 Stock Option Plan, Amendment and Form of Stock
Option Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, as amended.

September 6, 2006

10.4+

Form of Indemnification Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, as amended.

March 27, 2007

10.5+

Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Option Plan dated
August 10, 2007.

Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S8.

August 14, 2007

10.6+

Stock Option Agreement dated May 18, 2006 between the
Registrant and G. Michael Boswell.

Filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S8.

August 14, 2007

10.7+

2006 Equity Incentive Plan—Form of Notice of Stock Option
Grant and Stock Option Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 99.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S8.

August 14, 2007

10.12†

Ground Lease dated November 3, 2006 among the Registrant,
Clean Energy Construction and U.S. Borax, Inc.

Filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1, as amended.

May 24, 2007

10.16+

2006 Equity Incentive Plan—Form of Stock Award
Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2008.

May 15, 2008

10.21+

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated 2002 Stock
Option Plan.

Filed as Exhibit 10.36 to the Annual Filing on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended 2007.

March 19, 2008

10.24+

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
December 31, 2008, between the Registrant and Andrew J.
Littlefair.

Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

December 31, 2008

10.26+

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
December 31, 2008, between the Registrant and Mitchell W.
Pratt.

Filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

December 31, 2008

10.37+

Employment Agreement dated February 17, 2010, between the
Registrant and Barclay Corbus.

Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

February 18, 2010

10.60

Form of Convertible Note Purchase Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 10.60 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

August 30, 2011

10.61

Form of Registration Rights Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 10.61 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

August 30, 2011

10.63+

Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan.

Filed as Exhibit 10.63 to the Annual Filing on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended 2011.

March 12, 2012

10.64+

Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan—Form of
Notice of Stock Unit Award and Stock Unit Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 10.64 to the Annual Filing on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended 2011.

March 12, 2012

10.65+

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement dated February 17, 2012, between the Registrant
and Andrew J. Littlefair.

Filed as Exhibit 10.65 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

May 7, 2012
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Incorporated herein by reference to the following filings:
Description

Form

Filed on

10.67+

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement dated February 17, 2012, between the Registrant
and Mitchell W. Pratt.

Filed as Exhibit 10.67 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

May 7, 2012

10.69+

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated
February 17, 2012, between the Registrant and Barclay F.
Corbus.

Filed as Exhibit 10.69 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

May 7, 2012

10.70

Credit Agreement dated November 7, 2012, among Clean
Energy Tranche A LNG Plant, LLC and Clean Energy
Tranche B LNG Plant, LLC, as Borrowers, the Various
Financial Institutions from Time to Time Party thereto, as
Lenders, and General Electric Capital Corporation, as
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent .

Filed as Exhibit 10.70 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

November 13, 2012

Guaranty dated November 7, 2012, issued by the Registrant to
General Electric Capital Corporation .

Filed as Exhibit 10.71 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

February 28, 2013

10.72

Equity Contribution Agreement dated November 7, 2012,
among Clean Energy Tranche A LNG Plant, LLC and Clean
Energy Tranche B LNG Plant, LLC, as Borrowers, the
Registrant, as Equity Investor, and General Electric Capital
Corporation, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent .

Filed as Exhibit 10.72 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

November 13, 2012

10.73

Warrant Agreement dated November 7, 2012, between the
Registrant and GE Energy Financial Services, Inc.

Filed as Exhibit 10.73 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

November 13, 2012

10.74

Registration Rights Agreement dated November 7, 2012,
between the Registrant and GE Energy Financial Services, Inc.

Filed as Exhibit 10.74 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

November 13, 2012

10.75+

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement dated December 12, 2012, between the Registrant
and Andrew J. Littlefair.

Filed as Exhibit 10.75 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

February 28, 2013

10.77+

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement dated December 12, 2012, between the Registrant
and Mitchell W. Pratt.

Filed as Exhibit 10.77 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

February 28, 2013

10.79+

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated
December 12, 2012, between the Registrant and Barclay F.
Corbus.

Filed as Exhibit 10.79 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

February 28, 2013

10.80

Lease dated March 18, 2013, between The Irvine
Company LLC and Clean Energy.

Filed as Exhibit 10.80 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

May 8, 2013

10.81

First Amendment to Lease dated April 17, 2013, between The
Irvine Company LLC and Clean Energy.

Filed as Exhibit 10.81 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

May 8, 2013

10.82

Note Purchase Agreement dated April 25, 2013, between
Mavrix, LLC and Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance
Company

Filed as Exhibit 10.82 to the Current Report on Form 8-K

April 26, 2013

10.83

Note Purchase Agreement dated June 14, 2013, among the
Registrant, Chesapeake NG Ventures Corporation, Boone
Pickens and Green Energy Investment Holdings, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 10.83 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

June 18, 2013

10.71†
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Filed on

10.84

Loan Agreement dated June 14, 2013, between the Registrant
and Green Energy Investment Holdings, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 10.84 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

June 18, 2013

10.85

Loan Agreement dated June 14, 2013, between the Registrant
and Boone Pickens.

Filed as Exhibit 10.85 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

June 18, 2013

10.86

Registration Rights Agreement dated June 14, 2013, among
the Registrant, Boone Pickens and Green Energy Investment
Holdings, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 10.86 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

June 18, 2013

10.87

Marketing Agreement dated June 28, 2013, among Clean
Energy, Westport Power Inc. and Westport Fuel Systems Inc.

Filed as Exhibit 10.87 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

June 28, 2013

10.90+

Clean Energy Fuels Corp. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Filed as Exhibit Annex A to Schedule 14A Definitive Proxy
Statement.

March 28, 2013

10.91+

Clean Energy Renewable Fuels, LLC Unit Option Plan, Form
of Notice of Option Award and Option Agreement.

Filed as Exhibit 10.91 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2013.

November 7, 2013

10.92†

Liquefied Natural Gas Fueling Station and LNG Master Sales
Agreement dated August 2, 2010, between Clean Energy and
Pilot Travel Centers, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 10.92 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2013.

February 27, 2014

10.93

Loan Agreement dated March 1, 2014, between Canton
Renewables, LLC and Michigan Strategic Fund.

Filed as Exhibit 10.93 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

March 21, 2014

10.94

Form of Common Unit Purchase Agreement dated
October 14, 2014, among NG Advantage, LLC, Clean Energy
and the other investors named therein.

Filed as Exhibit 10.94 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

October 15, 2014

10.95

Purchase Agreement dated October 14, 2014, between Clean
Energy and NG Advantage, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 10.95 to the Report on Form 8-K.

October 15, 2014

10.96

Lease dated October 14, 2014, between Clean Energy and NG
Advantage, LLC.

Filed as Exhibit 10.96 to the Report on Form 8-K.

October 15, 2014

10.97

Amendment to Credit Agreement dated December 29, 2014,
among Clean Energy Tranche A LNG Plant, LLC, Clean
Energy Tranche B LNG Plant, LLC and General Electric
Capital Corporation.

Filed as Exhibit 10.97 to the Report on Form 8-K.

January 5, 2015

10.101+*

Offer Letter dated October 28, 2014, between the Registrant
and Robert M. Vreeland.

Filed as Exhibit 10.101 to the Annual Report on Form 10‑K
for the year ended December 31, 2014.

February 28, 2015

10.102+

Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2013 between the
Registrant and Peter J. Grace.

10.103+

Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan - Form of
Notice of Stock Unit Award.

Filed as Exhibit 10.102 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q
for the quarter ended March 30, 2015.

May 11, 2015

Filed as Exhibit 10.103 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q
for the quarter ended March 30, 2015.
May 11, 2015

10.104+

2006 Equity Incentive Plan - Form of Notice of Stock Option
Grant.

Filed as Exhibit 10.104 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q
for the quarter ended March 30, 2015.
May 11, 2015
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10.105+

Description

Employment Agreement dated May 1, 2015 between the
Registrant and Robert M. Vreeland.

Form

Filed on

Filed as Exhibit 10.105 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q
for the quarter ended March 30, 2015.

May 11, 2015

Filed as Exhibit 10.106 to the Current Report on Form 8‑K.

December 31, 2015

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
December 31, 2015, between the Registrant and Robert M.
Vreeland.

Filed as Exhibit 10.107 to the Current Report on Form 8‑K.

December 31, 2015

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
December 31, 2015, between the Registrant and Mitchell W.
Pratt.

Filed as Exhibit 10.108 to the Current Report on Form 8‑K.

December 31, 2015

Filed as Exhibit 10.109 to the Current Report on Form 8‑K.

December 31, 2015

Filed as Exhibit 10.110 to the Current Report on Form 8‑K.

December 31, 2015

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
December 31, 2015, between the Registrant and Andrew J.
Littlefair.
10.106+
10.107+

10.108+

10.109+

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
December 31, 2015, between the Registrant and Barclay F.
Corbus.
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
December 31, 2015, between the Registrant and Peter J.
Grace.

10.110+
10.111*

Promissory Note dated February 29, 2016, between the
Registrant, Clean Energy and PlainsCapital Bank.

10.112*

Pledged Account Agreement dated February 29, 2016,
between Clean Energy, PlainsCapital Bank and PlainsCapital
Bank - Wealth Management and Trust.

10.113*

Loan and Security Agreement dated February 29, 2016,
between the Registrant, Clean Energy and PlainsCapital Bank.

21.1*

Subsidiaries.

23.1*

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG LLP.

31.1*

Certification of Andrew J. Littlefair, President and Chief
Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Robert M. Vreeland, Chief Financial Officer,
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
executed by Andrew J. Littlefair, President and Chief
Executive Officer, and Robert M. Vreeland Chief Financial
Officer.
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99.1

Natural Gas Hedge Policy dated May 29, 2008.

101

The following materials from the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014,
formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language):

Form

Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K.

Filed on

June 20, 2008

(i) Consolidated Balance Sheets;
(ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations;
(iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Loss);
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity;
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; and
(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
_______________________________________________________________________________

†

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to the grant of a request for confidential treatment and the non-public information has been filed
separately with the SEC.

*

Filed herewith.

**

Furnished herewith.

+

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
94

Exhibit 10.111
PLAINSCAPITAL BANK – LOAN NO.

PROMISSORY NOTE
$50,000,000.00

FEBRUARY 29, 2016

FOR VALUE RECEIVED , CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. , a Delaware corporation (“ CEFC ”), and CLEAN ENERGY , a California
corporation (“ CE ,” and together with CEFC, individually and collectively, “ Debtor ”), jointly and severally and unconditionally promises to pay to the order of
PLAINSCAPITAL BANK , a Texas state bank (together with its successors and assigns, “ Lender ”), without setoff, at its offices at 2911 Turtle Creek Boulevard,
Suite 1300, Dallas (Dallas County), TX 75219, or at such other place as may be designated by Lender, the principal amount of FIFTY MILLION AND NO/100
DOLLARS ($50,000,000.00) , or so much thereof as may be advanced from time to time in immediately available funds, together with interest computed daily on
the outstanding principal balance hereunder, at an annual interest rate (the “ Rate ”), and in accordance with the payment schedule indicated below. This
PROMISSORY NOTE (this “ Note ”) is executed pursuant to and evidences a Loan funded and to be funded by Lender under that certain LOAN AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT dated as of even date herewith (the “ Effective Date ”), between Debtor and Lender (as amended, restated or otherwise modified
from time to time, the “ Loan Agreement ”), to which reference is made for a statement of the collateral, rights and obligations of Debtor and Lender in relation
thereto, but neither this reference to the Loan Agreement nor any provision thereof shall affect or impair the absolute and unconditional obligation of Debtor to pay
unpaid principal of and interest on this Note when due. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings as in the Loan Agreement.
1.
Rate . Prior to the Maturity Date (as defined below) or an Event of Default, the Rate shall be the lesser of (a) the MAXIMUM RATE (as
defined below) or (b) the GREATER of (i) the LIBOR RATE plus TWO AND THREE TENTHS OF ONE PERCENT (2.30%) or (ii) TWO AND SEVEN
TENTHS OF ONE PERCENT (2.70%) . From and after the Maturity Date, the Rate shall be the Maturity Rate. As used herein, the term “ LIBOR Rate ” shall
mean, on any applicable date of determination, the London Interbank Offered Rate of interest per annum as published on that date on the website of
http://www.bloomberg.com as the current “1 Month LIBOR Rate.” On days when http://www.bloomberg.com does not publish the current 1 Month LIBOR Rate,
the LIBOR Rate will be the most recently published 1 Month LIBOR Rate on http://www.bloomberg.com . In the event http://www.bloomberg.com shall cease to
exist or shall cease to publish a current 1 Month LIBOR Rate, then the LIBOR Rate will be the London Interbank Offered Rate of interest per annum as published
on the website of http://online.wsj.com/public/us as the “One Month Libor Rate.” Commencing on the date of this Note and continuing through the Maturity Date,
the LIBOR Rate shall be determined on the FIRST (1 st ) day of each calendar month and shall be fixed for such calendar month. Thereafter, the LIBOR Rate shall
be readjusted on the first day of each succeeding calendar month. In the event the date of this Note is a date other than the first day of a calendar month, then the
LIBOR Rate in effect from the date of this Note until the day immediately prior to the first day of the next succeeding calendar month shall be the LIBOR Rate in
effect as of the date of this Note. Any change in the Rate resulting from an adjustment of the LIBOR Rate on the first day of each calendar month or any change in
the Maximum Rate in effect from day to day shall be effective without notice to Debtor (which notice of change in the Rate is hereby expressly waived by Debtor)
on the same date as the change in the Rate. Notwithstanding any provision of this Note or any other agreement or commitment between Debtor and Lender,
whether written or oral, express or implied, Lender shall never be entitled to charge, receive or collect, nor shall amounts received hereunder be credited so that
Lender shall be paid, as interest a sum greater than interest at the Maximum Rate. It is the intention of the parties that this Note, and all instruments securing the
payment of this Note or executed or delivered in connection therewith, shall comply with applicable law. If Lender ever contracts for, charges, receives or collects
anything of value which is deemed to be interest under applicable law, and if the occurrence of any circumstance or contingency, whether acceleration of maturity
of this Note, prepayment of this Note, delay in advancing proceeds of this Note or any other event, should cause such interest to exceed the Maximum Rate, any
amount which exceeds interest at the Maximum Rate shall be applied to the reduction of the unpaid principal balance of this Note or any other Indebtedness, and if
this Note and such other Indebtedness are paid in full, any remaining excess shall be paid to Debtor. In determining whether the interest exceeds interest at the
Maximum Rate, the total amount of interest shall be spread, prorated and amortized throughout the entire term of this Note until its payment in full. The term “
Maximum Rate ” as used in this Note means the maximum nonusurious rate of interest per annum permitted by whichever of applicable United States federal law
or Texas law permits the higher interest rate, including to the extent permitted by applicable law, any amendments thereof hereafter or any new law hereafter
coming into effect to the extent

a higher Maximum Rate is permitted thereby. If at any time the Rate shall exceed the Maximum Rate, the Rate shall be automatically limited to the Maximum Rate
until the total amount of interest accrued hereunder equals the amount of interest which would have accrued if there had been no limitation to the Maximum Rate.
To the extent, if any, that Chapter 303 of the Texas Finance Code, as amended (the “ Act ”), is relevant to Lender for purposes of determining the Maximum Rate,
the parties elect to determine the Maximum Rate under the Act pursuant to the “weekly ceiling” from time to time in effect, as referred to and defined in §303.001303.016 of the Act; subject, however, to any right Lender subsequently may have under applicable law to change the method of determining the Maximum Rate.
2. Accrual Method . Interest on the Indebtedness evidenced by this Note shall be computed on the basis of a THREE HUNDRED SIXTY (360) day
year and shall accrue on the actual number of days elapsed for any whole or partial month in which interest is being calculated. In computing the number of days
during which interest accrues, the day on which funds are initially advanced shall be included regardless of the time of day such advance is made, and the day on
which funds are repaid shall be included unless repayment is credited prior to the close of business on the Business Day received as provided herein.
3.
Payment Schedule . Except as expressly provided herein to the contrary, all payments on this Note shall be applied in the following order of
priority: (a) the payment or reimbursement of any expenses, costs or obligations (other than the outstanding principal balance hereof and interest hereon) for which
either Debtor shall be obligated or Lender shall be entitled pursuant to the provisions of this Note or the other Loan Documents, (b) the payment of accrued but
unpaid interest hereon, and (c) the payment of all or any portion of the principal balance hereof then outstanding hereunder. If an Event of Default exists, then
Lender may, at the sole option of Lender, apply any such payments, at any time and from time to time, to any of the items specified in clauses (a), (b) or (c) above
without regard to the order of priority otherwise specified herein and any application to the outstanding principal balance hereof may be made in either direct or
inverse order of maturity. If any payment of principal or interest on this Note shall become due on a day other than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on
the next succeeding Business Day and such extension of time shall be included in computing interest in connection with such payment. The outstanding principal
balance of this Note shall be due and payable on the EARLIER of (i) the acceleration of the Indebtedness pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents; or (ii)
FEBRUARY 29, 2017 (the EARLIER of such date being, the “ Maturity Date ”). Accrued and unpaid interest on the outstanding principal balance of this Note
shall be due and payable monthly commencing on MARCH 29, 2016 , and continuing on the SAME day of each calendar month thereafter (or if no corresponding
date shall exist in any calendar month, on the LAST day of such calendar month) and on the Maturity Date. Debtor may borrow, repay and reborrow hereunder at
any time, up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any one time equal to the principal amount of this Note, provided that Debtor is not in Default and
that the borrowings hereunder do not exceed the borrowing base or other limitation on borrowings by Debtor. Lender shall incur no liability for its refusal to
advance funds based upon its determination that any conditions of such further advances have not been met. Lender’s records of the amounts borrowed from time
to time shall be conclusive proof thereof absent manifest error. Lender and Debtor expressly agree that Chapter 346 of the Act shall not apply to this Note or to any
advances under this Note and that neither this Note nor any such advances shall be governed by or subject to the provisions of such Chapter in any manner
whatsoever.
4. Delinquency Charge . In the event any installment owing under this Note, or any part thereof, remains unpaid for TEN (10) or more days past the
due date thereof as provided above, Debtor shall pay to Lender, in addition to any other amounts to which Lender may be entitled hereunder, a reasonable late
payment fee equal to FIVE PERCENT (5.00%) of the amount of said installment, which amount is stipulated by Debtor to be reasonable in order to compensate
Lender for its additional costs incurred as a result of having to attend to such delinquency. This late charge should be paid only once as to such amount as is due
and owing, but promptly, as to each respective late payment. It is further agreed that the imposition of any such late payment fee shall in no way prejudice or limit
Lender’s rights or remedies against Debtor under this Note or any of the other Loan Documents. In the event any check or other payment item used to make a
payment to Lender is dishonored for any reason, Debtor shall pay to Lender, in addition to any other amounts to which Lender may be entitled hereunder, a
reasonable processing fee of THIRTY AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($30.00) (or the maximum amount provided from time to time in Section 3.506(b) of the Texas
Business and Commerce Code). This processing fee should be paid once with respect to each dishonor of a check or other payment item. It is further agreed that
the imposition of any such processing fee shall in no way prejudice or limit Lender’s rights or remedies against Debtor under this Note or any of the other Loan
Documents.

5.
Waivers, Consents and Covenants . DEBTOR, ANY INDORSER OR GUARANTOR HEREOF, OR ANY OTHER PARTY HERETO
(INDIVIDUALLY AN “ OBLIGOR ” AND COLLECTIVELY “ OBLIGORS ”) AND EACH OF THEM JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY: (A) WAIVES
PRESENTMENT, DEMAND, PROTEST, NOTICE OF DEMAND, NOTICE OF INTENT TO ACCELERATE, NOTICE OF ACCELERATION OF
MATURITY, NOTICE OF PROTEST, NOTICE OF NONPAYMENT, NOTICE OF DISHONOR, AND ANY OTHER NOTICE REQUIRED TO BE
GIVEN UNDER THE LAW TO ANY OBLIGOR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DELIVERY, ACCEPTANCE, PERFORMANCE, DEFAULT OR
ENFORCEMENT OF THIS NOTE, ANY INDORSEMENT OR GUARANTY OF THIS NOTE, OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS EXECUTED IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS NOTE OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS NOW OR HEREAFTER EXECUTED IN CONNECTION WITH ANY
OBLIGATION OF DEBTOR TO LENDER; (B) CONSENTS TO ALL DELAYS, EXTENSIONS, RENEWALS OR OTHER MODIFICATIONS OF
THIS NOTE OR THE LOAN DOCUMENTS AS MAY BE AGREED IN WRITING BY DEBTOR AND LENDER, OR WAIVERS OF ANY TERM
HEREOF OR OF THE LOAN DOCUMENTS, OR RELEASE OR DISCHARGE BY LENDER OF ANY OBLIGORS, OR RELEASE, SUBSTITUTION
OR EXCHANGE OF ANY SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT HEREOF, OR THE FAILURE TO ACT ON THE PART OF LENDER, OR ANY
INDULGENCE SHOWN BY LENDER (WITHOUT NOTICE TO OR FURTHER ASSENT FROM ANY OBLIGORS); (C) AGREES THAT NO SUCH
ACTION, FAILURE TO ACT OR FAILURE TO EXERCISE ANY RIGHT OR REMEDY BY LENDER SHALL IN ANY WAY AFFECT OR IMPAIR
THE OBLIGATIONS OF ANY OBLIGORS OR BE CONSTRUED AS A WAIVER BY LENDER OF, OR OTHERWISE AFFECT, ANY OF
LENDER’S RIGHTS UNDER THIS NOTE, UNDER ANY INDORSEMENT OR GUARANTY OF THIS NOTE OR UNDER ANY OF THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS; AND (D) AGREES TO PAY, ON DEMAND, ALL COSTS AND EXPENSES OF COLLECTION OR DEFENSE OF THIS NOTE OR
OF ANY INDORSEMENT OR GUARANTY HEREOF AND/OR THE ENFORCEMENT OR DEFENSE OF LENDER’S RIGHTS WITH RESPECT
TO, OR THE ADMINISTRATION, SUPERVISION, PRESERVATION, OR PROTECTION OF, OR REALIZATION UPON, ANY PROPERTY
SECURING PAYMENT HEREOF, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, REASONABLE ATTORNEY’S FEES, INCLUDING FEES RELATED
TO ANY SUIT, MEDIATION OR ARBITRATION PROCEEDING, OUT OF COURT PAYMENT AGREEMENT, TRIAL, APPEAL, BANKRUPTCY
PROCEEDINGS OR OTHER PROCEEDING, IN SUCH AMOUNT AS MAY BE DETERMINED REASONABLE BY ANY ARBITRATOR OR
COURT, WHICHEVER IS APPLICABLE.
6.

Prepayments . Prepayments may be made in whole or in part at any time without premium or penalty.

7. Remedies Upon Default . Whenever there is an Event of Default the entire balance outstanding hereunder and all other obligations of any Obligor to
Lender (however acquired or evidenced) shall, at the option of Lender, become immediately due and payable and any obligation of Lender to permit further
borrowing under this Note shall immediately cease and terminate. From and after (a) an Event of Default, or (b) the Maturity Date (whether by acceleration or
otherwise), the Rate on the unpaid principal balance of this Note shall be increased at Lender’s discretion up to the LESSER of (i) EIGHTEEN PERCENT
(18.00%) , or (ii) the MAXIMUM RATE (the “ Maturity Rate ”). The provisions herein for a Maturity Rate (a) shall not be deemed to extend the time for any
payment hereunder or to constitute a “grace period” giving Obligors a right to cure any default, and (b) shall be deemed the contract rate of interest applicable to
the outstanding principal balance of the Note from and after the occurrence of one of the events set forth in this Section. At Lender’s option, any accrued and
unpaid interest, fees or charges may, for purposes of computing and accruing interest on a daily basis after the due date of this Note or any installment thereof, be
deemed to be a part of the principal balance, and interest shall accrue on a daily compounded basis after such date at the Maturity Rate provided in this Note until
the entire outstanding balance of principal and interest is paid in full. Upon an Event of Default, Lender is hereby authorized at any time, at its option and without
notice or demand, to set off and charge against any deposit accounts of any Obligor (as well as any money, instruments, securities, documents, chattel paper,
credits, claims, demands, income and any other property, rights and interests of any Obligor), which at any time shall come into the possession or custody or under
the control of Lender or any of its agents, affiliates or correspondents, any and all obligations due hereunder. Additionally, Lender shall have all rights and
remedies available under each of the Loan Documents, as well as all rights and remedies available at law or in equity.

8. Waiver . The failure at any time of Lender to exercise any of its options or any other rights hereunder shall not constitute a waiver thereof, nor shall
it be a bar to the exercise of any of its options or rights at a later date. All rights and remedies of Lender shall be cumulative and may be pursued singly,
successively or together, at the option of Lender. The acceptance by Lender of any partial payment shall not constitute a waiver of any default or of any of
Lender’s rights under this Note. No waiver of any of its rights hereunder, and no modification or amendment of this Note, shall be deemed to be made by Lender
unless the same shall be in writing, duly signed on behalf of Lender; each such waiver shall apply only with respect to the specific instance involved, and shall in
no way impair the rights of Lender or the obligations of Obligors to Lender in any other respect at any other time .
9.
Applicable Law . Debtor agrees that this Note shall be deemed to have been made in the State of Texas at Lender’s address indicated at the
beginning of this Note and shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Texas and is performable in the City and County of
Texas indicated at the beginning of this Note.
10.
Partial Invalidity . The unenforceability or invalidity of any provision of this Note shall not affect the enforceability or validity of any other
provision herein and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Note or of the Loan Documents to any person or circumstance shall not affect the
enforceability or validity of such provision as it may apply to other persons or circumstances.
11. Binding Effect . This Note shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Obligors and Lender and their respective successors, assigns, heirs and
personal representatives, provided, however, that no obligations of Obligors hereunder can be assigned without prior written consent of Lender.
12. Controlling Document . To the extent that this Note conflicts with or is in any way incompatible with any other document related specifically to
the loan evidenced by this Note, this Note shall control over any other such document, and if this Note does not address an issue, then each other such document
shall control to the extent that it deals most specifically with an issue.
13.
Commercial Purpose . DEBTOR REPRESENTS TO LENDER THAT THE PROCEEDS OF THIS LOAN ARE TO BE USED
PRIMARILY FOR BUSINESS, COMMERCIAL OR AGRICULTURAL PURPOSES AND NOT FOR PERSONAL, FAMILY OR HOUSEHOLD
PURPOSES. DEBTOR ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ AND UNDERSTOOD, AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY, ALL TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THIS NOTE.
14. Collection . If this Note is placed in the hands of an attorney for collection, or if it is collected through any legal proceeding at law or in equity or in
bankruptcy, receivership or other court proceedings, Debtor agrees to pay all costs of collection, including, but not limited to, court costs and reasonable attorneys’
fees.
15.

Time is of the Essence . Time is of the essence with respect to all provisions of this Note and the other Loan Documents.

16. Notice of Balloon Payment . At maturity (whether by acceleration or otherwise), Debtor must repay the entire principal balance of this Note and
unpaid interest then due. Lender is under no obligation to refinance the outstanding principal balance of this Note (if any) at that time. Debtor will, therefore, be
required to make payment out of other assets Debtor may own; or Debtor will have to find a lender willing to lend Debtor the money at prevailing market rates,
which may be higher than the interest rate on the outstanding principal balance of this Note. If Obligors have guaranteed payment of this Note, Obligors may be
required to perform under such guaranty.
17. Statement of Unpaid Balance . At any time and from time to time, Debtor will furnish promptly, upon the request of Lender, a written statement
or affidavit, in form satisfactory to Lender, stating the unpaid balance of the Loan evidenced by this Note and that there are no offsets or defenses against full
payment of the Loan evidenced by this Note and the terms hereof, or if there are any such offsets or defenses, specifying them.

18.
Waiver of Jury Trial . TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OBLIGOR AND LENDER
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND EXPRESSLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING, OR
COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED UPON CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ANY OF THE
LOAN DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY OR THE ACTIONS OF LENDER IN THE NEGOTIATION,
ADMINISTRATION, OR ENFORCEMENT THEREOF. EACH OBLIGOR (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR
ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PERSON HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PERSON WOULD NOT, IN
THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT DEBTOR HAS BEEN
INDUCED TO EXECUTE THIS NOTE AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE WAIVERS AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

NOTICE OF FINAL AGREEMENT
THIS NOTE AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES, AND THE SAME
MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE
PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

EXECUTED as of the Effective Date.
DEBTOR: ADDRESS:
CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP.

4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800
Newport Beach, CA 92660

By: /s/ Robert M. Vreeland
Name: Robert M. Vreeland
Title: Chief Financial Officer
CLEAN ENERGY

4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800
Newport Beach, CA 92660

By: /s/ Robert M. Vreeland
Name: Robert M. Vreeland
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 10.112
PLEDGED ACCOUNT AGREEMENT
This Agreement is made as of this 29th day of February, 2016 among PlainsCapital Bank - Wealth Management and Trust, a
Department of PlainsCapital Bank (the “Trust Department”), PlainsCapital Bank (the “Bank”), and Clean Energy, a California
corporation (the “Client”).
Whereas, the Bank, Client, and Clean Energy Fuels Corp., a Delaware corporation, have entered into an agreement whereby the
Client has pledged certain of Client’s assets (“assets”) as collateral for amounts loaned by the Bank to the client pursuant to one or
more security agreements (all of which are referred to herein as the “Security Agreement”); and
Whereas, the Security Agreement is comprised of that certain Loan and Security Agreement for Loan Number, dated February 29,
2016, and providing for the extension of a credit facility to Client in the amount of Fifty Million Dollars ($50,000,000 dollars); and
Whereas, some or all of the assets pledged pursuant to the Security Agreement are comprised of securities; and
Whereas, the Client wishes to hold such assets in an account established with Trust Department and thereafter to direct the
investment and reinvestment of the assets subject to the requirements of this Agreement; and
Whereas, the Bank is willing to permit the Client’s investment and reinvestment of the assets through such an account maintained by
the Client with the Trust Department subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.
NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:
1.
Denomination of the Account . All of the assets may be held in nominee name in an account with the Trust Department in
the name of the Client, and designated as account number (the “Account”), bearing the tax identification number of the Client, and
the proceeds, together with all income thereon, shall belong exclusively to the Client, subject to the security interest of the Bank
created by the Security Agreement.
2.
Restriction of the Account . The Trust Department shall not permit any of the pledged assets (as listed in the Security
Agreement between the Bank and the Client) to be paid out of the Account, to be delivered, or to be transferred therefrom, or to be
otherwise encumbered or hypothecated, except on the written instructions of an authorized officer of the Bank as hereinafter
provided. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trust Department is expressly authorized, without prior written consent of the Bank: (i)
to distribute, to the Client, as requested in writing, all interest, cash dividends and other income received on assets held in the
Account, (ii) to allow withdrawals from the Account for the payment of any commissions, markups, service charges or any other
fees or charges assessed

by the Trust Department, (iii) to allow funds to be paid or assets to be delivered or transferred from the Account as may be required
by any rule, regulation, or statute, including, but not limited to, Federal Reserve Bank Regulations; or (iv) to transfer or deliver
assets as authorized by paragraph 3, herein. No restrictions shall be applied to any assets of the Account which are not pledged
pursuant to the Security Agreement (it being understood that assets are described by type (i.e., bonds) in the Security Agreement),
and the Client will continue to retain all authority with respect to such non-pledged assets granted to it according to the agreement
establishing the Account executed by the Client and the Trust Department.
3.
Trading Authority . The Bank and Client agree, consent, and understand that the Client has appointed the Trust
Department as its agent. In serving in this capacity, the Trust Department will be subject to the terms of the agreement establishing
the Account. Subject to Section 5 hereof, if the Client maintains investment discretion over the assets in the Account, Client may
provide the Trust Department instructions regarding investment purchases, sales, and exchanges. If the Client does not maintain
investment discretion over the assets in the Account, then, subject to Section 5 hereof, the Trust Department shall have full trading
authority to purchase, sell, exchange, or transfer assets and to effect substitution of any of the pledged assets held in the Account
without the necessity of obtaining the prior written approval of the Bank. If the Bank has given written notice to Trust Department of
the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default (as defined in the Security Agreement) pursuant to Section 5 hereof, the Trust
Department shall be entitled to complete any transactions which are pending settlement as of the date the Trust Department actually
receives such notice from Bank. The Trust Department may employ and delegate investment decisions to a third party investment
advisor, including an affiliate, to assist the Trust Department in providing investment services. In addition to the foregoing, so long
as no Default or Event of Default exists, Client may withdraw funds or assets from the Account, subject to the Borrowing Base (as
defined in the Security Agreement) limitations and margin call requirements in the Security Agreement.
4.
Market Fluctuations . The Bank understands and agrees that the nature of assets held in the Account is such that the
aggregate market value of such assets may fluctuate as a result of market factors beyond the direct control of Client and the Trust
Department. Due to such market risk, the aggregate market value of the Account may fall below the amount of Client’s outstanding
indebtedness to the Bank. The Bank acknowledges and understands that the Trust Department does not represent, warrant or
guarantee that the assets held in the Account will maintain any minimum aggregate market value. Bank and Client accept this market
risk as a condition of the Trust Department’s accepting this Agreement and hold Trust Department harmless with respect to any loss
in market value of the Account resulting from such market risk.
5.

Client’s Default .
a.
Trading authorization . Following actual receipt of written notice to the Trust Department from the Bank of a Default
or an Event of Default, the Trust Department shall not affect any trades or changes to investments with respect to the assets
pledged without the express prior written consent of the Bank. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trust Department may
continue

to allow withdrawals from the Account of any commissions, markups, service charges or any other fees or charges assessed by
the Trust Department and allow funds to be paid or assets to be delivered or transferred from the Account as may be required by
any applicable rule, regulation, or statute.
b.
Delivery of assets to Bank . Following actual receipt of written notice to the Trust Department from the Bank of a
Default or Event of Default or contemporaneous therewith, the Bank may deliver to the Trust Department written demand that
the pledged assets held in the Account, or any part of the pledged assets held in the Account, which shall be identified with
particularity in the demand, be delivered into its possession or into the possession of any correspondent bank identified in
Bank’s written demand to the Trust Department. Upon actual receipt of such demand, the Trust Department shall, within a
reasonable period of time, deliver to the Bank or to its correspondent bank, the requested portion of the assets and funds then
held in the Account as collateral. Upon actual receipt of any such demand, the Trust Department shall have no duty to make
independent inquiry into the Bank’s right to make such demand under the Security Agreement, shall be obligated to perform
only the duties specifically set forth herein, and need not take notice of any provisions of the Security Agreement. In the case of
conflicting demands upon the Trust Department by the Bank and the Client, Bank and Client agree and understand that the Trust
Department shall be entitled to rely on the Bank’s representation that it is entitled to delivery of pledged assets then held in the
Account as collateral, and the Trust Department shall not be or become liable in any way for its refusal to comply with a
conflicting or adverse directive of the Client. This provision shall in no way diminish or affect any legal rights which the Client
may have or be entitled to pursue against the Bank. The Trust Department shall have no duty or obligation whatsoever of any
kind or character to determine whether or not a Default or an Event of Default exists, and Bank and Client agree to indemnify
and hold harmless the Trust Department, its affiliates, directors, officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all
claims, causes of action, liabilities, lawsuits, demands and or damages, and all court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees, that
may result by reason of the Trust Department’s complying with the Bank’s written instructions.
c.
Liquidation of Assets by the Trust Department . If the Bank, pursuant to 5(b) above, directs the Trust Department to
effect the liquidation of all or part of the pledged assets held in the Account as collateral, the Trust Department will proceed to
liquidate the assets, or any portion thereof, as directed in writing by the Bank, on a best efforts basis. Bank acknowledges and
agrees there is no assurance that a liquid market exists for all of the assets in the Account, and that amounts realized from the
sale of non-liquid assets may differ significantly from the reported market value of the security. Client and Bank agree to hold
Trust Department harmless with respect to any loss relating to the sale of non-liquid assets.
6.
Written Instructions of Parties . Notwithstanding anything herein contained to the contrary, the Trust Department shall at
all times have full right and authority to pay over, disburse or transfer the assets held in the Account in accordance with the joint
written instructions signed by the Client and by an authorized officer of the Bank. On any occasion when the Client is entitled to
withdraw assets according to the terms of the Security Agreement and timely notifies the Bank of the Client’s intention to do so as
provided by the Security Agreement, the Bank shall promptly, at the Client’s

request, prepare, execute and provide to the Client for the Client’s signature, written authorization addressed to the Trust Department
identifying the amount of funds or assets, or the specific assets, which the Trust Department is authorized to disburse.
7.
Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing
and addressed as follows:
If to the Trust Department: PlainsCapital Bank - Wealth Management and Trust
Attn:
2911 Turtle Creek Blvd, Suite 700
Dallas, TX 75219
If to Client :

Clean Energy
Attn: Robert M. Vreeland, Chief Financial Officer
4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800
Newport Beach, CA 92660

If to Bank:

PlainsCapital Bank
Attn: Cole Dulaney
2911 Turtle Creek Boulevard, Suite 1300
Dallas, TX 75219
Any such notice or other communication shall be deemed to have been received by a party if sent by registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested, on the date specified on the return receipt or, if personally delivered, upon the date of such delivery. The
person to whom copies of notices are to be sent shall have the right at any time, and from time to time, to change its address for
notice or person to receive notice by giving notice in the manner specified in this paragraph. No notice or other communication
hereunder shall be made by fax or email.
8.
Termination . This Agreement will automatically renew annually and will remain in effect until the Trust Department has been
notified in writing by the Bank that the Security Agreement has been terminated. The Trust Department reserves the right to
terminate its obligations under this Agreement with respect to the assets pledged, under the applicable Uniform Commercial Code
sections and this Agreement, by giving all parties hereto thirty (30) days prior written notice of its intent to transfer the pledged
assets to the Bank, to another broker-dealer or financial institution as directed by the parties, or otherwise terminate its Account
relationship with the Client and distribute the assets in the Account as directed by the parties.
9.
No Additional Obligation . This Agreement shall not operate to create any obligations or duties upon the Trust Department
greater than or in addition to the customary and usual obligations and duties of the Trust Department to Client, except and to the
extent that the Trust Department shall hereafter accept instructions in connection with the Account and/or the pledged assets as
provided in this Agreement.

10.
Release and Indemnification . Client hereby agrees to release, discharge, acquit and hold harmless PlainsCapital Bank, all
of its past and present owners, affiliates, parent corporations (including Hilltop Holdings Incorporated and PlainsCapital
Corporation), subsidiaries, shareholders, agents, employees, representatives, assignees, successors, attorneys, and their respective
officers and directors (collectively, the “PCB-Released Parties”) of and from any and all disputes, contests, controversies, demands,
claims, causes of action, actions, suits at law, suits in equity, compensation and damages including punitive and exemplary damages,
whether known or unknown, whether sounding in tort or in contract, relating to, treating, dealing with, arising from, resulting from
and in any other way connected with the Security Agreement, this Agreement, the Account or the pledged assets. Client also
represents, warrants and covenants that it will indemnify the PCB-Released parties, and any of them, for any damages the PCBReleased parties, and any of them, may suffer and incur with respect to the Security Agreement, this Agreement, the Account or the
pledged assets.
11.
Descriptive Headings . Titles of sections and subsections contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of
reference only and neither form a part of this Agreement nor are they to be used in the construction or interpretation thereof.
12.
Waiver . Any waiver by any party of a breach of any term or condition of this Agreement shall not operate as a waiver of
any other breach of such term or condition nor shall any failures to enforce such provision operate as a waiver of such provision.
13.
Successors and Assigns . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their
respective transferees, successors and assigns.
14.

Applicable Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas.

15.
Prior Agreements . The Client and Bank acknowledge that this Agreement supplements any of Bank’s or Client’s
existing agreement(s) with the Trust Department and in no way is this Agreement intended to abridge or limit any rights that the
Trust Department might otherwise have under any such existing agreement(s).
Client :
CLEAN ENERGY
By: /s/ Robert M. Vreeland
Name: Robert M. Vreeland
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Bank:
Entity Name: PLAINSCAPITAL BANK
Officer Name (printed): Cole Dulaney

Title: Executive Vice President
Date: February 29, 2016
Signature: /s/ Cole Dulaney

Trust Department:
PlainsCapital Bank - Wealth Management & Trust Division, a Department of PlainsCapital Bank
Officer Name (printed ): Lindsey Nichols
Title: Vice President
Date: February 29, 2016
Signature: /s/ Lindsey Nichols
Senior Administrator Officer/ Market Manager Name (printed): Frank A. Glispin
Date: February 29, 2016
Signature: /s/ Frank A. Glispin
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PLAINSCAPITAL BANK – LOAN NO.

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (as amended, modified or restated from time to time, this “ Agreement ”) dated as of FEBRUARY 29,
2016 (the “ Effective Date ”), is between PLAINSCAPITAL BANK , a Texas state bank (together with its successors and assigns, “ Lender ”), CLEAN
ENERGY FUELS CORP. , a Delaware corporation (“ CEFC ”), and CLEAN ENERGY , a California corporation (“ CE ,” and together with CEFC, individually
and collectively, “ Debtor ”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS , Debtor has requested that Lender extend the Credit Facility to Debtor on the terms described in this Agreement; and
WHEREAS , Lender is willing to make the Credit Facility available to Debtor upon and subject to the provisions, terms and conditions set forth in the
Loan Documents;
NOW THEREFORE , the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
1.
Definitions . As used in this Agreement, all exhibits, appendices and schedules hereto, and in any other Loan Documents made or delivered
pursuant to this Agreement, the following terms will have the meanings given such terms in this Section 1 or in the provisions, sections or recitals herein:
“ Borrowing Base ” means, as of any date, the aggregate Fair Market Value of each item of Eligible Collateral, multiplied by its Borrowing Base
Percentage.
“ Borrowing Base Deficiency ” means, as of any date, the amount by which the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Loans exceeds the amount
of the Borrowing Base.
“ Borrowing Base Percentage ” means, with respect to any item of Eligible Collateral, the percentage set forth under the heading “Borrowing Base
Percentage” in the table set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto.
“ Business Day ” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or any other day on which the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas, Texas, is closed.
“ Code ” means the Uniform Commercial Code as the same may, from time to time, be enacted and in effect in the State of Texas; provided, that to the
extent that the Code is used to define any term herein or in any Loan Document and such term is defined differently in different articles or divisions of the Code,
the definition of such term contained in Article 9 shall govern; provided further, that in the event that, by reason of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the
attachment, perfection or priority of, or remedies with respect to, Lender’s lien on any Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in
effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of Texas, the term “ Code ” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such other jurisdiction
solely for purposes of the provisions thereof relating to such attachment, perfection, priority or remedies and for purposes of definitions related to such provisions.
“ Collateral ” means: (i) all Eligible Collateral and other stocks, bonds, cash, financial assets, general intangibles, instruments, investment property,
securities, securities entitlements, and Rights relating to any of the foregoing deposited or credited from time to time in one or more securities account(s) or other
accounts standing in Debtor’s name which are identified on Schedule 1(c) attached hereto (individually and collectively, as the case may require, the “ Collateral
Account ”), and (ii) the Collateral Account. The term “ Collateral ,” as used herein, shall also include (i) any other property or assets, real or personal, tangible or
intangible, now existing or hereafter acquired, of Debtor that may at any time be or become subject to a security interest or lien in favor of Lender as security for
the Indebtedness, and (ii) all SUPPORTING OBLIGATIONS, PRODUCTS and PROCEEDS of all of the foregoing and any property, assets, securities,
guaranties or monies of Debtor which may at any time come into the possession of Lender. The term “ Collateral ,” as used herein, expressly excludes any
individual retirement account.
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“ Control Agreement ” means any agreement among Lender, Debtor, and Securities Intermediary governing the “control” (as such term is defined in the
Code) of the Collateral Account, including, without limitation, the Control Agreement—Effective Date.
“ Control Agreement—Effective Date ” means that certain PLEDGED ACCOUNT AGREEMENT dated as of the Effective Date, among Lender, CE,
and Securities Intermediary, governing the “control” (as such term is defined in the Code) of the Collateral Account, as the same may be amended, restated, or
otherwise modified from time to time. Reference is herein made to the Control Agreement—Effective Date, including Sections 2 and 3 therein, for provisions
relating to CE’s investment discretion over funds in the Collateral Acocunt.
“ Default ” means any Event of Default or event which with notice and/or the passage of time would be an Event of Default.
“ Default/Margin Call Percentage ” means, with respect to any item of Eligible Collateral, the percentage set forth under the heading “Default/Margin
Call Percentage” opposite such type of Eligible Collateral in the table set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto.
“ Eligible Collateral ” means Collateral held in the Collateral Account consisting of: (i) cash and (ii) corporate and municipal bonds rated AAA, AA, or A
by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services.
“ Fair Market Value ” means, (i) with respect to any bonds, financial assets, instruments, investment property, and securities pledged as Collateral, and
unless the context indicates otherwise, the last reported sale price of such bonds, financial assets, instruments, investment property, securities, on the New York
Stock Exchange or the American Stock Exchange, as applicable, or the closing bid price as quoted for such bonds, financial assets, instruments, investment
property, securities, on the NASDAQ, on the Business Day immediately preceding the valuation date, and (ii) in the case of any other property or assets or interest
in any property or asset, the “ Fair Market Value ” shall be the fair value thereof as determined by the Lender, from time to time, in its sole but reasonable
discretion.
“ Governmental Authority ” means the government of the United States of America, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or
local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or
administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government.
“ Indebtedness ” means (i) all indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of Debtor to Lender now existing or hereafter arising under the Note, this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (ii) all accrued but unpaid interest on any of the indebtedness described in (i) above, (iii) all costs and expenses incurred
by Lender in connection with the collection and administration of all or any part of the indebtedness and obligations described in (i) and (ii) above or the protection
or preservation of, or realization upon, the Collateral securing all or any part of such indebtedness and obligations, including without limitation all reasonable
attorneys’ fees, and (iv) all renewals, extensions, modifications and rearrangements of the indebtedness and obligations described in (i), (ii), and (iii) above.
“ Liquidation Percentage ” means, with respect to any item of Eligible Collateral, the percentage set forth under the heading “Liquidation Percentage”
opposite such type of Eligible Collateral in the table set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto.
“ Loan Documents ” means this Agreement, the Note, any Control Agreement, and the other agreements, instruments and documents evidencing,
securing, governing, guaranteeing or pertaining to the Loans.
“ Loans ” means all advances under the Credit Facility as established pursuant to the Loan Documents from time to time.
“ Material Adverse Effect ” means any act, event, condition, or circumstance which would materially and adversely affect: (a) the operations, business,
properties, liabilities (actual or contingent), or condition (financial or otherwise) of Debtor; (b) the ability of Debtor to perform its obligations under any Loan
Document to which it is a party; or (c) the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability against Debtor of any Loan Document to which it is a party.
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“ Note ” means that certain PROMISSORY NOTE dated as of the Effective Date, executed by Debtor and payable to the order of Lender in the amount
of the Credit Facility, as the same may be amended, restated, or otherwise modified from time to time.
“ Permitted Encumbrances ” means the following encumbrances:
(a) liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies not yet due and payable or liens for taxes, assessments or governmental
charges or levies being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves have been established; and
(b) liens created by or pursuant to the Loan Documents.
“ Person ” means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, association, company, partnership, joint venture, Governmental
Authority, or other entity, and shall include such Person’s heirs, administrators, personal representatives, executors, successors and assigns.
“ Rights ” means any securities, dividends or other distributions and any other right or property which Debtor shall receive or shall become entitled to
receive for any reason whatsoever with respect to, in substitution for or in exchange for any securities or other ownership interests in a corporation, partnership,
joint venture or limited liability company constituting Collateral and any securities, any right to receive securities and any right to receive earnings, in which
Debtor now has or hereafter acquires any right, issued by an issuer of such securities.
“ Securities Intermediary ” means PLAINSCAPITAL BANK - WEALTH MANAGEMENT AND TRUST , a Department of PlainsCapital Bank, or
another securities intermediary acceptable to Lender.
All words and phrases used herein shall have the meaning specified in the Code except to the extent such meaning is inconsistent with this Agreement. All
definitions contained in this Agreement are equally applicable to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. The words “hereof,” “herein,” and “hereunder”
and words of similar import referring to this Agreement refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.
2.

Credit Facility .

(a)
Revolving Credit Facility . Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, Lender
hereby agrees to lend to Debtor under a revolving credit facility (the “ Credit Facility ”) an aggregate sum not to exceed the lesser of (i) the Borrowing
Base, and (ii) FIFTY MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($50,000,000.00) , on a revolving basis from time to time during the period commencing on
the Effective Date and continuing until: (i) the acceleration of the Indebtedness pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents; or (ii) FEBRUARY 29,
2017 . If at any time the sum of the aggregate principal amount of Loans outstanding hereunder exceeds the limitations stated above, such amount shall be
deemed an “ Overadvance .” Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, but without limitation of Lender’s rights under Section 4(e)
hereof, an Overadvance shall be considered a Loan and shall bear interest at the rates set forth in the Note and be secured by this Agreement. Subject to
the terms and conditions hereof, Debtor may borrow, repay and reborrow funds under the Credit Facility.
(b)
Funding . Lender reserves the right to require not less than ONE (1) Business Day prior notice of each Loan under the Credit
Facility, specifying the aggregate amount of such Loan together with any documentation relating thereto as Lender may reasonably request, including
evidence of compliance with the Borrowing Base. Debtor shall give Lender notice of each Loan under the Credit Facility by no later than 1:00 p.m.
(Dallas, Texas time) on the date provided herein. Lender at its option may accept telephonic requests for such Loan, provided that such acceptance shall
not constitute a waiver of Lender’s right to require delivery of a written request in connection with subsequent Loans. Lender shall have no liability to
Debtor for any loss or damage suffered by Debtor as a result of Lender’s honoring of any requests, execution of any instructions, authorizations or
agreements or reliance on any reports communicated to it telephonically, by facsimile or electronically and purporting to have been sent to Lender by
Debtor and Lender shall have no duty to verify the origin of any such communication or the identity or authority of the Person sending it. Subject to the
terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Loan under this Section shall be made available to Debtor by depositing
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the same, in immediately available funds, in an account of Debtor designated by Debtor or by paying the proceeds of such Loan to a third party
designated by Debtor.
(c)

Use of Proceeds . The Loans under the Credit Facility shall be used by Debtor for working capital.

(d)
Fees . Debtor agrees to pay to Lender a line of credit fee equal to SEVEN THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND NO/100
DOLLARS ($7,500.00) for the establishment of the Credit Facility. The line of credit fee shall be due and payable on the Effective Date and shall be
deemed fully earned as of the Effective Date. The line of credit fee shall compensate Lender for its costs and expenses in the structuring of the Credit
Facility and (to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law) shall not be deemed interest.
(e)
Joint and Several Liability . Each Debtor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally: (i) agrees that each is JOINTLY and
SEVERALLY liable to Lender for the full and prompt payment and performance of the Indebtedness under the Loan Documents in accordance with the
terms thereof; (ii) agrees to fully and promptly perform all of their obligations hereunder and the other Loan Documents with respect to each Advance
hereunder as if such Advance had been made directly to it; and (iii) agrees as a primary obligation to indemnify Lender on demand for and against any
loss incurred by Lender as a result of any of the Indebtedness being or becoming void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective for any reason whatsoever,
whether or not known to Lender or any person, the amount of such loss being the amount which Lender would otherwise have been entitled to recover
from any one or more of Debtor and other Person named as Debtor under the Loan Documents from time to time.
3. Note, Rate and Computation of Interest . The Credit Facility shall be evidenced by a Note duly executed by Debtor and payable to the order of
Lender, in form and substance acceptable to Lender. Interest on the Note shall accrue at the rates set forth therein. The principal of and interest on the Note shall be
due and payable in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Note and in this Agreement.
4.

Collateral .

(a) Grant of Security Interest . As collateral security for the prompt payment in full when due (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or
otherwise) of the Indebtedness, Debtor hereby pledges to and grants Lender, a security interest in all of Debtor’s right, title and interest in the Collateral,
whether now owned by Debtor or hereafter acquired and whether now existing or hereafter coming into existence.
(b) Additional Documents . To secure full and complete payment and performance of the Indebtedness, Debtor shall execute and deliver or
cause to be executed and delivered all of the Loan Documents reasonably required by Lender covering the Collateral. Debtor shall execute and cause to be
executed such further documents and instruments, as Lender, in its reasonable discretion, deems necessary or desirable to create, evidence, preserve, and
perfect its liens and security interests in the Collateral. In the event any of the Loan Documents evidencing or securing the Indebtedness misrepresents or
inaccurately reflects the correct terms and/or provisions of the Indebtedness, Debtor shall upon request by Lender and in order to correct such mistake,
execute such new documents or initial corrected, original documents as Lender may deem necessary to remedy said errors or mistakes. Debtor shall
execute such other documents as Lender shall deem reasonably necessary to correct any defects or deficiencies in the Loan Documents. Debtor’s failure
to execute such documents as requested shall constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement.
(c)
Setoff . If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Lender shall have the right to set off and apply against the
Indebtedness in such manner as Lender may determine, at any time and without notice to Debtor, any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand,
provisional or final) or other sums at any time credited by or owing from Lender to Debtor whether or not the Indebtedness is then due. The rights and
remedies of Lender hereunder are in addition to any other rights and remedies (including, without limitation, other rights of setoff) which Lender may
have.
(d) Satisfaction of Indebtedness . Until the Indebtedness has been indefeasibly paid and fully satisfied (other than contingent indemnification
obligations to the extent no unsatisfied claim has been asserted) and the commitments of Lender under the Credit Facility have been terminated, Lender
shall be entitled to
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retain the security interests in the Collateral granted under the Loan Documents and the ability to exercise all rights and remedies available to Lender
under the Loan Documents and applicable laws.
(e)

Additional Collateral .

(i)
If at the close of business on any Business Day (x) the outstanding principal balance of the Loans equals or exceeds (y) an
amount equal to the Fair Market Value of Eligible Collateral pledged as Collateral multiplied by the Default/Margin Call Percentage, Lender shall give
notice to Debtor of the same, and, prior to the close of business on the THIRD (3 rd ) Business Day after the occurrence of such event (such date, being a
“ Call Date ”), Debtor shall (1) prepay a portion of the Loans, and/or (2) pledge to Lender additional Eligible Collateral sufficient to cause the Borrowing
Base Deficiency to be cured. If at the close of business on such Call Date, Debtor has failed to comply with this clause (i) , Lender may, without notice to
Debtor or any other action, immediately liquidate all or any portion of the Collateral and apply the same to satisfy the Indebtedness, in Lender’s sole
discretion.
(ii)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at the close of business on any Business Day (x) the outstanding principal balance of the
Loans equals or exceeds (y) an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of Eligible Collateral pledged as Collateral multiplied by the Liquidation
Percentage, Lender may, without notice to Debtor or any other action, immediately liquidate all or any portion of the Collateral and apply the same to
satisfy the Indebtedness, in Lender’s sole discretion.
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, Pledgor’s failure to comply with this Section 4(e) shall be an automatic Event of Default.
5.

Conditions Precedent .

(a) Initial Loan . The obligation of Lender to make the initial Loan under the Credit Facility, is subject to the condition precedent that Lender
shall have received on or before the day of such Loan all of the following, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender:
(i)
Closing Certificate . A CLOSING CERTIFICATE of an officer of Debtor that is not a natural Person, or an officer of
the governing body of Debtor, which certifies: (1) the resolutions of such Person authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of the Loan
Documents that Debtor is a party to; (2) certificates of the appropriate government officials of the state of organization of Debtor and any governing body
of Debtor, and any state any such Person is currently doing business as to the existence, qualification and good standing of such Person, dated no more
than TEN (10) days prior to the Effective Date; (3) the true and correct Constituent Documents of each Debtor and any governing body of Debtor and
(4) the names of the individuals or other Persons authorized to sign the Loan Documents that Debtor is a party to, together with specimen signatures of
such Persons.
(ii)
Lien Search . The results of a Code or other lien search showing all financing statements and other documents or
instruments on file against Debtor in such locations as Lender may reasonably request, dated no more than TEN (10) days prior to the Effective Date.
(iii)

Loan Documents . The Loan Documents executed by Debtor, including the Control Agreement.

(iv)
Fees and Expenses . Evidence that the costs and expenses of Lender (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) and all fees
owing to Lender, shall have been paid in full by Debtor.
(v)
(b)

Other Matters . Such other documents and agreements as may be required by Lender in its reasonable discretion.

All Loans . The obligation of Lender to make any Loan shall be subject to the following additional conditions precedent:
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(i)
Request for Loan . Lender shall have received in accordance with this Agreement, a request for a Loan in form and
content satisfactory to Lender in its reasonable discretion dated as of the date of request and executed by an authorized officer of Debtor.
(ii)
No Default or Event of Default . No Default or Event of Default, or event which could have a Material Adverse Effect,
shall have occurred and be continuing, or would result from or after giving effect to such Loan.
(iii)
Representations and Warranties . All of the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents shall be
true and correct in material respects on and as of the date of such Loan with the same force and effect as if such representations and warranties had been
made on and as of such date.
6.

Representations and Warranties . Debtor hereby represents and warrants, and upon each request for a Loan represents and warrants to Lender as

follows:
(a) Existence . Debtor (i) is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization; (ii) has
all requisite power and authority to own its assets and carry on its business as now being or as proposed to be conducted; and (iii) is qualified to do
business in all jurisdictions in which the nature of its business makes such qualification necessary and where failure to so qualify would have a Material
Adverse Effect. Debtor has the power and authority to execute, deliver, and perform its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is or may
become a party.
(b)
Binding Obligations . The execution, delivery, and performance of the Loan Documents by Debtor have been duly authorized by all
necessary action by Debtor, and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Debtor, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws of general application relating to the enforcement of creditors’ rights and except to the extent specific
remedies may generally be limited by equitable principles.
(c) No Consent . The execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
thereby, do not (i) conflict with, result in a violation of, or constitute a default under (1) any provision of the Constituent Documents (if any) or other
instrument binding upon Debtor, (2) any law, governmental regulation, court decree or order applicable to Debtor, or (3) any contractual obligation,
agreement, judgment, license, order or permit applicable to or binding upon Debtor, (ii) require the consent, approval or authorization of any third party,
or (iii) result in or require the creation of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any property or asset of Debtor except as may be expressly contemplated
in the Loan Documents.
(d)
Financial Condition . Each financial statement of Debtor supplied to Lender truly discloses and fairly presents such Person’s financial
condition as of the date of each such statement. There has been no material adverse change in such financial condition or results of operations of Debtor
subsequent to the date of the most recent financial statement supplied to Lender.
(e) Operation of Business . Debtor possesses all contracts, licenses, permits, franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks, and tradenames, or
rights thereto, necessary to conduct its businesses substantially as now conducted and as presently proposed to be conducted, and Debtor is not in
violation of any valid rights of others with respect to any of the foregoing, except any violations that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
(f) Litigation and Judgments . There is no action, suit, investigation, or proceeding before or by any Governmental Authority or arbitrator
pending, or to the knowledge of Debtor, threatened against or affecting Debtor that would, if adversely determined, have a Material Adverse Effect. There
are no outstanding judgments against Debtor.
(g)
Rights in Collateral; Liens . Debtor has good and indefeasible title to the Collateral, and none of the Collateral is subject to any lien,
except Permitted Encumbrances.
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(h) Disclosure . No statement, information, report, representation, or warranty made by Debtor in the Loan Documents or furnished to Lender
in connection with the Loan Documents or any of the transactions contemplated hereby contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state
any material fact necessary to make the statements herein or therein not misleading. There is no fact known to Debtor which could reasonably be expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect that has not been disclosed in writing to Lender.
(i) Taxes; Governmental Charges . Debtor has filed all federal, state and local tax reports and returns required by any law or regulation to be
filed by it and has either duly paid all taxes, duties and charges indicated due on the basis of such returns and reports, or made adequate provision for the
payment thereof, and the assessment of any material amount of additional taxes in excess of those paid and reported is not reasonably expected.
(j)
Security Interest . Debtor has and will have at all times full right, power and authority to grant a security interest in the Collateral to
Lender in the manner provided herein, free and clear of any lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance other than for the Permitted
Encumbrances. This Agreement creates a legal, valid and binding security interest (subject to Permitted Encumbrances) in favor of Lender in the
Collateral securing the Indebtedness.
(k)
Collateral Account . The Collateral Account is a valid and legally binding obligation of the Securities Intermediary, the securities
entitlements credited to the Collateral Account are valid and genuine, and Debtor has provided Lender with a complete and accurate statement of the
financial assets and the money credited to the Collateral Account as of the date of this Agreement. All Eligible Collateral is genuine and free from any
restriction on transfer.
7. Covenants . Until all Indebtedness of Debtor under the Loan Documents is indefeasibly paid or performed, and Lender has no further commitment
to lend under the Credit Facility, Debtor agrees and covenants as follows:
(a)
Payment of Obligations . Debtor will pay its obligations, including tax liabilities, that, if not paid, could become a lien on any of
Collateral, before the same shall become delinquent or in default, except where: (i) the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and (ii) Debtor has set aside adequate reserves with respect thereto.
(b) Books and Records; Inspection Rights . Debtor will keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are
made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities. Debtor will permit any representatives designated by Lender, upon
reasonable prior notice, to visit and inspect its properties, to examine and make extracts from its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and
condition with its officers and independent accountants, all at such reasonable times and as often as reasonably requested.
(c) Compliance with Laws . Debtor will comply with all laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or
its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
(d)

Notices of Material Events . Debtor will furnish to Lender prompt written notice of the following:
(i)

the occurrence of any Default;

(ii)
the filing or commencement of any action, suit or proceeding by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority
against or affecting Debtor, that, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; or
(iii)
any and all material adverse changes in Debtor’s financial condition and all claims made against Debtor that could
materially affect the financial condition of Debtor.
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Each notice delivered under this Section shall be accompanied by a statement of Debtor setting forth the details of the event or development requiring
such notice and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.
(e)
Ownership and Liens . Debtor will maintain good and indefeasible title to the Collateral free and clear of all liens, security interests,
encumbrances or adverse claims, except for Permitted Encumbrances. Debtor will cause any financing statement or other security instrument with respect
to the Collateral to be terminated, except for Permitted Encumbrances. Debtor will defend at its expense Lender’s right, title and security interest in and to
the Collateral against the claims of any third party.
(f) Impairment of Security Interest . Debtor will not take any action that would in any manner impair the enforceability of Lender’s security
interest in any Collateral.
(g)
Transfer or Encumbrance . Debtor will not (i) grant a lien or security interest in or execute, file or record any financing statement or
other security instrument with respect to the Collateral, or (ii) deliver actual or constructive possession of any of the Collateral to any Person other than
Lender.
(h)

Collateral Account .

(i)
Debtor shall not be permitted to terminate or close the Collateral Account, change the Securities Intermediary, or conduct
any day-trading activities from the Collateral Account. Debtor shall be permitted to conduct activities permitted by the applicable Control Agreement.
(ii)

Debtor will warrant and defend its title in and to the Collateral against any adverse claimant.

(iii)
Any indication on the books or internal records of a Securities Intermediary (including any Securities Intermediary which
is an affiliate of Lender) that Eligible Collateral or a Collateral Account has been pledged to Lender will conclusively establish Lender’s perfected
security interest in and control over the Collateral.
(iv)
Debtor will not attempt to modify or terminate any Control Agreement or the agreement between Debtor and the
Securities Intermediary governing any Collateral Account without Lender’s written consent. Debtor will cause Securities Intermediary to send to Lender a
complete and accurate copy of every statement, confirmation, notice or other communication concerning the Collateral Account that the Securities
Intermediary sends to Debtor. Any confirmation or statement of account that Lender may (but need not) issue will conclusively establish delivery of
Eligible Collateral to Lender.
(v)
Debtor will comply with the securities laws with respect to Debtor’s ownership of Collateral. Debtor will not commit any
act which might render any Collateral not readily saleable under such securities laws. Debtor will notify Lender immediately of any development or
occurrence which to Debtor’s knowledge would render any Collateral not readily saleable under the securities laws.
(vi)
Unless an Event of Default occurs, Debtor may exercise all voting and consensual powers and rights pertaining to any
Collateral for all purposes not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement and may receive and retain all proceeds of the Collateral.
8. Reporting Requirements . Until all Indebtedness of Debtor under the Loan Documents is indefeasibly paid and satisfied, and Lender has no further
commitment to lend under the Credit Facility, Debtor agrees and covenants that it will furnish or cause to be furnished the following:
(a)
Brokerage Statements . As soon as available and in any event within THIRTY (30) days after the end of each month, Debtor shall or
shall cause Securities Intermediary to provide Lender with copies of the all account, valuation, and brokerage statements for the Collateral Account.
(b)

General Information . Such other information concerning Debtor as Lender may reasonably request.
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9.

Rights of Lender . Lender shall have the rights contained in this Section at all times that this Agreement is effective.

(a)
Financing Statements . Debtor hereby authorizes Lender to file one or more financing or continuation statements, and amendments
thereto, relating to the Collateral.
(b) Power of Attorney . Debtor hereby irrevocably appoints Lender as Debtor’s attorney‑in‑fact, such power of attorney being coupled with
an interest, with full authority in the place and stead of Debtor and in the name of Debtor or otherwise, from time to time following the occurrence and
during the continuation of an Event of Default in Lender’s reasonable discretion, to take any action and to execute any instrument which Lender may
deem necessary or appropriate to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement or otherwise to enforce the rights of Lender with respect to the Collateral.
10.

Events of Default . Each of the following shall constitute an “ Event of Default ” under this Agreement:

(a) Payment Default . The failure, refusal or neglect of Debtor to pay when due any part of the principal of, or interest on the Indebtedness
owing to Lender by Debtor from time to time and such failure, refusal or neglect shall continue unremedied for a period of TEN (10) days from the date
such payment is due.
(b)
Performance or Warranty Default . The failure of Debtor to timely and properly observe, keep or perform any covenant, agreement,
warranty or condition required herein or in any of the other Loan Documents (other than a payment default as set forth in Section 10(a) ) which is not
cured within FIVE (5) Business Days following written notice from Lender to Debtor; provided, that (i) if such default cannot be cured within FIVE (5)
Business Days, (ii) Debtor has, within such period, taken such actions as deemed reasonably necessary and appropriate by Lender to cure such default,
and (iii) Debtor shall continue to diligently pursue such actions, such cure period shall be extended for a period of THIRTY (30) days.
(c) Representations . Any representation contained herein or in any of the other Loan Documents made by Debtor is false or misleading in
any material respect.
(d) Insolvency . If Debtor (i) becomes insolvent, or makes a transfer in fraud of creditors, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors,
or admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due; (ii) generally is not paying its debts as such debts become due; (iii) has a receiver,
trustee or custodian appointed for, or take possession of, all or substantially all of its assets, either in a proceeding brought by it or in a proceeding brought
against it and such appointment is not discharged or such possession is not terminated within SIXTY (60) days after the effective date thereof or it
consents to or acquiesces in such appointment or possession; (iv) files a petition for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any other present
or future federal or state insolvency, Bankruptcy or similar laws (all of the foregoing hereinafter collectively called “ Applicable Bankruptcy Law ”) or an
involuntary petition for relief is filed against it under any Applicable Bankruptcy Law and such involuntary petition is not dismissed within SIXTY (60)
days after the filing thereof, or an order for relief naming it is entered under any Applicable Bankruptcy Law, or any composition, rearrangement,
extension, reorganization or other relief of debtors now or hereafter existing is requested or consented to by it; or (v) fails to have discharged within a
period of SIXTY (60) days any attachment, sequestration or similar writ levied upon any property of it.
(e)

Action Against Collateral . The Collateral or any portion thereof is taken on execution or other process of law in any action.

(f) Transfer of the Property . Title to all or any part of the Collateral Account shall become vested in any party other than the Debtor holding
title thereto on the Effective Date, whether by operation of law or otherwise, or Debtor shall sell, transfer or dispose of assets in the Collateral Account in
an amount sufficient to cause a Borrowing Base Deficiency.
(g) Loan Documents . (i) The Loan Documents shall at any time after their execution and delivery and for any reason cease (1) to create a
valid and perfected first priority security interest (subject to Permitted Encumbrances) in and to the Collateral; or (2) to be in full force and effect or shall
be declared null
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and void, or (ii) the validity or enforceability the Loan Documents shall be contested by Debtor or any other Person party thereto or Debtor or such Person
shall deny it has any further liability or obligation under the Loan Documents.
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to limit the events of default enumerated in any of the other Loan Documents and all such events of default
shall be cumulative.
11.
Remedies and Related Rights . If an Event of Default shall have occurred, and without limiting any other rights and remedies provided herein,
under any of the Loan Documents or otherwise available to Lender, Lender may exercise one or more of the rights and remedies provided in this Section.
(a) Remedies . Upon the occurrence of any one or more of the foregoing Events of Default, (i) the entire unpaid balance of principal of the
Note, together with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, and all other Indebtedness owing to Lender by Debtor at such time shall, at the option of
Lender, become immediately due and payable without further notice, demand, presentation, notice of dishonor, notice of intent to accelerate, notice of
acceleration, protest or notice of protest of any kind, all of which are expressly waived by Debtor, and (ii) Lender may, at its option, cease further
advances under the Note and this Agreement; provided , however , concurrently and automatically with the occurrence of an Event of Default under
Subsection 10(d) further advances under the Loan Documents shall automatically cease, the Indebtedness at such time shall, without any action by
Lender, become due and payable, without further notice, demand, presentation, notice of dishonor, notice of acceleration, notice of intent to accelerate,
protest or notice of protest of any kind, all of which are expressly waived by Debtor. All rights and remedies of Lender set forth in this Agreement and in
any of the other Loan Documents may also be exercised by Lender, at its option to be exercised in its sole discretion, upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default, and not in substitution or diminution of any rights now or hereafter held by Lender under the terms of any other agreement.
(b) Other Remedies . Lender may from time to time at its discretion, without limitation and without notice except as expressly provided in
any of the Loan Documents:
(i)
Sell, or instruct Securities Intermediary or any agent or broker to sell, all or any part of the Collateral in a public or private
sale, direct any agent, Securities Intermediary or broker to liquidate all or any part of the Collateral Account and deliver all proceeds thereof to Secured
Party, and apply all proceeds to the payment of any or all of the Indebtedness in such order and manner as Secured Party shall, in its discretion, choose or
hold such proceeds as additional Collateral for the Indebtedness.
(ii)
Exercise in respect of the Collateral all the rights and remedies of a secured party under the Code (whether or not the Code
applies to the affected Collateral);
(iii)
Require Debtor to, and Debtor hereby agrees that it will at its expense and upon request of Lender, assemble the Collateral
as directed by Lender and make it available to Lender at a place to be designated by Lender which is reasonably convenient to both parties;
(iv)
Reduce its claim to judgment or foreclose or otherwise enforce, in whole or in part, the security interest granted hereunder
by any available judicial procedure;
(v)
Sell or otherwise dispose of, at its office, on the premises of Debtor or elsewhere, the Collateral, as a unit or in parcels, by
public or private proceedings, and by way of one or more contracts (it being agreed that the sale or other disposition of any part of the Collateral shall not
exhaust Lender’s power of sale, but sales or other dispositions may be made from time to time until all of the Collateral has been sold or disposed of or
until the Indebtedness has been paid and performed in full), and at any such sale or other disposition it shall not be necessary to exhibit any of the
Collateral;
(vi)

Buy the Collateral, or any portion thereof, at any public sale;

(vii)
Buy the Collateral, or any portion thereof, at any private sale if the Collateral is of a type customarily sold in a recognized
market or is of a type which is the subject of widely distributed standard price quotations;
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(viii)

Apply for the appointment of a receiver for the Collateral, and Debtor hereby consents to any such appointment; and

(ix)
At its option, retain the Collateral in satisfaction of the Indebtedness whenever the circumstances are such that Lender is
entitled to do so under the Code or otherwise.
Debtor agrees that in the event Debtor is entitled to receive any notice under the Code, as it exists in the state governing any such notice, of the sale or
other disposition of any Collateral, reasonable notice shall be deemed given when such notice is deposited in a depository receptacle under the care and
custody of the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, at Debtor’s address set forth on the signature page hereof, TEN (10 ) days prior to the date
of any public sale, or after which a private sale, of any of such Collateral is to be held. Lender shall not be obligated to make any sale of Collateral
regardless of notice of sale having been given. Lender may adjourn any public or private sale from time to time by announcement at the time and place
fixed therefor, and such sale may, without further notice, be made at the time and place to which it was so adjourned. If permitted by applicable law, any
Collateral which is sold on a recognized market may be sold immediately by Lender without prior notice to Debtor. At any sale or disposition of
Collateral, Lender may (to the extent permitted by applicable law) (i) purchase all or any part thereof free from any right of redemption by Debtor or any
other Person guaranteeing the Indebtedness, which right is hereby waived and released, (ii) restrict the number of prospective bidders or purchasers and/or
further restrict such prospective bidders or purchasers to Persons who will represent and agree that they are purchasing for their own account, for
investment and not with a view to the distribution or resale of the Collateral, and (iii) otherwise require that such sale be conducted subject to restrictions
as to such other matters as Lender may deem necessary in order that such sale may be effected in such manner as to comply with all applicable state and
federal securities and other laws. Lender shall not be obligated to make any sale or other disposition of any Collateral if it shall determine not to do so,
regardless of the fact that notice of sale or other disposition of such Collateral shall have been given. Debtor hereby acknowledges that (i) notwithstanding
that a higher price might be obtained for the Collateral at a public sale than at a private sale or sales, the making of a public sale of the Collateral may be
subject to registration requirements under applicable securities laws and other legal restrictions, compliance with which would require such actions on the
part of such Credit Party, would entail such expenses and would subject Lender or any underwriter through whom the Collateral may be sold or any
controlling person of any of the foregoing to such liabilities, as would make a public sale of the Collateral impractical, and accordingly, Debtor hereby
agrees that private sales made by Debtor in good faith in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement may be at prices and on other terms less
favorable to the seller than if the Collateral were sold at a public sale, and that Lender shall not have any obligation to take any steps in order to permit the
Collateral to be sold at a public sale, such a private sale being considered or deemed to be a sale in a commercially reasonable manner; (ii) any private
sale of the Collateral may be subject to compliance with federal and state securities and/or other laws; and (iii) Lender is hereby authorized to comply
with any limitation or restriction in connection with such sale that may be necessary in order to avoid any violation of applicable law or in order to obtain
any required approval of the purchaser(s) by any Governmental Authority or officer or court.
(c) Application of Proceeds . If any Event of Default shall have occurred, Lender may at its discretion apply or use any cash held by Lender
as Collateral, and any cash proceeds received by Lender in respect of any sale or other disposition of, collection from, or other realization upon, all or any
part of the Collateral as follows in such order and manner as Lender may elect:
(i)
to the repayment or reimbursement of the reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by Lender in connection with (1) the administration of the Loan Documents, (2) the custody, preservation, use or
operation of, or the sale of, collection from, or other realization upon, the Collateral, and (3) the exercise or enforcement of any of the rights and remedies
of Lender hereunder;
(ii)

to the payment or other satisfaction of any liens and other encumbrances upon the Collateral;

(iii)

to the satisfaction of the Indebtedness;

(iv)

by holding such cash and proceeds as Collateral;
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(v)

to the payment of any other amounts required by applicable law; and

(vi)
by delivery to Debtor or any other party lawfully entitled to receive such cash or proceeds whether by direction of a court
of competent jurisdiction or otherwise.
(d)
Deficiency . In the event that the proceeds of any sale of, collection from, or other realization upon, all or any part of the Collateral by
Lender are insufficient to pay all amounts to which Lender is legally entitled, Debtor (unless otherwise provided) shall be liable for the deficiency,
together with interest thereon as provided in the Loan Documents.
(e) Non‑‑Judicial Remedies . In granting to Lender the power to enforce its rights hereunder without prior judicial process or judicial hearing,
Debtor expressly waives, renounces and knowingly relinquishes any legal right which might otherwise require Lender to enforce its rights by judicial
process. Debtor recognizes and concedes that non‑judicial remedies are consistent with the usage of trade, are responsive to commercial necessity and are
the result of a bargain at arm’s length. Nothing herein is intended to prevent Lender or Debtor from resorting to judicial process at either party’s option.
(f)
No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies . No failure on the part of Lender to exercise, no delay in exercising and no course of dealing with
respect to, any right, power, or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right,
power, or privilege under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, or privilege. The rights
and remedies provided for in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights and remedies provided by law.
(g) Equitable Relief . Debtor recognizes that in the event Debtor fails to pay, perform, observe, or discharge any or all of the Indebtedness,
any remedy at law may prove to be inadequate relief to Lender. Debtor therefore agrees that Lender, if Lender so requests, shall be entitled to temporary
and permanent injunctive relief in any such case without the necessity of proving actual damages.
12. Indemnity . Debtor hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold harmless Lender, and its officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives (each
an “ Indemnified Person ”) from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, claims, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or
disbursements of any kind or nature (collectively, the “ Claims ”) which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against, any Indemnified Person arising in
connection with the Loan Documents, the Indebtedness or the Collateral (including without limitation, the enforcement of the Loan Documents and the defense of
any Indemnified Person’s actions and/or inactions in connection with the Loan Documents). WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE FOREGOING INDEMNITIES
SHALL APPLY TO EACH INDEMNIFIED PERSON WITH RESPECT TO ANY CLAIMS WHICH IN WHOLE OR IN PART ARE CAUSED BY OR
ARISE OUT OF THE NEGLIGENCE OF SUCH AND/OR ANY OTHER INDEMNIFIED PERSON, EXCEPT TO THE LIMITED EXTENT THE
CLAIMS AGAINST AN INDEMNIFIED PERSON ARE PROXIMATELY CAUSED BY SUCH INDEMNIFIED PERSON’S GROSS NEGLIGENCE
OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT . If Debtor or any third party ever alleges such gross negligence or willful misconduct by any Indemnified Person, the
indemnification provided for in this Section shall nonetheless be paid upon demand, subject to later adjustment or reimbursement, until such time as (a) a court of
competent jurisdiction enters a final judgment as to the extent and effect of the alleged gross negligence or willful misconduct, or (b) Lender expressly agrees in
writing with Debtor that such Claim is proximately caused by such Indemnified Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The indemnification provided for
in this Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement and shall extend and continue to benefit each individual or entity that is or has at any time been an
Indemnified Person hereunder.
13.
Limitation of Liability and Releases . Neither Lender nor any affiliate, officer, director, employee, attorney, or agent of Lender shall have any
liability with respect to, and Debtor hereby waives, releases, and agrees not to sue any of them upon, any claim for any special, indirect, incidental, or
consequential damages suffered or incurred by Debtor in connection with, arising out of, or in any way related to, this Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents, or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. Debtor hereby waives, releases, and agrees not to sue
Lender or any of Lender’s affiliates, officers, directors, employees, attorneys, or agents for punitive damages in respect of any claim in connection with, arising out
of, or in any way related to, this Agreement
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or any of the other Loan Documents, or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents.
14.
No Duty . All attorneys, accountants, appraisers, and other professional Persons and consultants retained by Lender shall have the right to act
exclusively in the interest of Lender and shall have no duty of disclosure, duty of loyalty, duty of care, or other duty or obligation of any type or nature whatsoever
to Debtor or any of Debtor’s equity holders or any other Person. Documents in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder have been prepared by
GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL LLP (“ Lender’s Counsel ”). Debtor acknowledges and understands that Lender’s Counsel is acting solely as counsel to Lender
in connection with the transaction contemplated herein, is not representing Debtor in connection therewith, and has not, in any manner, undertaken to assist or
render legal advice to Debtor with respect to this transaction. Debtor has been advised to seek other legal counsel to represent its interests in connection with the
transactions contemplated herein.
15.
Lender Not Fiduciary . The relationship between Debtor and Lender is solely that of debtor and creditor, and Lender has no fiduciary or other
special relationship with Debtor, and no term or condition of any of the Loan Documents shall be construed so as to deem the relationship between Debtor and
Lender to be other than that of debtor and creditor.
16. Waiver and Agreement . Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of Lender to exercise any right, power or privilege herein or under any of the
other Loan Documents shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of such right, power or privilege preclude any other or further
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. No waiver of any provision in this Agreement or in any of the other Loan Documents and no
departure by Debtor therefrom shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by Lender, and then shall be effective only in the specific instance
and for the purpose for which given and to the extent specified in such writing. No modification or amendment to this Agreement or to any of the other Loan
Documents shall be valid or effective unless the same is signed by the party against whom it is sought to be enforced.
17.
Benefits . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Lender and Debtor, and their respective successors and assigns,
provided , however , that Debtor may not, without the prior written consent of Lender, assign any rights, powers, duties or obligations under this Agreement or any
of the other Loan Documents.
18. Notices . All notices, requests, demands or other communications required or permitted to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing
and given by (a) personal delivery, (b) expedited delivery service with proof of delivery, or (c) United States mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested, sent to the intended addressee at the address set forth on the signature page hereof and shall be deemed to have been received either, in the
case of personal delivery, as of the time of personal delivery, in the case of expedited delivery service, as of the time of the expedited delivery and in the manner
provided herein, or in the case of mail, upon the THIRD (3 rd ) day after deposit in a depository receptacle under the care and custody of the United States Postal
Service. Any party shall have the right to change its address for notice hereunder to any other location within the continental United States by notice to the other
party of such new address.
19. Construction; Venue; Service of Process . The Loan Documents have been executed and delivered in the State of Texas, shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, and shall be performable by the parties hereto in Dallas, Dallas County, Texas (the “ Venue Site ”).
Any action or proceeding against Debtor under or in connection with any of the Loan Documents may be brought in any state or federal court within the Venue
Site. Debtor hereby irrevocably (a) submits to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of such courts, and (b) waives any objection it may now or hereafter have as to the
venue of any such action or proceeding brought in any such court or that any such court is an inconvenient forum. Debtor agrees that service of process upon it
may be made by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, at its address specified or determined in accordance with the provisions this Agreement.
Nothing in any of the other Loan Documents shall affect the right of Lender to serve process in any other manner permitted by law or shall limit the right of Lender
to bring any action or proceeding against Debtor or with respect to any of its property in courts in other jurisdictions. Any action or proceeding by Debtor against
Lender shall be brought only in a court located in the Venue Site.
20.
Invalid Provisions . If any provision of the Loan Documents is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under present or future laws, such
provision shall be fully severable and the remaining provisions of the
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Loan Documents shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its severance.
21. Expenses . Debtor shall pay all reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) in connection with (a) the
drafting and execution of the Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated therein, (b) any action required in the course of administration of the
indebtedness and obligations evidenced by the Loan Documents, and (c) any action in the enforcement of Lender’s rights upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default.
22.
Participation of the Loans . Debtor agrees that Lender may, at its option, sell interests in the Loans and its rights under this Agreement to a
financial institution or institutions and, in connection with each such sale, Lender may disclose any financial and other information available to Lender concerning
Debtor to each perspective purchaser subject to obtaining a confidentiality agreement with each prospective purchaser prior to disclosing Debtor’s confidential
information.
23.
Conflicts . Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Note, in the event any term or provision of this Agreement is inconsistent with or
conflicts with any provision of the other Loan Documents, the terms and provisions contained in this Agreement shall be controlling.
24.
Counterparts . The Loan Documents may be separately executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of
which, taken together, shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.
25.
Survival . All representations and warranties made in the Loan Documents or in any document, statement, or certificate furnished in connection
with this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents, and no investigation by Lender or any closing shall affect the representations
and warranties or the right of Lender to rely upon them.
26.
Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury . THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE ALL RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, SUIT, PROCEEDING, OR COUNTERCLAIM THAT RELATES TO OR ARISES OUT OF THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS OR THE ACTS OR FAILURE TO ACT OF OR BY LENDER IN THE ENFORCEMENT OF ANY OF THE TERMS OR PROVISIONS
OF THE LOAN DOCUMENTS.
27. Patriot Act Notice . Lender hereby notifies Debtor that pursuant to the requirements of Section 326 of the USA Patriot Act of 2001, 31 U.S.C. §
5318 (the “ Act ”), that Lender is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies Debtor, which information includes the name and address of
Debtor and other information that will allow such Lender to identify Debtor in accordance with the Act.
28. Regulation B—Notice of Joint Intent . If Debtor is more than one Person, Federal Regulation B (Equal Credit Opportunity Act) requires Lender
to obtain evidence of Debtor’s intention to apply for joint credit. Debtor’s signature below shall evidence such intent. Debtor’s intent shall apply to future related
extensions of joint credit and joint guaranty.
29. Notice of Final Agreement . It is the intention of Debtor and Lender that the following NOTICE OF FINAL AGREEMENT be incorporated by
reference into each of the Loan Documents (as the same may be amended, modified or restated from time to time). Debtor and Lender warrant and represent that
the entire agreement made and existing by or between Debtor and Lender with respect to the Loans is and shall be contained within the Loan Documents, and that
no agreements or promises exist or shall exist by or among, Debtor and Lender that are not reflected in the Loan Documents.

NOTICE OF FINAL AGREEMENT
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THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES, AND THE
SAME MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS
BETWEEN THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK
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AGREED as of the date first written above.
LENDER:

ADDRESS:

PLAINSCAPITAL BANK

2911 Turtle Creek Boulevard, Suite 1300
Dallas, TX 75219

By: /s/ Cole Dulaney
Name: Cole Dulaney
Title: Executive Vice President
With copies of notices to:

Gardere Wynne Sewell LLP
1601 Elm Street, Suite 3000
Dallas, TX 75201
Attention: Steven S. Camp

DEBTOR:

ADDRESS:

CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP.

4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800
Newport Beach, CA 92660

By: /s/ Robert M. Vreeland
Name: Robert M. Vreeland
Title: Chief Financial Officer
CLEAN ENERGY

4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800
Newport Beach, CA 92660

By: /s/ Robert M. Vreeland
Name: Robert M. Vreeland
Title: Chief Financial Officer
With copies of notices to:

Nate Jensen
4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800
Newport Beach, California 92660
Documents Prepared By:
Steven S. Camp
Gardere Wynne Sewell LLP
1601 Elm Street, Suite 3000
Dallas, TX 75201
214-999-4354

EXHIBIT A
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

Asset

Borrowing Base Percentage

Default/Margin Call
Percentage

Liquidation Percentage

Cash

100%

N/A

N/A

AAA Bonds

80%

85%

90%

AA Bonds

75%

80%

85%

A Bonds

70%

75%

80%

SCHEDULE 1(c)
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Collateral Accounts
Account number in the name of Clean Energy DBA California Clean Energy Corp Agency.

Exhibit 21.1
CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP. SUBSIDIARIES
as of December 31, 2015
State or Country of
Incorporation or
Organization

Name of Subsidiary

I.M.W. CNG Bangladesh Ltd.

Bangladesh

0884808 B.C. Ltd.

British Columbia

Clean Energy Compression Corp.

British Columbia

IMW Industries, Ltd.

British Columbia

IMW Worldwide Services Ltd. (formerly 0886011 B.C. Ltd.)

British Columbia

Clean Energy

California

Clean Energy Finance, LLC

California

Clean Energy LNG, LLC

California

IMW Clean Energy Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.

China

IMW Compressors (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

China

IMW Colombia Ltd.

Colombia

Natural Fuels Company LLC

Colorado

Blue Energy General LLC

Delaware

Blue Energy Limited LLC

Delaware

CE Natural Gas Fueling Services, LLC

Delaware

Clean Energy LNG Holdings, LLC

Delaware

Clean Energy National LNG Corridor, LLC

Delaware

Clean Energy Renewable Fuels, LLC

Delaware

Clean Energy & Technologies LLC

Delaware

Clean Energy Tranche A LNG Plant, LLC

Delaware

Clean Energy Tranche B LNG Plant, LLC

Delaware

Mavrix, LLC.

Delaware

Mansfield Clean Energy Partners, LLC*

Delaware

NG Advantage LLC*

Delaware

Mansfield Gas Equipment Systems Corporation.

Georgia

Canton Renewables, LLC

Michigan

IMW del Peru S.A.C.

Peru

CERF Shelby, LLC

Tennessee

Blue Fuels Group LP

Texas

Clean Energy Texas LNG, LLC

Texas

TranStar Energy Company LP

Texas

IMW Industries, Inc.

Washington

M&S Rental, LLC

Wyoming

Southstar LLC

Wyoming

Wyoming Northstar Incorporated

Wyoming

* Own less than 100%

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Clean Energy Fuels Corp.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-145434, 333-150331, 333-152306, 333-156776, 333-159799, 333164301, 333-168433, 333-171957, 333-174989, 333-177043, 333-178877, 333-179223, 333-186705, 333-187085, 333-187456, 333-189925, 333-190536, 333192221, 333-193243, 333-201379, 333-206121, and 333-208868) on Form S-3 and Form S-8 of Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and subsidiaries of our report dated
March 3, 2016, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2015, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, cash flows, and comprehensive income (loss) for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2015, and the related financial statement schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, which
report appears in the December 31, 2015 annual report on Form 10-K of Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and subsidiaries.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Irvine, California
March 3, 2016

Exhibit 31.1
Certifications
I, Andrew J. Littlefair, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 of Clean Energy Fuels Corp.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2015
/s/ ANDREW J. LITTLEFAIR
Andrew J. Littlefair
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
Certifications
I, Robert M. Vreeland, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 of Clean Energy Fuels Corp.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting

Date: March 3, 2015
/s/ ROBERT M. VREELAND
Robert M. Vreeland
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY
SECTION 1350 OF TITLE 18 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as the specified officer of Clean Energy
Fuels Corp. (the "Company"), that, to the best of his knowledge, the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")and that the
information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for
the periods presented in the financial statements included in such report.
Date: March 3, 2016
/s/ ANDREW J. LITTLEFAIR
Andrew J. Littlefair
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 3, 2016
/s/ ROBERT M. VREELAND
Robert M. Vreeland
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
This certification accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed
by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

